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Key Business Highlights
World’s #1 marketplace for alternative 
accommodation1, removing friction for 
Supply & Demand through Technology

Consumers 
Travelers

Demand

Gross Booking 
Value 2021

1	 Relating to the total number of aggregated alternative accommodation offers

Technology 
platform

Total addressable 
market

EUR 1,000bn+

Monthly visits 
as of June 2021

~50m
EUR 1.4bn
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Technology 
platform

EUR 1.4bn

HomeToGo HIGHLIGHTS

Supply
Online travel agencies 

Property managers 
Homeowners

Offers
Oct 2021

15m+
Partners
Oct 2021

31k+

“Together, we have built 
a state-of-the-art plat-
form that solves key pain 
points of the market and 
removes friction between 
supply and demand, thus 
enabling the whole alter-
native accommodation 
ecosystem to be more 
successful. 

Our platform accelera-
tes a virtuous cycle of 
growth and innovation: 
we leverage data to drive 
better outcomes for our 
partners, which in turn 
drives adoption of our 
technology solutions and 
generates more revenues 
including increasingly 
higher adoption of our 
technology solutions as 
part of our Subscriptions 
& Services. This subse-
quently funds investment 
in consumer attraction, 
retention, and the accu-
mulation of more data. 

These network effects 
are constantly fueling our 
highly scalable flywheel 
and help us build a tech-
nology enabler for the 
entire alternative accom-
modation ecosystem.”



KPIs
Overview



2021 At a Glance

HomeToGo HIGHLIGHTS

Gross Booking 
Value (GBV)
vs 2020
vs 2019

EUR 243.7m
53%

15%

EUR 1.4bn
15%

17%

Booking 
Revenues
vs 2020
vs 2019

EUR 23.1m
109%

66%

EUR 123.6m
51%

55%

Subscriptions 
& Services
vs 2020
vs 2019

EUR 2.6m
56%

168%

EUR 8.8m
38%

129%

CPA Onsite

vs 2020
vs 2019

EUR 8.8m
253%

128%

EUR 50.2m
116%

151%

IFRS 
Revenues
vs 2020
vs 2019

EUR 21.2m
150%

120%

EUR 94.8m
44%

36%

Q4 2021 Full Year 2021

9

Note: Regarding the alternative performance measures Gross Booking Value (GBV) and Booking Revenues, please refer to the corresponding 
definitions in the Glossary.

HomeToGo / Annual Report 2021



HomeToGo / Annual Report 2021

10KPIs Overview
KPIs Q4/2019 Q4/2020 Q4/2021 21 vs. 19 21 vs. 20 2019 2020 2021 21 vs. 19 21 vs. 20

Gross Booking Value 
(GBV) (EUR’000)

211,171 159,235 243,691 15% 53% 1,226,312 1,252,675 1,437,515 17% 15%

CPA (Onsite + Offsite) 151,744 120,284 184,821 22% 54% 827,939 881,286 1,134,899 37% 29%

Bookings (#) 173,353 97,365 140,776 (19%) 45% 1,018,815 890,944 929,419 (9%) 4%

CPA Onsite 40,041 27,270 82,176 105% 201% 211,301 269,049 492,281 133% 83%

CPA Offsite 133,312 70,095 58,600 (56%) (16%) 807,514 621,895 437,138 (46%) (30%)

CPA Basket Size1 
(EUR)

884 1,244 1,057 20% (15%) 818 1,002 1,252 53% 25%

Take Rate2 6.2% 6.7% 10.1% 63% 51% 6.2% 6.4% 8.4% 35% 31%

CPA Take Rate 6.9% 7.1% 8.3% 21% 18% 6.8% 7.4% 8.3% 22% 13%

Booking Revenues3

(EUR’000)
13,949 11,050 23,146 66% 109% 79,649 81,946 123,555 55% 51%

CPA Onsite 3,879 2,501 8,830 128% 253% 20,017 23,269 50,168 151% 116%

CPA Offsite 6,547 5,992 6,585 1% 10% 36,635 41,614 44,350 21% 7%

CPC + CPL 2,572 926 5,177 101% 459% 19,162 10,712 20,249 6% 89%

Subscriptions & 
Services

952 1,632 2,553 168% 56% 3,835 6,352 8,788 129% 38%

Booking Revenues 
Onsite share4 30% 27% 43% 44% 62% 26% 31% 44% 66% 42%

Cancellations 
(EUR’000)

(2,409) (2,526) (3,035) 26% 20% (7,275) (18,917) (24,797) 241% 31%

Cancellation Rate 17.3% 23.4% 15.6% (10%) (33%) 9.1% 23.2% 20.1% 120% (13%)

IFRS Revenues 
(EUR’000)

9,659 8,495 21,206 120% 150% 69,564 65,855 94,839 36% 44%

CPA Onsite 1,461 1,402 6,585 351% 370% 17,195 14,382 31,523 83% 119%

CPA Offsite 4,714 4,416 6,735 43% 53% 29,538 34,313 34,127 16% (1%)

CPC + CPL 2,532 1,045 5,333 111% 411% 18,996 10,808 20,401 7% 89%

Subscriptions & 
Services

952 1,632 2,553 168% 56% 3,835 6,352 8,788 129% 38%

Adjusted EBITDA5

(EUR’000)
nm6 (7,040) (4,424) nm6 (37%) (16,041) (2,762) (21,070) 31% 663%

Cash & cash 
equivalents + other 
highly liquid short-
term financial assets
(EUR’000)

10,972 36,237 252,910 2,205% 598% 10,972 36,237 252,910 2,205% 598%

Equity (EUR’000) 35,480 22,865 300,687 747% 1,215% 35,480 22,865 300,687 747% 1,215%

Equity ratio 54.7% 21.8% 82.3% 50% 277% 54.7% 21.8% 82.3% 50% 277%

1	 CPA basket size defined as CPA Gross Booking Value per booking, before cancellations
2	 Take Rate is defined as Booking Revenues divided by Gross Booking Value (excl. Hotels, Feries, Escapada Rural & Smoobu)
3	 Non-IFRS operating metric to measure performance, which we define as the net EUR value generated by transactions on our platform in a 	
	 period (CPA, CPC, CPL, etc.) before cancellations. Booking Revenues do not correspond to, and should not be considered as alternative or 	
	 substitute for, IFRS Revenues recognized in accordance with IFRS
4	 Booking Revenues net of Subscription & Services Revenues
5	 EBITDA adjusted for expenses for share-based payments and one-off items
6	 Not available under IFRS
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2021 has been a remarkable year on HomeToGo’s 
journey of growth, marking a milestone as our first 
year as a publicly listed company. On September 22 
when we listed on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, the 
entire HomeToGo team felt immensely proud. It was 
a testament to how far we have come since our 
founding in 2014, the continuous hard work of our 
team, and the demonstrated resilience throughout 
the past two years of a global pandemic. As Europe’s 
first tech-focused SPAC IPO, this was the biggest 
historical moment on our path thus far, creating a 
globally recognised and industry-defining tech com-
pany made in Europe.

Together, we have made incredible homes easily ac-
cessible to everyone by continuing to grow our supply 
and pioneer new technology solutions that consoli-
date and benefit the entire alternative accommoda-
tion ecosystem. In 2021 our comprehensive invento-
ry grew to more than 15 million offers from over 
31,000 trusted partners worldwide – including online 
travel agencies, property managers, and homeown-
ers. In a pandemic year when travelers increasingly 
seek out vacation rentals – be it a spacious villa in 
Portugal for a winter workation, or a cabin in Colorado 
for a rural, socially distanced retreat – our unparal-
leled selection as the world’s largest marketplace for 
vacation rentals helped travelers find and discover 
new ways to travel.  

From a demand perspective, we welcome ~50 mil-
lion monthly1 to our localized apps and websites 
across 24 countries, tapping into a EUR 1 trillion+ to-
tal addressable market for accommodation that is 
projected to grow to EUR 1.7 trillion+ within the next 
decade. Customers search for our site because they 
know that HomeToGo is where they will find the larg-
est selection of alternative accommodation, com-
plemented by our growing brand and proven mar-
keting playbook. Increasingly, our guests book and 
return because they want to enjoy a trusted user 
experience – also contributing to our growing onsite 

1	 June 2021, HomeToGo Group

business, with travelers increasingly booking directly 
on HomeToGo’s domains. 

Our market-leading technology is at the heart of 
everything we do, and being one of the first movers 
in the industry, setting high standards is part of our 
company DNA. For example, in 2015, we first intro-
duced a Flexible Search technology, which today has 
become a common industry standard as customers 
demand flexible travel options, with ours notably  
seeing a massive uplift in usage this year compared 
to pre-pandemic times. In 2021, we introduced a 
Find Accommodations Near You feature, to serve the 
rising interest in domestic, drive-to travel during the 
pandemic, as well as significantly optimized our data- 
driven recommendation engine to offer even more 
personalized search experiences. Ultimately, these 
advanced technologies help elevate the book-ing 
experience to drive conversion-optimized, qualified 
demand. 

These technology solutions also benefit our part-
ners – by giving them access to a global pool of con-
sumers, providing AI tools that help them optimize 
their listing and further strengthening our Subscrip-
tions & Services offering. As part of that we’ve in-
vested in our growing modular SaaS solutions, which 
allow for instance homeowners to synchronize avail-
ability and prices of their offerings across multiple 
websites instantly.

The overall success is reflected in our full-year finan-
cial results for 2021. Despite the on-going Covid-19 
pandemic, we have generated a record EUR 124 mil-
lion of Booking Revenues in 2021, 51% more than the 
year before. After a strong Q4’21, we started the fiscal 
year 2022 with a record Booking Revenues backlog 
of EUR 19 million, 90% more than what we observed 
at the beginning of 2021. 

In parallel, we have continued to execute on our 
strategy of offering onsite bookings – where the 

Dear Shareholders,
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complete transaction from discovery to payment 
happens on HomeToGo domains without the user 
being redirected to our partners’ website. The posi-
tive results of this can be seen in our year-on-year 
+116% increase in onsite Booking Revenues, resulting 
in onsite Booking Revenues of EUR 50 million that 
contributed to 44%2 of overall Booking Revenues for 
the full year. 

Our full year IFRS Revenues of EUR 95 million are 
above our increased November 2021 guidance of 
EUR 85-90 million. We have demonstrated the strong 
resilience of our business model in what was a consid-
erably challenging environment for the travel indus-
try. Alternative accommodation is the new zeitgeist, 
and we are poised for growth based on already ob-
served tailwinds and changing travel behaviors accel-
erated by the pandemic. 

With the proceeds from our de-SPAC and PIPE, in the 
year ahead we face a significant opportunity to grow 
in depth and breadth. We will continue to invest in our 
onsite and technology solutions and expand our port-

2	 Onsite share in % of Booking Revenues; Booking Revenues net of Subscription & Services Revenues

folio globally, notably through targeted M&A activi-
ties: our recent closing on the acquisition of AMIVAC 
in early January 2022, a leading vacation rental busi-
ness unit in France, is just one example of how we are 
already successfully executing against this strategy. 

2021 was a year of monumental milestones and im-
pressive highlights. We can be proud of what we have 
achieved together. Therefore, we want to thank every 
one of you, as shareholders, investors, current and 
former colleagues, partners, customers and suppli-
ers. Your commitment, dedication, feedback, enthu-
siasm, and ideas push us forward every day. All of you 
made HomeToGo’s voyage possible and have helped 
to make 2021 the most impressive year in our history 
so far.  

There is no time to rest. Based on the significant 
achievements so far, there is much more to come in 
2022. Like a traveler, we are always on the move and 
looking for new opportunities. We are looking forward 
to continuing on this next phase of our journey and 
delivering on our vision. 

Valentin Gruber
COO

Steffen Schneider
CFO

Dr. Patrick Andrae		
Co-founder & CEO

Wolfgang Heigl
Co-founder & CSO
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HomeToGo: 
Enabling the 
market with 
technology
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World’s Leading Metasearch
	→ Largest supply of vacation 
rentals ✓

	→ Demand at scale ✓

Fully Integrated Marketplace
	→ Direct onsite booking engine 
with high share 
(> 50% in Europe) ✓

	→ Increase Take Rate  
(+61% in Europe vs. 2019) ✓

	→ Mainly CPA Revenues ✓

Operating System
	→ Payment services ✓
	→ SaaS & technology solutions 
for partners incl. prices /  
yield, channel management  
& syncing, supply etc. ✓

	→ 3rd party modules ✓
	→ Auxiliary service products 
	→ Data as a service 
	→ > 20% Subscriptions &  
Services Revenues ✓

✓achieved & further improving
✓started

M&A strategy supports quick roll-out: acquire synergistic businesses in line with our strategy, 
which we can integrate in our tech-stack, generating synergy effects as part of our flywheel

Launched 2017 Launched 2020Launched 2015

higher overall
 contribution 

share

Increase in 
service offering

HomeToGo is enabling the  
market with technology by 
building its operating system
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Our vision at HomeToGo is to make incredible ac-
commodation easily accessible to everyone. Ever 
since our founding in 2014, we have enjoyed tremen-
dous growth. Today, we are the marketplace with 
the world’s largest selection of vacation rentals, with 
over 15 million offers from more than 31,000 part-
ners.  HomeToGo’s brands welcome ~50 million visi-
tors3 each month, operating localized apps and web-
sites in 24 countries, including brands such as 
AMIVAC, Tripping.com, Casamundo, EscapadaRural, 
CaseVacanza.it, Agriturismo.it and Wimdu.

On September 22, 2021 we achieved an-
other major milestone: we went public via 
the first European Technology de-SPAC.

We were listed on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange and 
raised EUR 250 million in capital, which will be used to 
further fuel our growth strategy.

HomeToGo has resolved significant market pain 
points. Accommodation is a rapidly growing EUR 1 tril-
lion business, projected to reach EUR 1.7 trillion with-
in the next decade.4 However, alternative accommo-
dation is highly fragmented, lacks transparency and 
is underserved. It is distributed across a multitude of 
international, regional and local players – homeown-
ers, property managers and online travel agencies 
(OTAs) – with varying levels of experience and re-
sources. We estimate that the three largest OTAs 
cover only 8% of the current addressable market for 
accommodation overall. By aggregating supply and 
generating reach for partners, while creating an in-
spirational onsite experience for customers, we have 
elevated the entire alternative accommodation eco-
system.  

The secret behind this success is that it’s been in our 
DNA since day one, with an incredibly ambitious 
team, always adapting and evolving to do things 

3	 June 2021, HomeToGo Group
4	 Source: Broker research

better and differently, marked by an unparalleled 
standard for excellence. From founding to present, 
we’ve continuously brought new innovations to 
shape the market, pioneered new technologies and 
utilized radically different and highly efficient mar-
keting tactics – well ahead of the market. This first-
class, fearless mindset flows across the entire com-
pany: from our highly flexible and adaptable platform 

An ambitious team and first-class mindset have 
enabled HomeToGo’s continuous evolution from 
leading metasearch to integrated marketplace 

EUR 1.0tn+
market

Market shares 2020

92% Others

3% Booking.com 3% Vrbo/Expedia

2% Airbnb

Opportunity today Long-term opportunity

Global stays in accomodation

The market for accommodation is highly 
fragmented – even the large online travel 
agencies (OTAs) cover only a fraction of it

EUR 1.7tn+EUR 1tn+
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architecture and technology development cycles, to 
the nimble and efficient way in which we further ac-
celerate growth through strategic acquisitions.5 

With this mentality, we have undergone a tremen-
dous shift. From being the world’s leading metasearch 
platform, we transitioned to a fully integrated market-
place for vacation rentals with strong growth in our 
onsite business, where the complete transaction 
from discovery to booking and payment happens on 
HomeToGo domains. In 2021 onsite share made up 
44%6 of Booking Revenues (+13pp vs. 2020), elevating 
the customer experience and fueling an overall high-
er take rate per booking of 8.4% (vs. 6.4% in 2020). The 
success of our strategy and resilience of our business 
model can be seen in our stellar growth momentum, 
despite the ongoing challenges of the Covid-19 pan-
demic – Booking Revenues grew to EUR 124 million 
(+51% vs. 2020) and we finished the year above the 
top end of our already upward revised guidance, with 
EUR 95 million in IFRS Revenues.

5	 Booking Revenues net of Subscription & Services Revenues
6	     Booking Revenues net of Subscription & Services Revenues

“The next step in our evolution is 
developing a solution-focused operating 
system that benefits the entire 
alternative accommodation industry.”

The significant growth we observed in 2021 is only 
the beginning. The next step in our evolution is be-
coming the industry’s operating system, elevating the 
entire alternative accommodation ecosystem through 
a strong suite of solutions for our partners, with our 
marketplace as a core element at the forefront. 

In 2022 we are focused on this next evolution, already 
proven by our onsite business and Subscription & Ser-
vices growth in 2021. This will be complemented by 
further expanding our brand offering, growing inven-
tory globally to better serve our guests, driving en-
gagement through efficient marketing tactics, and ac-
celerating our global growth through strategic M&A.  

44%
Onsite Share in % of 
Booking Revenues5

+51%
Growth in Booking 
Revenues vs. 2020

Here’s to ambitiously igniting the next 
level of growth. 

5+6
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4.14.8
App store ratings(3)Customer reviews(2)

1	 Net Promoter Score measured by Zenloop; 	
	 Average for all HomeToGo domains as of 	
	 December 2021
2	 Average for all HomeToGo GmbH domains 	
	 as of December 2021
3	 As of December 2021

Net Promoter
Score(1)

Average for all HomeToGo domains 
as of December 2021

“We have already booked 
several times with Home-
ToGo. The accommoda-
tions were top. No prob-
lems at all and if we had 
any questions, they were 
answered promptly.” 

“The booking was very 
easy and uncomplicat-
ed. The contact was 
also flawless and quick.” 

“Perfect offer and 
uncomplicated 
booking – pure joy!”

Alternative accommodation is the new zeitgeist

What we have observed in the market is that travel-
ers who try out a vacation rental once continue to 
book because of the unparalleled experience. It’s 
convenient, often better-priced than other options, 
and feels like home. This has made alternative ac-
commodation the new zeitgeist: the market we are 
serving is fast-growing and demand has been rising 
rapidly, even before the pandemic.7 

With secular tailwinds from the Covid-19 pandemic, 
new structural trends have accelerated this pre-pan-
demic growth – travelers prefer the safety of private 
homes instead of crowded hotels, increasingly 
choose remote, drive-to, domestic destinations – 
which are also a more sustainable option – and have 
adapted to the new remote work reality, taking 

7	  Source: Skift
8	  Source: Phocuswire

longer “workations” around the world in the comfort 
of a spacious vacation rental. 

These are only first glimpses of the impact the pan-
demic has had on demand, bringing new customers 
into the alternative accommodation segment and al-
lowing them to experience its advantages first-hand.
 

These long-term trends are here to stay  – 
alternative accommodation has proven 
to become mainstream and new phe-
nomena, such as workations, are just on 
the cusp of becoming prevalent in the 
upcoming years.8 

50

4.6

Customer feedback

https://skift.com/2019/09/12/alternative-accommodations-are-growing-nearly-twice-as-fast-as-hotels-in-europe-new-skift-research/
https://www.phocuswire.com/short-term-rentals-have-become-inexorable
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Our superior consumer 
experience offers choice, 

transparency, highly 
relevant content and trust 

& safety when booking

Broad choice  
combined with smart tools like  

Flexible Search



HomeToGo / Annual Report 2021

DEMAND // SOLVING THE KEY PAIN POINTS FOR TRAVELERS WITH TECHNOLOGY21

Smart and personalized 
with data and machine 

learning

Trusted checkout & payments  
generating more 

bookings for Partners

“There is a huge selection, 
many filter options and
 the site is very clearly and 
transparently designed. 
You can also find real 
treasures among the offers.”
Customer feedback

“They provided us with 
a service which I was 
unable to obtain 
anywhere else on the 
internet.”
Customer feedback
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HomeToGo is strongly positioned to tap into this 
accelerated demand with a unique value proposition 
and an exceptional customer experience 

HomeToGo is ideally positioned, with a first-class 
product and user experience that has been tactful-
ly tailored to serve its customers. Before HomeToGo 
existed, travelers had to laboriously search for offers 
and manually compare prices across hundreds of 
websites in a highly fragmented market. By bringing 
supply and demand together through technology, 
we have built a unique value proposition, offering 
an unprecedented selection on a single, easy-to-use 
and reliable platform. Our superior customer expe-
rience offers both transparency and highly personal-
ized recommendations, in addition to a secure and 
trusted checkout and payments process to ensure a 
seamless and convenient experience. As a result, our 
customers trust us: we have a Reviews.io score of 
4.69, and a Net Promoter Score (NPS) of 50 points10, 
far ahead of the market.11

9	  Average for all HomeToGo GmbH domains as of December 2021
10	  Net Promoter Score measured by ZenLoop; Average for all HomeToGo GmbH domains as of December 2021 
11	  Compared to an average NPS score of 18 for travel websites (Source: Skift) 

Core to our company spirit is the ambition to conti-
nuously innovate, adapt and enhance our product to 
better serve our customers.  We pioneered powerful 
technologies, such as being one of the first short-
term rental players to create “Flexible Search” back 
in 2015, allowing guests to search for the best price 
across any trip duration. This saw a massive uplift in 
usage (+667% Q4 2021 vs. Q4 2019) following the on-
set of the pandemic, as travelers demanded unpre-
cedented travel flexibility. 

Uplift in usage of our 
“Flexible Search” feature

+667%
 2021 vs. 2019
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Furthermore, as we observed a growing demand for 
domestic getaways throughout the pandemic, we 
launched our “Find Accommodations Near You” fea-
ture in May 2021 and built additional features in reac-
tion to demand, such as advanced filters for cancel-
lation options and a Covid-19 information tool to 
provide up-to-date information on safety, hygiene, 
and ever-changing travel restrictions on a destina-
tion and property level. 

“We’re laser focused on enhancing 
marketing efficiency – capturing the 
increasing demand while decreasing 
costs – and building a loyal customer 
base to sustain our long-term growth.”

In order to capture the full demand potential and to 
continuously scale our business, we leverage proven 
marketing tactics across brand and organic, as well as 
paid marketing initiatives. To subsequently turn a first 
time customer into a loyal fan with a lasting relationship, 
we’ve built out a state-of-the-art customer retention 
strategy. As such we are able to continuously increase 
marketing efficiencies and will, over time, gradually re-
duce marketing expenses relative to revenues.

Throughout 2021 we invested in refining our proprie-
tary ad-tech backbone to support paid marketing, 
which guarantees a strong return and is scalable 
across multiple markets and brands, such as our 
own “Campaign Builder” tool. It allows the automa-
tion of a large set of campaigns by targeting and 
grabbing search demand from millions of keywords, 
and serving highly tailored content to travelers on a 
destination basis. 

In tandem, our award-winning Search Engine Opti-
mization (SEO) approach has become renowned 
within the industry and has been one of the major 
drivers behind our increase in organic traffic. To fuel 
the next phase of growth, we will continue to identi-
fy new customer segments and build tailored land-
ing page experiences to leverage untapped demand 
potential. This is clearly reflected in how well we rank 
compared to other market participants – for the ma-
jority of 2021, our SEO visibility score in Germany was 

Flexible Search Feature Find Accomodations Near You Feature
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12	  As of December 2021

well above  some of the most well-known alternative 
accommodation brands.12

To support customer retention and grow our loyal fan 
base, we enhanced our personalized customer experi-
ences via our app and CRM channel. Through millions 
of targeted push messages and emails with personal-
ized recommendations, travel offers and inspiration 
each month, we engaged and re-engaged customers 
through relevant and inspirational content at marginal 
costs. This led to more and more revenues gained from 
customers returning via free channels such as email, 
direct or branded traffic, and our app. 

Supporting these initiatives were additional invest-
ments into brand building, highlighted with the 
launch of HomeToGo’s new brand in the summer of 
2021. With a fresh logo and updated look and feel, 
amplified by a 360-degree rebranding campaign, we 
solidified our evolution to a global marketplace. 

There is a powerful and emotional narrative about 
our new brand identity: 

Our new logo is both dynamic and stable 
with the simple addition of a dash, which 
represents that HomeToGo offers a place 
for whatever you need – “a home to 
go…”, so “a home to go relax”, “a home 
to go work remotely”, adventure, spend 
time with family, and so on.  

Our new brand color, twilight purple, symbolizes the 
moment at the end of a day of travel, enjoying a sun-
set from a vacation rental and admiring nature’s color 
palette.

To bring this new identity further to life, we collaborat-
ed with travel influencers on a TV and out of home 
advertising campaign to grow our brand awareness 
and positively impact our organic traffic and customer 
loyalty. This was complemented by our proven da-
ta-driven PR approach leveraging proprietary demand 
data on observed travel trends to position HomeToGo’s 
travel expertise across global press coverage. 

Example of an Email with Inspirational Content
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Our strategy has led to 
tangible results and 
fuels a virtuous cycle for 
HomeToGo
Through this proven strategy we have already de-
creased traffic from paid marketing in 2021 to 52% (vs. 
74% in 2016), resulting in -44% cost per visit 2016 to 
2021 and an increased lifetime value of our customers. 

This approach fuels a virtuous cycle 
as the contribution per customer (the 
difference between booking revenues 
after cancellations and advertising 
spend) can be invested into additional 
brand and paid marketing to improve 
awareness and customer acquisition – 
in turn, further supporting growth and 
retention. 

In 2021 we demonstrated the strength of our prod-
uct and value proposition, while building the foun-
dations for scalable, efficient, and automated mar-
keting tactics. In 2022 we plan to scale this even 
further, leveraging our vast amounts of data and  
in-house technology team to continue driving strong 
returns and product features. 

We will optimize our paid initiatives by launching new 
models and use cases for our campaign builder and 
plan to increase customer retention by continuing to 
develop a personalized, targeted customer journey 
and delivering high-quality services and content. Our 
goal is to be top of mind when customers plan their 
vacations and are looking to book  their perfect ac-
commodation. This includes use cases beyond the 
classical meaning of vacation, such as the new trend 
of workations or nearby, weekend trips.

Our new 
brand color: 

twilight purple

-44%
 cost per visit 2016 to 2021 
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In 2022 we remain focused on 
increasing customer retention, 
building on our solid foundation 
of Brand & Organic and Paid 
Marketing to grow our onsite 
business and drive repeat 
business 

Imagery from HomeToGo’s branding initiatives
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Supply: 
Solving the key 
pain points of 
our partners 
with technology 
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Solving for Suppliers 
HomeToGo’s technology solutions for partners are
providing tangible benefits and contributing to 
growth across the entire alternative accommodation
ecosystem
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Qualified demand largely on commission 
for confirmed bookings

Supply, technology & data get quality 
supply leads, enhance, manage & utilize supply

better get data insights, e.g. for yield management
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Solving the key pain points of 
our partners with technology  

Demand

Technology 
platform

Supply

More demand = more data  
to optimize product, machine 

learning, yield management etc.

Higher retention & CLVs drive 
profitable demand creation for 

consumer marketplace

Subscriptions & Services Revenues
add to overall contribution to invest 

further into demand creation

Better leveraged data 
drives higher conversion = more 
qualified demand for supply partners

SaaS solutions 
support all types of partners leveraging the 
scaled demand marketplace technology and 
data to be cross sold, e.g. for yield management

Increased rentability from qualified 
demand combined with tech solutions 
drives trust and enhances tech 
adoption

When our over 31,000 partners win, we win. By offer-
ing tailored solutions for every partner type, our plat-
form benefits the entire alternative accommodation 
ecosystem. 

“Our partners include online travel 
agents (OTAs), like Booking.com, 
Expedia/Vrbo or TripAdvisor, property 
managers and individual homeowners 
that either list directly on our platform 
or via other channels.” 

HomeToGo’s cutting-edge technology and impact-
ful data enables our partners to optimize inventory 
and improve rentability through data correction and 
enrichment using proprietary AI-driven algorithms. 
Our highly diversified supply means that we do not 
depend on one single partner given that the majori-
ty of our inventory is offered by multiple partners.
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Our partners see tangible benefits: case studies of 
onsite partners have shown that those who switched 
to the HomeToGo platform observe a booking uplift 
of up to 60 times within three years.13 Positive overall 
results of this can be seen in our +116% year-on-year 
increase in onsite booking revenues, resulting in 
EUR 50 million booking revenues for 2021 (44% ons-
ite share).14 For OTAs, partnering with HomeToGo is a 
way to attract more traffic and bookings from an ad-
ditional source. For property managers and smaller 
businesses, partnering with HomeToGo gives them 
access to domestic and international travelers be-
yond their traditional marketing reach. In addition, 

13	 Based on pre-cancellation data. Exemplary case to show possible potential uplift due to integration change for a partner with 
	 thousands of properties
14	 Booking Revenues net of Subscription & Services Revenues

we provide them with features and infrastructure, 
such as a convenient check-out process, image 
beautification tools or a customer care hotline, 
which helps them professionalize their offers for 
their guests. For homeowners, we provide a shopi-
fy-like convenient all-in-one solution with the possi-
bility of managing listings automatically over multi-
ple rental platforms. This includes the offering of a 
homeowner website, direct price and availability 
data syncing, central guest communication tools 
and more. This growing SaaS solution, which we op-
erate under our Smoobu brand, will be rolled out 
further going forward. 

Image Recognition

Image recognition
Deduplication

Image enhancement
Image selection

Natural language processing (NLP) based 
content checks auto-add meta data such as 

nearby points of interest (e.g. airports) 
Demend forecasting & trend prediction for 

yield management

Deduplication

Image Enhancement

We leverage deep inventory knowledge to optimize 
inventory both for partners and customers

Proprietary AI-based images 
enhancement

Analyze, correct and enrich 
supplied data
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We are scaling our highly 
diversified supply and 
growing our global geogra-
phic footprint through  
targeted M&A activities
 
We are continuing to grow our global supply foot-
print through ongoing local sales efforts as well as 
acquisitions of local listing providers such as Agritur-
ismo.it and CaseVacanza.it (part of Feries) in 2018 
and EscapadaRural in 2019.

Recent acquisitions have included AMIVAC, the va-
cation rental business of Groupe SeLoger, which was 
signed in 2021 and closed at the beginning of 2022. 
We expect a positive contribution from this acquisi-
tion in 2022, both in terms of strengthening our of-
fering in France and in terms of a positive financial 
contribution to our growth.

In 2021 we further grew our selection 
by winning new partnerships and 
intensifying our cooperation with 
existing partners, while enhancing 
our technology solutions 

The mainstreaming of alternative accommodation 
was drastically accelerated by the pandemic. Our 
experienced and well-connected Business Develop-
ment team leveraged this momentum to deepen re-
lationships with existing partners and grow new relati-
onships, building awareness of HomeToGo’s benefits 
throughout the B2B community by attending more 
than 20 conferences and presenting at countless we-
binars worldwide. 

Both new and existing partners could experience 
HomeToGo’s resilience throughout the pandemic 
firsthand, reflected in booking numbers and the 
constant cooperation and adaptation we practiced 
in their interest. For example, we monitored guest 
preferences as a result of the pandemic, working 
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with partners to quickly adapt listings to reflect both 
updated cancellation policies and safety practices. 

Throughout 2021, we also continued to grow our 
technology solutions and benefits for our partners, 
leveraging our deep inventory knowledge to opti-
mize inventory for partners and customers. Continu-
ous developments in our proprietary AI-based image 
enhancement and data-enrichment tools15 have 
helped partners optimize their listings and grow de-
mand. Our onsite business drove more demand for 
our partners, whilst we started offering payment 

15	 Our image enhancement technology, which not only enhances images visually but also interprets them in terms of content and 
	 automatically initiates an update of the overall data quality. In addition, location information like the distance to the beach or the type of 	
	 amenities help users make informed decisions and improve booking success overall

processing solutions that more and more partners 
onboard to.
 

In 2022 we aim to continue to increase 
and diversify our portfolio of suppliers 
In 2022 we will continue to remain focused on partner 
acquisition, while building organic growth and aware-
ness. With proceeds from the SPAC, we aim to grow 
our footprint in North America and drive long-term 
growth beyond Europe. In parallel, we will execute fur-
ther inorganic growth through targeted M&A activity.

“Since opening up our Italian countryside home in 2011 we have loved the experience 
of offering a unique stay to travelers. Thanks to Agriturismo.it and HomeToGo, 

our inquiries have increased significantly over the years to build this into a business. 
What we love most is how simple and effortless it is to manage our listing and 

attract guests from around the world.” 
Daniele and Alessandra, Gardahill FerienWohnungen & Agriturismo, 

Soiano del Lago, Brescia

https://www.agriturismo.it/en/farmhouse/lombardy/brescia/GardahillFerienWohnungen-Agriturismo-0600712/index.html
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The core of our business
Technology is at the core of our business, we enable the 
market with a state-of-the-art platform that has removed 
friction between demand and supply

Technology is at the core of our business. We enable 
the market with a state-of-the-art platform that has 
removed friction between demand and supply

At the core of our business and running through 
every customer or partner interaction is our lead-
ing-edge technology. This is also what drives our in-
ternal operations and decision making. With about 
50% of our 400+ employees16 working in our product 
and engineering teams, constantly evolving this 
technology is our focus. 

Together, we have built a state-of-the-art platform 
that solves key pain points of the market and re-
moves friction between supply and demand thus 
enabling the whole alternative accommodation eco-
system to be more successful. 

Our platform accelerates a virtuous cycle of growth 
and innovation: we leverage data to drive better out-
comes for our partners, which in turn drives adop-
tion of our technology solutions and generates more 
revenues including increasingly higher adoption of 
our technology solutions as part of our Subscrip-
tions & Services. This subsequently funds invest-
ment in consumer attraction, retention, and the ac-
cumulation of more data. These network effects are 
constantly fueling our highly scalable flywheel and 
help us build a technology enabler for the entire al-
ternative accommodation ecosystem. 

16	  Headcount HomeToGo Group incl. dedicated teams of tech service provider NFQ

Our technology platform is fast, reliable, 
scalable and proprietary

HomeToGo’s technology platform is able to support 
the entire ecosystem, because it is highly secure and 
extremely scalable. The infrastructure is fully cloud-
based, built with redundancy and auto-scaling to in-
crease resilience against infrastructure outages. It 
can also deal with high workloads, which vary over 
time due to business seasonality or changing user 
activity during the day, in a cost-efficient way.

The platform has been designed using modular ar-
chitecture, allowing engineering teams to develop 
multiple products independently from one another. 
This ensures a fast development speed, allowing 
rapid innovation, and immediate adaptation to new 
trends or demands needed to remain an industry 
leader. 

This architecture is further supported by dedicated 
sets of automated test suites, deployment pipelines 
and extensive monitoring tools for each product, to 
ensure uncompromising, high-quality standards. 
Powerful A/B testing and extensive data analytics 
capabilities allow us to make data-informed deci-
sions faster and maximize value creation for custom-
ers and partners.

In 2021 we enhanced our technology 
platform and added new security fea-
tures, while enabling more HomeToGo 
brands to benefit from our technology

Over the past year, we have continued to enhan-
ce our platform and create new tech hubs to allow 
for even faster growth of our technology team. Our 
data warehouse technologies have also been up-
graded to further increase self-service capabilities, 

50%
of our 400+ employees

 are working in our product and
 engineering teams
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speed, reliability, and observability of our data plat-
form. This enables our teams to make even more 
data-informed decisions.

We continuously strengthen our IT-security strate-
gy and take an increasing number of technical and 
organizational measures to prevent unauthorized 
access to our systems and data, paying special at-
tention to protecting personal data by applying 
even more stringent security measures. In 2021, we 
introduced dedicated security roles within the 
company, ran multiple security assessment work-
shops and conducted penetration tests with exter-
nal security experts.

Furthermore, we delivered on our goal of consoli-
dating technologies within the HomeToGo Group, 
enabling more of our brands, and eventually exter-
nal brands, to take advantage of our platform. We 
have also updated our proprietary modular Home-
ToGo Design System to the next version, further 
bringing the multi-branding and customization ca-
pabilities of our technology platform to the next 
level. This lays the ground for a suite of cloud-based 
services that we can offer to our partners and third 
parties. One of the first examples of this is that we 
have implemented an enhanced White Label tech-
nology as part of the updated HomeToGo Design 
System.

Data-informed insights and technology 
are at the core of our product, driving 
innovation and guaranteeing a superior 
experience for both our customers and 
partners

We typically run over 100 A/B tests in production at the 
same time resulting in releasing multiple new innova-
tive and enhanced features to our platform on a week-
ly basis. Our cutting-edge technology is therefore not 
relying on big release dates. We can dynamically up-
date our products without having to wait for certain 
launch dates, which is a benefit versus older technology 

setups. Taking advantage of large amounts of consum-
er behavior data, we train and enhance our cutting 
edge machine learning algorithms and recommenda-
tion models. Combining the right models with smart 
and easy-to use search tools, we are able to quickly 
adapt to new travel patterns across the globe. This 
offers increased relevance as well as convenience to 
our consumers, resulting in observed higher onsite 
conversion rates on our platform (+18% 2021 vs. 2020). 

Our onsite product enables consumers to book and 
pay directly on our platform. In 2021, we released 
five trusted payment methods that guarantee a fast, 
secure and easy checkout process. We further in-
vested in our onsite post-booking flow, enabling 
consumers to easily access and manage their trip 
details, providing a superior end-to-end experience 
on our platform, and thus driving retention rates and 
customer lifetime value.

Our product team is focused on creating a state-of-
the-art technology platform to remove friction for 
both supply and demand and help fuel growth for 
the alternative accommodation industry as a whole 
and enable everyone to be more successful. 

Payments Methods on HomeToGo

100 A/B 
tests in production at 

the same time
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With Smoobu, we provide a convenient, Shopify-like 
all-in-one solution for homeowners giving them the 
possibility to manage listings across multiple rental 
platforms in one central place. This includes the offer-
ing of a homeowner website, direct price and availa-
bility data syncing, central guest communication 
tools and more. For Smoobu’s connected demand 
channel partners – including Airbnb, Booking.com 
and Vrbo, among others – this means more up to date 
data on availabilities and prices as well as easier ac-
cess to supply.

In 2022 we will continue to enhance our 
technology and security, while automa-
ting more processes.

In 2022 we will continue with the consolidation of 
our technology platform across our brands and with 
the improvements in infrastructure and automation 
of the business operations, while also advancing our 
recommendation models. We also plan to continue 
to scale our SaaS product, through continued focus 
on new features and software advancements, in-
cluding increasing synergies with our existing Sub-
scription & Services offerings. 

We will also launch new security initiatives by adopt-
ing an industry-leading NIST Cybersecurity Frame-
work, and establish regular security assessments, 
based on a comprehensive set of well-defined secu-
rity criteria, further investing into security tools and 
staff awareness training.  

A shopify-like convenient all-in-one SaaS 
solution to connect homeowners more easily 
to our Partners – enabling the whole supply 

side to be more successful

4.6/5

Leveraging external services via open API as well as the direct connection in the future to 
HomeToGo’s data intelligence to improve inventory attractiveness, yield management etc. 

Highly rated 
by users

Overview via central cockpit 
incl. guest communication

Click-and-Build own 
website easily

Synchronise data like 
prices & availabilities
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An employer 
of choice
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An employer of choice
Our employees are part of an ambitious, open-minded 
team of professionals with high growth potential and 
a motivating work culture

The same ambitious, high-growth mindset with 
which HomeToGo was founded is what has made us 
an employer of choice for our 400+ employees. By 
joining HomeToGo, employees become part of a 
team of ambitious and open-minded professionals 
in a diverse company with high growth potential and 
a motivating work culture.

In line with our Leadership Principles, we operate ac-
cording to seven core values that define the way we 
work together, how we discuss ideas, and a founda-
tion for developing all of us as leaders. In short, these 
principles prioritize: Customer success, having a 

bias for delivering strong results, taking responsibili-
ty and ownership to move things forward, thinking, 
and acting entrepreneurially, being solution-orient-
ed, developing and empowering each other, and, fi-
nally, a pronounced feedback culture so that we can 
grow together as a team. 

In an environment that is still characterized by the 
original start-up flair, our employees are not seen as 
a “human resource”; instead, we focus on the indi-
vidual. People are enabled to succeed through au-
tonomous ownership of high impact projects and 
we focus on a healthy error culture. Our flat hierar-

HomeToGo Berlin Office



AN EMPLOYER OF CHOICE

HomeToGo / Annual Report 2021

40

chies also offer excellent opportunities for personal 
development, which is supported by extensive pro-
fessional training, coaching and mentoring programs. 

Each individual is empowered to set ambitious goals, 
to make an impact and grow their career.
 
The Covid-19 pandemic brought on an unprece-
dented change in how the HomeToGo team works 
together with a shift from a mainly in-office setting 
to being fully remote. Through it all, our team em-
braced the change and adapted - continuing to 
flourish and grow during an incredibly dynamic time. 
When the vaccination process started in early 2021, 
we began to brainstorm what our “new normal” 
could look like. We wanted this to be a holistic Home-
ToGo decision that prioritized the well-being of our 
team as well as the impact on the performance for 
HomeToGo, so we asked our team for input on how 
they work best. Together we developed a new hy-
brid approach: Flexible Work @ HomeToGo. 

Our Flexible Work approach combines the best of both 
working models: in-office collaboration with remote 
work efficiency. This allows our team the freedom to 
choose if they work at home, in our offices while fol-
lowing proper precautions, or even while traveling. 
With this, given the freedom, trust and responsibility to 
choose their most productive and efficient work envi-
ronment helps them achieve their best results. 

Based on the deep trust in our employees, they are 
not only able to choose from where and how they 
work but also receive the necessary support to do 
so - for example, helping to set up their home office. 
To assist employees through psychological difficul-
ties that arose with lockdowns and ongoing isolation, 
the company also offered mental health workshops, 
courses and counseling.

We believe in a strong feedback culture 
to enable continuous improvement of 
our employee value proposition

17	 For HomeToGo as of Dec 2021
18	       For HomeToGo GmbH as of Dec 2021

At HomeToGo we foster an open and constructive 
feedback and communication style focused on re-
spect, transparency and trust. A 360-degree feed-
back culture, employee surveys, open feedback fo-
rums at all company meetings and a transparent 
culture serve as a basis for our continuous improve-
ment. We see our open-minded and pronounced 
feedback culture as one of the most important pre-
requisites for our growth. 

High growth opportunities, our Flexible Work ap-
proach, and our culture of trust and results-based 
attitudes are among the most frequently cited posi-
tive attributes in employee surveys. This positive in-
ternal feedback is also reflected on public employer 
rating platforms. With a Glassdoor rating of 4.617 (out 
of 5) and a Kununu rating of 4.418 (out of 5), HomeTo-
Go is positioned well above the results of similar 
companies.

In 2022 we will grow our diverse and 
high-performing teams, while continuing 
to put our people first

HomeToGo will continue to put quality before quan-
tity when it comes to hiring new colleagues in 2022, 
with targets to modestly grow our employee base. In 
return, our existing and new hires will be given the 
opportunity to develop and grow together with the 
company. After all, in today’s ubiquitous “war for tal-
ent”, companies can only become attractive to the 
best of the best, if they also offer the appropriate, 
inspiring opportunities.

4.6 / 5 4.4 / 5

17+18
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We are committed to driving positive change for our 
customers, partners, employees and ourselves, as well 
as the environment. As part of our sustainability ef-
forts, we focus on reducing our carbon footprint and 
combating the effects of climate change. For exam-
ple, we have been calculating our baseline and Scope 3 
emissions for our German and Lithuanian offices since 
2019, offsetting 100% of our carbon footprint in an ef-
fort to make these offices completely climate neutral. 
We are also committed to fighting climate change 
through sustainable partnerships: as a member of 
Leaders for Climate Action – joining thousands of en-
trepreneurs, brands and companies – and through 

our certified carbon offsetting with ClimatePartner 
to support local projects such as Clean Oceans 
Worldwide.

We have also been driving sustainability through our 
ecosystem: Travelers can make their trips more envi-
ronmentally friendly by being able to book rentals in 
drive-to, domestic destinations, made even easier 
by our introduction of a “Find Accommodations Near 

A strong commitment to ESG 
Our commitment to sustainability

Our "Find Accommodations Near You" feature supports sustainable, local travel
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You” feature in May 2021. Based on our research and 
structural trends seen from the pandemic, we ex-
pect this trend to grow in the future.

Travel companies can contribute to significantly im-
proving the sustainability of the entire travel ecosys-
tem. This is something HomeToGo is eager to work 
towards in our commitment to greater climate pro-
tection and sustainability, and will continue to ex-
plore through product innovations and features to 
meet the growing customer demand for sustainable 
travel options.19 By introducing new sustainable 
product features, we expect this to both positively 
impact growth20 and more importantly foster a para-
digm shift in the travel industry where we can en-
courage our consumers to give preference to sus-
tainable product offerings wherever possible.

Our commitment to strong 
compliance standards
In 2021, we further strengthened our compliance 
system and introduced mandatory compliance train-
ing for all employees. We communicated internal 
guidelines that aim to ensure legal compliance, con-
fidentiality and overall lawful conduct by our em-
ployees. Additionally, we defined principles for our 
corporate responsibilities, how we work with each 
other and with partners. In the course of our listing, 
we further strengthened these standards, bringing 
on additional specialists to support us in aligning our 
compliance system to the requirements of the capi-
tal market and the current legal environment. We 
have also introduced a “Speak Up System”, which 
employees can use anonymously to report any sus-
picious behavior or even potential rule breaches. In 
terms of our interaction with the industry, we adhere 
to and uphold fair competition practices.

In our technology chapter we described how we 
continuously strengthen our IT security strategy and 
how to prevent unauthorized access to our systems. 
As a technology innovator of the industry, data pro-
tection is of particular importance to us. We pay 

19	 81% of global travelers say they want to stay in a sustainable accommodation in the upcoming year 
	 Source: Booking.com 2021 Sustainable Travel Report 
20	 Sustainable products outperform regular products in terms of growth; Source: Harvard Business Review

special attention to protecting personal data through 
compliant GDPR standards. We have also brought 
on board an internal data protection expert in addi-
tion to an external data protection officer. 

Our commitment to continuously 
promoting diversity

We place great emphasis on structures and prac-
tices that create true equality of opportunity. We 
take diversity in all forms very seriously, and ensure 
it through internal processes, policies, and training. 
Regardless of gender, nationality, sexual orientation, 
religion or culture, we aim to maximize the benefits 
of diversity as we believe in it as a core driver for 
greater innovation leading to better business outco-
mes. Our team now consists of employees from 43 
different nationalities, whilst 40% of employees and 
39% at and above the manager level of HomeToGo 
Group are female. 

We are working to attract and hire talent from all 
backgrounds and to empower every individual to 
succeed. We are achieving this with a consistent re-
cruitment process that reflects our HomeToGo val-
ues and culture. At the same time, we recognize that 
there is always more room for greater diversity, and 
we are actively working to achieve this in the next 
few years. 

HomeToGo strongly believes that a diverse commu-
nity has a positive impact on our products, compa-
ny, industry and our team.

43
different nationalities of
employees in our team

https://www.sustainability.booking.com/post/booking-com-s-2021-sustainable-travel-report-affirms-potential-watershed-moment?aid=318615;label=New_English_EN_DE_21457879225-Jdut*siugXVp60tvDpgYjQS217244960865:pl:ta:p1:p2:ac:ap:neg:fi:tidsa-55482331735:lp9061136:li:dec:dm;ws=&gclid=Cj0KCQjw_4-SBhCgARIsAAlegrXlx_LD-BolyqQITc7ijXpNmQ3t4RR-sewJXSqEX3c1haf8pXpu1q0aAqEqEALw_wcB
https://hbr.org/2019/06/research-actually-consumers-do-buy-sustainable-products
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HomeToGo SE
Report of the Supervisory Board 
for the Financial Year 2021

Dear Shareholders,
In the financial year 2021, the Supervisory Board of 
HomeToGo SE (“HomeToGo” or the “Company”) ful-
filled all of its duties as required by law, the articles of 
association and its rules of procedure with the ut-
most care. It regularly monitored the Management 
Board of the Company on the basis of comprehen-
sive reports and provided advice on HomeToGo’s 
strategic development and on important individual 
measures, about which the Supervisory Board was 
regularly and thoroughly informed by the Manage-
ment Board. This occurred both during and outside 
of the meetings of the Supervisory Board and its Au-
dit Committee in the form of written and oral reports. 
Matters ranged from the development of the busi-
ness, questions on planned and current investments, 
the state of HomeToGo including its risk position, to 
risk management and compliance. Furthermore, the 
Management Board aligned HomeToGo’s strategic 
focus with the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory 
Board discussed in detail the reports prepared by the 
Management Board and also deliberated on future 
prospects for HomeToGo with the Management 
Board. It was convinced of the lawfulness, expedien-
cy and propriety of the Management Board’s leader-
ship of HomeToGo and was involved in all fundamen-
tal decisions of HomeToGo.

The Supervisory Board was always promptly and 
comprehensively informed of current developments 
and significant individual issues by the Management 
Board. The Supervisory Board was involved at an ear-
ly stage in decisions of major importance, in particu-
lar regarding the Company’s initial listing on the 
Frankfurt Stock Exchange in February 2021 (Listing), 
then still trading under Lakestar SPAC I SE, and the 
business combination with HomeToGo GmbH (Busi-
ness Combination), which was completed in Sep-
tember 2021. The Supervisory Board passed resolu-
tions on all of those individual measures taken by the 
Management Board, which by law, the articles of as-
sociation or the rules of procedure required the ap-
proval of the Supervisory Board.

The Supervisory Board initially included Dr. Klaus Hom-
mels (Chairman), Raymond Bär and Dr. Dirk Altenbeck. 
Following the completion of the Business Combination 
with HomeToGo GmbH, Christoph Schuh, Thilo Sem-
melbauer, Susanne Sandler, Martin Reiter, Philipp 
Kloeckner and Dr. Dirk Altenbeck were elected as 
members of the Supervisory Board by the extraordi-
nary general meeting of the Company in September 
2021. In the following meeting of the Supervisory 
Board, Christoph Schuh was elected as Chairman and 
Dr. Dirk Altenbeck as Deputy Chairman.

Name Age Member since Appointed until Committees

Christoph Schuh (Chairman) 57 2021 2023 Audit Committee

Dr. Dirk Altenbeck (Deputy 
Chairman)	 56 2021 2023 Audit Committee 

(Chairman)

Philipp Kloeckner	 41 2021 2023 None

Martin Reiter	 38 2021 2023 None

Susanne Sandler	 37 2021 2023 None

Thilo Semmelbauer	 56 2021 2023 Audit Committee
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Meetings of the Supervisory Board and 
Written Resolutions

The Supervisory Board held four meetings in the fi-
nancial year 2021. In addition, the Supervisory Board 
passed one written resolution and Dr. Klaus Hommels 
as a delegate appointed by the Supervisory Board is-
sued three written resolutions. In these Supervisory 
Board meetings and written resolutions, the Supervi-
sory Board approved all major decisions of the Man-
agement Board.

Despite the restrictions due to the ongoing Covid-19 
pandemic, the Supervisory Board was able to hold all 
proposed meetings except one, which was substitut-
ed with a written resolution, in person or via video 
conference. These meetings were also attended by 
all members of the Management Board.

Key Activities

In addition to the Management Board reporting, in 
particular, with regard to the economic state and the 
development of HomeToGo and on material business 
events as well as the statutory regular reporting on 
intended business policy and fundamental questions 
with regard to HomeToGo’s operative planning and 
profitability, especially the following topics were in 
depth dealt with by the Supervisory Board:

	→ The issuance of public shares and public warrants 
in connection with the initial listing of the Compa-
ny on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange.

	→ Adoption and subsequent amendment of rules of 
procedure for the Supervisory Board and approval 
of the Rules of Procedure of the Management 
Board.

	→ Formation of the Audit Committee of the Supervi-
sory Board and adoption and subsequent amend-
ment of its Rules of Procedure.

	→ The Business Combination with HomeToGo 
GmbH and related issuance of new shares, PIPE 
transaction and listing of the newly issued shares.

	→ Confirmation of the appointment of Dr. Patrick 
Andrae, Wolfgang Heigl, Valentin Gruber and 
Steffen Schneider as new members of the 
Management Board.

	→ The annual financial statements for the financial 
year 2021 and their review by the Supervisory 
Board.

	→ Development of the business during the course of 
the year 2021.

	→ Strategic positioning and structuring of the 
business organization.

	→ The invitation to and the agenda of the extraordi-
nary general meeting in September 2021, inclu-
ding the proposals for resolutions.

Audit Committee

The Supervisory Board has one committee, the Au-
dit Committee, the current members of which are 
Dr. Dirk Altenbeck (Chairman), Christoph Schuh and 
Thilo Semmelbauer. Prior to the Business Combina-
tion, the Audit Committee consisted of Dr. Dirk 
Altenbeck (Chairman) and Raymond Bär.

The Audit Committee convened four times during 
the financial year 2021, and held its meetings both 
virtually and in person. 

In the first meeting of the Audit Committee on May 3, 
2021, the Company approved and confirmed the re-
quirements of independence of EY Luxembourg as 
auditor of the Company. 

At its second meeting on July 14, 2021, the Audit 
Committee, after having reviewed related party 
transactions resulting from the transaction structure 
of the Business Combination, confirmed that suffi-
cient disclosure had been made thereof and that 
risks resulting from related party transactions for 
shareholders had been adequately addressed by the 
Management Board and the Supervisory Board.

In the third meeting on November 4, 2021, the Audit 
Committee reviewed and discussed the financial 
statements for the third quarter of the financial year 
2021.

At its fourth meeting on November 22, 2021, the Audit 
Committee discussed and prepared together with its 
auditor, EY Luxembourg, and EY Germany the up-
coming auditing process for the financial year 2021.

Conflicts of Interest

During the meeting of the Supervisory Board on 
February 12, 2021, Dr. Klaus Hommels, indirectly sub-
scribing for shares and warrants in connection with 
the initial listing of the Company, declared a poten-
tial conflict of interest and did not participate in the 
discussion and abstained from voting on the terms 
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and conditions of Class B Shares and Class B War-
rants as well as the respective purchase agreement 
in this meeting.

The Supervisory Board noted during its meeting on 
May 3, 2021, that Lakestar Fund II, of which Dr. Klaus 
Hommels is a beneficial owner, held a minor partici-
pation in HomeToGo GmbH.

The Supervisory Board noted during its meeting on 
July 14, 2021, that Dr. Klaus Hommels and Raymond 
Bär had a potential conflict of interest in respect to 
the PIPE financing in connection with the Business 
Combination as they (indirectly) subscribed for a 
certain amount of shares in connection with the PIPE 
transaction. The Supervisory Board further noted 
that Dr. Klaus Hommels was indirectly invested in 
HomeToGo GmbH and that the Audit Committee 
had reviewed and approved the Business Combina-
tion. It was noted that Dr. Klaus Hommels and Raymond 
Bär, respectively, abstained from voting on certain 
resolutions to the extent that conflicts of interest in 
the sense of Luxembourg law existed.

No other conflicts of interest were reported or were 
discernible in the reporting period.

Corporate Governance

As a Luxembourg governed company, whose shares 
are listed on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, HomeTo-
Go is neither required to adhere to the Luxembourg 
corporate governance regime applicable to com-
panies that are traded in Luxembourg nor to the 
German corporate governance regime applicable to 
listed companies in Germany. While HomeToGo 
does not apply the Luxembourg or German corpo-
rate governance regime in its entirety on a voluntary 
basis, HomeToGo and the Supervisory Board remain 
committed to applying and implementing high 
standards in terms of corporate governance 
throughout HomeToGo’s organization.

Audit and Adoption of the Annual 
Financial Statements and Consolidated 
Financial statements
The annual financial statements and the consolidat-
ed financial statements for 2021, both including the 
combined management report were audited with 
an unqualified audit opinion. The Management 

Board forwarded the annual financial statements 
and the consolidated financial statements for fiscal 
year 2021, both including the combined manage-
ment report as well as the proposal of the Manage-
ment Board for the appropriation of profit 2021 as 
well as the auditors’ reports to the Supervisory Board 
and the Audit Committee.

In the first step, the Audit Committee comprehen-
sively examined and discussed the financial state-
ments and the proposal for the appropriation of prof-
it in the presence of the auditor. The auditor reported 
on the most significant audit matters.

Thereafter and based on the Audit Committee’s rec-
ommendation, the Supervisory Board examined the 
annual financial statements and consolidated finan-
cial statements for fiscal year 2021, both including the 
combined management report as well as the propos-
al of the Management Board for the appropriation of 
profit. The result of the pre-assessment conducted 
by the Audit Committee and the Supervisory Board’s 
own results corroborate the result of the external au-
ditor. Based on this final review, the Supervisory Board 
raised no objections to the audit. The Supervisory 
Board, therefore, adopted the annual financial state-
ments for 2021 and the consolidated financial state-
ments for 2021 and approved their respective submis-
sion to the annual general meeting planned to be 
held on May 24, 2022. The Supervisory Board con-
curred with the proposal of the Management Board 
to carry forward the net loss for the year to new ac-
count.

Changes to the Management Board

After Stefan Winners, Inga Schwarting and Luca Ellul 
had resigned as members of the Management 
Board as previously intended in the context of the 
Business Combination, Dr. Patrick Andrae (CEO, until 
March 22, 2025), Wolfgang Heigl (CSO, until Sep-
tember  22, 2024), Valentin Gruber (COO, until Sep-
tember 22, 2025) and Steffen Schneider (CFO, until 
September 22, 2025) were elected new members of 
the Management Board.  
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Closing Remarks of the Chairman of the 
Supervisory Board

I would like to extend my special thanks to all present 
and former members of the Supervisory Board and 
the Management Board as well as all employees for 
their excellent performance in this special financial 
year 2021. The successful completion of the Busi-
ness Combination and positive development of 
HomeToGo under the challenging circumstances of 
the year 2021 would not have been possible without 
the commitment, motivation and positive attitude of 
all board members and employees.

Luxembourg, March 30, 2022 

For the Supervisory Board 
Christoph Schuh
Chairman of the Supervisory Board of HomeToGo SE
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Corporate Governance 
Report of HomeToGo SE
The corporate governance of HomeToGo SE (the 
“Company” or “HomeToGo”) is primarily determined 
by the applicable Luxembourg law, in particular the 
law of August 10, 1915 on commercial companies, as 
amended, and the law of May 24, 2011 on the exer-
cise of certain shareholder rights in listed compa-
nies, as amended, the Company’s articles of associa-
tion (the “Articles of Association”) as well as the rules 
of procedure of the Company’s Management Board 
(the “Management Board” and its rules of procedure 
the “Management Board’s Rules of Procedure”), the 
rules of procedure of the Company’s Supervisory 
Board (the “Supervisory Board” and its rules of pro-
cedure the “Supervisory Board’s Rules of Procedure”) 
and the terms of reference of the Company’s Audit 
Committee (the “Audit Committee” and its terms of 
reference the “Charter of the Audit Committee”). 
HomeToGo is committed to ensuring compliance 
with its core values of integrity, transparency and re-
sponsibility through the Company’s code of con-
duct (the “Code of Conduct”). The principles set out 
in the Code of Conduct are binding for every em-
ployee of the Company. As a Luxembourg governed 
company, which shares are traded on the Frankfurt 
Stock Exchange, HomeToGo is not required to ad-
here to the Luxembourg corporate governance re-
gime applicable to companies, whose shares are 
traded in Luxembourg or to the German corporate 
governance regime applicable to listed companies 
in Germany. The Company has opted not to apply 
the Luxembourg or German corporate governance 
regime in its entirety on a voluntary basis either, 
however, HomeToGo remains committed to apply-
ing and implementing a high standard of corporate 
governance throughout its organization and has 
therefore decided to set up its own corporate gov-
ernance rules as described in the following para-
graphs in order to build up a corporate governance 
structure which meets the specific needs and inter-
ests of the Company. The Company is, for example, 
in compliance with those rules of the German cor-
porate governance codex that it believes are of par-
ticular importance such as that the Audit Committee 

of the Company’s Supervisory Board is being chaired 
by an independent member of the Supervisory 
Board, Dr. Dirk Altenbeck, who has specific knowl-
edge and experience in applying accounting princi-
ples and who is not the Chairman of the Supervisory 
Board.

The Company is obliged under Luxembourg law to 
draw up a remuneration policy for the Management 
Board as well as for the Supervisory Board. The prin-
ciples and measurement of the remuneration policy 
for the Management Board and Supervisory Board 
are prepared in accordance with the aforementioned 
Luxembourg law of May 24, 2011. The remuneration 
policy and a remuneration report will be published 
separately from this annual report.

Under the Code of Conduct, all employees of the 
Company are required to abide by applicable laws 
and practice a culture of integrity, thereby commit-
ting to the Company’s core values. The Code of 
Conduct outlines the values, corporate responsibili-
ty, commitment to fair competition and principles of 
internal communication for the Company. 

In all business dealings, the Company is committed 
to its core values of integrity, transparency and re-
sponsibility. The teams and focus groups work to-
gether on the basis of openness, respect and con-
structive cooperation, thereby fostering a culture 
and work environment that empowers every em-
ployee to do their best work. This approach ensures 
the Company’s success, which is based on great 
products and services, happy and loyal customers as 
well as the Company’s reputation. 

In order to work to the highest principles of quality, 
the Company adheres to all legal requirements, 
technical rules and regulations and complies with all 
relevant approval processes. The Company is com-
mitted to respecting and promoting the human 
rights of its employees and its business partners. 
Demonstrating openness to people from different 



HomeToGo / Annual Report 2021

51 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

backgrounds, the Company is firmly opposed to any 
form of discrimination. To create a safe and healthy 
working environment, the Company complies with 
all legal requirements and takes all necessary meas-
ures to prevent health risks associated with work. 
The challenge of sustainability and environmental 
protection is of paramount importance. The Compa-
ny seeks to reduce its environmental impact, remain 
climate-neutral and fight against the climate crisis. 
Measures to this purpose include the complete cli-
mate neutrality for the Company’s offices. 

Given that the Company operates online platforms, 
it is aware of the special responsibility with regard to 
data protection and IT security. In order to protect all 
personal data of its employees, customers, suppliers 
and business partners, the Company complies with 
the applicable provisions and requirements under 
the applicable data protection laws and is particular-
ly committed to basic principles such as purpose 
limitation, storage limitations and the accountability 
of the person responsible for processing the data. 
The Company has implemented appropriate techni-
cal and organizational measures to prevent its data 
from unauthorized access. Employees are required 
to use company property only for business purpos-
es and to protect it from loss or damage by treating 
it properly. Furthermore, the Company attaches im-
portance not to disclose confidential information, 
which may include, inter alia, technical and financial 
data or business strategies relating either to the 
Company or to entities outside of the Company. 

To ensure that the market trusts the Company to con-
duct its business responsibly, the Company strives to 
maintain fair and balanced competition. Any kind of 
corruption or fraud is not accepted. Employees may 
accept only reasonable, socially adequate benefits 
from business partners and it is strictly forbidden for 
them to accept benefits that may influence their busi-
ness decisions. Making sure that action is always tak-
en in the interests of the Company, employees must 
inform their office superior or the Company’s compli-
ance office (the “Compliance Office”) in the event of 
a potential conflict of interest, so that an appropriate 
behavior can be determined internally. Donations, 
sponsorships and charity work are only carried out to 
selected organizations and causes in a transparent 
way pursuant to the Company’s internal policies and 
must not harm the Company’s reputation. Commit-
ting to fair and open competition, all employees are 

expected to act in accordance with applicable anti-
trust and competition laws. Any kind of arrangement 
or exchange of information aimed at or causing any 
restraints of competition is not permitted. The Compa-
ny respects the intellectual property of its customers, 
business partners and third parties. By respecting fi-
nancial laws and the confidentiality of non-public infor-
mation, the Company maintains the trust of its inves-
tors and the public. No employee may disclose 
non-public information without due authorization or 
use non-public information for private purposes. Ac-
knowledging the critical importance of market trans-
parency and accurate and reliable financial and busi-
ness records, the Company complies with all legal 
provisions on proper accounting and financial report-
ing. The Company complies with all applicable trade 
regulations and sanctions regimes and implements 
any new provisions as soon as possible. Employees are 
required to report any indications of money laundering 
to the Compliance Office. With regard to the choice of 
business partners, the Company applies the same 
high ethical and legal standards. Business partners are 
selected exclusively on objective criteria. 

The Company’s compliance system contributes to 
the effective implementation of the aforementioned 
values, principles and rules. Employees are encour-
aged to be alert, observant and to express concerns 
if they suspect a violation of a corporate governance 
rule. Concerns can be addressed to office superiors 
or the Compliance Office. Furthermore, suspected 
wrongdoing can be reported on an anonymous ba-
sis through the Company’s internal communication 
channels. 

Procedures of the Management Board 
and the Supervisory Board
Management Board Procedures 

The Company is managed by the Management 
Board, which exercises its functions under the su-
pervision of the Supervisory Board. The Manage-
ment Board is vested with the broadest powers to 
act in the name of the Company and to take any ac-
tion necessary or useful to fulfil the Company’s cor-
porate purpose, with the exception of the powers 
reserved to the Supervisory Board or to the general 
meeting of shareholders by any laws or regulations 
or by the Articles of Association.
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The Management Board bears responsibility for man-
aging the Company’s business. It is bound to act in the 
interest of the Company and to increase the long-term 
value of the Company. The four members of the Man-
agement Board are responsible for the Company’s 
strategy and its day-to-day implementation. They work 
collaboratively and inform each other constantly about 
any significant measures and events within their area 
of responsibility. 

The Management Board develops the Company’s 
strategy under the supervision of the Supervisory 
Board and ensures its implementation. It also conducts 
the Company’s business with the due care and dili-
gence of a prudent and conscientious manager in ac-
cordance with the applicable law, the Articles of Asso-
ciation and the Management Board’s Rules of 
Procedure. The Management Board cooperates in an 
atmosphere of collegiality and trust with the other 
bodies of the Company in the best interest of the 
Company.
 
The collaboration and responsibilities of the members 
of the Management Board are set out in the Manage-
ment Board’s Rules of Procedure. The members of the 
Management Board represent the Company in dealing 
with third parties. With regard to the daily manage-
ment of the Company’s affairs, the Management Board 
may delegate such actions to one or several members 
of the Management Board, officers or agents. Pursuant 
to the Articles of Association and the Management 
Board’s Rules of Procedure, the Company is bound to-
wards third parties by the joint signature of any two 
members of the Management Board, or by the individ-
ual or joint signature of any persons to whom such sig-
natory power may have been delegated by the Man-
agement Board within the limits of such delegation. 

The Management Board endeavors to hold one meet-
ing in each calendar quarter. Additional meetings are 
held if necessary. At least every three months the Man-
agement Board provides a written report to the Super-
visory Board on the business of the Company and its 
foreseeable future development. In addition, the Man-
agement Board is obliged to promptly inform the Su-
pervisory Board about any events likely to have a mate-
rial effect on the Company. 

Any member of the Management Board who has a fi-
nancial interest conflicting with the interest of the 
Company in connection with a transaction falling 

within the responsibility of the Management Board is 
required to disclose such conflict of interest immedi-
ately to the Supervisory Board and inform the other 
members of the Management Board thereof. The rele-
vant member of the Management Board may not take 
part in the discussions relating to such transaction nor 
vote on such transaction. Any such conflict of interest 
must be reported to the next general meeting of 
shareholders prior to such meeting taking any resolu-
tion on any other item. In addition, the authorization of 
the Supervisory Board is required for transactions relat-
ing to such conflict matters.

Supervisory Board Procedures 
The Supervisory Board shall be in charge of the perma-
nent supervision and control of the Company’s man-
agement by the Management Board. It may in no case 
interfere with such management. The Supervisory 
Board has an unlimited right of information regarding 
all operations of the Company and may inspect any of 
the Company’s documents. It may request the Man-
agement Board to provide any information necessary 
for exercising its functions and may directly or indirect-
ly proceed to all verifications, which it may deem useful 
in order to carry out its duties. A member of the Man-
agement Board cannot be a member of the Superviso-
ry Board at the same time. 

The Supervisory Board regularly advises and supervis-
es the Management Board in its management of the 
Company. It is involved in all decisions of fundamental 
importance for the Company. The Supervisory Board 
conducts its business in accordance with the applica-
ble law, the Articles of Association and the Supervisory 
Board’s Rules of Procedure. It cooperates closely in an 
atmosphere of trust with the other corporate bodies of 
the Company, in particular with the Management 
Board, in the best interest of the Company. Pursuant to 
the Articles of Association and the Supervisory Board’s 
Rules of Procedure, the Supervisory Board must be 
composed of at least three members. The Supervisory 
Board must comprise what it considers an adequate 
number of independent members. However, at least 
one member of the Supervisory Board must be inde-
pendent. Currently, the Supervisory Board has six 
members, of which five are independent.

The Supervisory Board has adopted the Supervisory 
Board’s Rules of Procedure. The Supervisory Board’s 
Rules of Procedure govern the procedures and re-
sponsibilities of the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory 



HomeToGo / Annual Report 2021

53 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Board holds at least one meeting per calendar quar-
ter. Additional meetings are convened if necessary. 
The Supervisory Board reviews the efficiency of its 
activities at least annually. The Supervisory Board is 
subject to the same rules regarding conflicts of inter-
est as the Management Board as described above.

The Supervisory Board’s Rules of Procedure also lay 
out procedures and responsibilities for the Compa-
ny’s committees. Currently, the Supervisory Board 
has one committee, the Audit Committee, whose 
procedures and responsibilities are governed by the 
Charter of the Audit Committee.

Composition of the Management Board 
and the Supervisory Board
Composition of the Management Board 

Pursuant to the Supervisory Board’s Rules of Proce-
dure, when appointing members of the Manage-
ment Board, the Supervisory Board also takes diver-
sity into account. The age limit for members of the 
Management Board is 69. With regard to succession, 
the Management Board and the Supervisory Board 
must ensure that there is a long-term succession 
planning of the Management Board.

The following table lists the current members of the Management Board: 

Name Nationality Age Position Start of Term Expected End of 
Term

Dr. Patrick Andrae German 40 years Co-founder, Chief Executive 
Officer 2021 2025

Wolfgang Heigl German 53 years Co-founder, Chief Strategy 
Officer 2021 2024

Valentin Gruber German 31 years Chief Operating Officer 2021 2025

Steffen Schneider German 50 years Chief Financial Officer 2021 2025

Until September 21, 2021, the Management Board of 
the Company (then called Lakestar SPAC I SE) consist-
ed of three members, Stefan Winners (as Chief Execu-
tive Officer and Chief Financial Officer), Inga Schwart-
ing (Chief Investment Officer) and Marc Siepmann), 
who was replaced by Luca Ellul (Chief Administrative 
Officer) on March 31, 2021.

Composition of the Supervisory Board 
Pursuant to the Supervisory Board’s Rules of Proce-
dure, each member of the Supervisory Board must 
have the required knowledge, abilities and expert ex-
perience to fulfill his or her duties properly. At least 
one member of the Supervisory Board must have 
knowledge in the field of accounting and auditing. 
Each member of the Supervisory Board must ensure 
that he or she has sufficient time to perform his or her 
mandate. The members of the Supervisory Board 
must take responsibility for undertaking any training 
of professional development measures necessary to 
fulfill their duties. The Company must adequately 
support them in this regard. 

In the Supervisory Board’s Rules of Procedure, the Su-
pervisory Board has specified the following goals for its 

composition and the following profile of skills and ex-
pertise for its members: 

	→ The Supervisory Board members taken together 
shall have the required knowledge, abilities and 
expert experience required to successfully com-
plete their tasks. 

	→ The Supervisory Board members in their entirety 
must be familiar with the sector in which the 
Company operates. 

	→ At least one member of the Supervisory Board 
shall not have any board position, consulting or 
representation duties with main suppliers, lenders 
or other business partners of the Company. 

	→ The Supervisory Board members must not exercise 
directorships or similar positions or advisory tasks 
for material competitors of the Company

	→ The age limit for members of the Supervisory 
Board is 69.

Pursuant to the Supervisory Board’s Rules of Proce-
dure, proposals by the Supervisory Board to the Com-
pany’s general meeting for its composition must aim 
at fulfilling the aforementioned overall profile of the 
required skills and expertise. 
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The following table shows the current members of the Supervisory Board:

Name Nationality Age Profession Start of 
Term

Expected 
End of Term

Functions in the 
Board

Christoph Schuh German 57 years Active investor 2021 2023

Chairman of the 
Supervisory Board, 

Member of the 
Audit Committee 

Dr. Dirk Altenbeck German 56 years Tax Consultant 2021 2023

Deputy Chairman 
of the Supervisory 
Board, Chairman 

of the Audit 
Committee 

Phillip Kloeckner German 41 years

Marketing and due 
diligence advisor, 
mentor and angel 

investor 

2021 2023 –

Martin Reiter Austrian 38 years Manager, 
entrepreneur 2021 2023 –

Susanne Sandler US-American 37 years Manager 2021 2023 –

Thilo Semmelbauer US-American 56 years Managing Director 2021 2023 Member of the 
Audit Committee 

Until September 21, 2021, the Supervisory Board of 
the Company (then called Lakestar SPAC I SE) con-
sisted of three members, Dr. Klaus Hommels (as 
Chairman), Dr. Dirk Altenbeck and Raymond Bär.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee oversees the accounting and 
financial reporting processes of the Company, the 
audits of the financial statements of the Company, 
internal control and choice of the Company’s inde-
pendent auditor (the “Independent Auditor”). The 
mode of operation as well as the duties and respon-
sibilities are set out in the Charter of the Audit Com-
mittee. The powers and responsibilities of the Audit 
Committee include (i) the discussion of the Compa-
ny’s earnings press releases as well as financial infor-
mation and earnings guidance provided to analysts 
and rating agencies with the Management Board 
and the Independent Auditor, (ii) the review and ap-
proval of all related-party transactions, (iii) the 
dis-cussion of certain correspondences and legal 
matters, (iv) requesting certain assurances from the 
Management Board, the Independent Auditor and 
the Company’s internal auditor with regard to for-
eign subsidiaries and foreign affiliated entities, (v) 
the discussion of risk assessment and risk manage-
ment with the Management Board, (vi) setting clear 
hiring policies for employees of former employers of 

the Company’s Independent Auditor, (vii) establish-
ing procedures for the receipt, retention and treat-
ment of complaints regarding accounting, internal 
accounting controls or auditing matters, and (viii) 
providing the Company with any report of the com-
mittee required to be included into the Company’s 
periodic reports and any legally required reports. 

The Audit Committee consists exclusively of mem-
bers of the Supervisory Board and must consist of at 
least three members. The Chairman of the Audit 
Committee must have specific knowledge and ex-
perience in applying accounting principles and in-
ternal control procedures. The majority of the Audit 
Committee must be independent of the Company. 
The Chairman of the Audit Committee must be des-
ignated by the Supervisory Board and must be inde-
pendent of the Company. Members of the Audit 
Committee as a whole shall be competent in the 
business sector of the Company. Neither the Chair-
man of the Supervisory Board nor former members 
of the Management Board, whose terms of office 
ended less than two years ago, must be appointed 
as Chairman of the Audit Committee. 

The current members of the Audit Committee are 
Dr. Dirk Altenbeck (as Chairman), Christoph Schuh 
and Thilo Semmelbauer. 
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2021 has been a good year for global capital equity 
markets. In this environment, the leading German 
stock market index DAX reached a new all-time high 
of 16,251.13 points in December amid solid cyclical 
recovery, and continued low real interest rates de-
spite supply-chain disruptions affecting multiple 
sectors (e.g. automotive industry due to lack of 
semiconductors, leisure and lifestyle industry due 
to lockdown restrictions in many countries around 
the globe). Whilst inflation rates have significantly 
increased in the second half of 2021 and are ex-
pected to last into 2022, longer-dated real yield 
rates (i.e. nominal bond prices minus inflation) con-
tinued to be anchored at very low levels, fueling 
positive market dynamics.

On September 22, 2021, HomeToGo SE started to 
trade its shares and warrants on the Frankfurt Stock 
Exchange under the ticker symbols “HTG” and 
“HTGW”, respectively.  Following the closing of the 
business combination between HomeToGo GmbH 
and Lakestar SPAC I SE on September 21, 2021 we 
became the first European Technology-focused 
SPAC (Special Purpose Acquisition Company).

The business combination and the associated PIPE 
financing generated gross proceeds of around EUR 
250 million for us, which we are investing into 
growth initiatives that will expand our service offer-
ing and into inorganic growth. This will strengthen 
our position in the alternative accommodation eco-
system, in particular by providing new and innova-
tive technology solutions for our business and sup-
ply partners.

Stock market development in 2021 

The stock market year 2021 was again characterized 
by uncertainties. In 2021, the DAX initially rushed 
from record to record starting in January. And it did 
so despite supply bottlenecks, global political conflicts, 
inflation fears and a pandemic. Only the emergence of 
the Omicron Covid-19 variant halted the DAX’s soaring 
performance at the end of November: within a few 
days, the DAX lost around 1,000 points before prices 
recovered toward the end of the year. Despite a turbu-
lent year on the financial markets, it was successful 
from an investor’s point of view: the DAX, which had 
grown in size (from 30 to 40 companies), ended the 
year trading at 15,885 points, or up around 16%.

It should be noted that not all sectors benefited from 
this positive development. Travel and tourism com-
panies, for example, were particularly hit hard by 
developments in the pandemic.

Development of the HomeToGo share

Given the dynamic development of the stock market 
and despite HomeToGo’s demonstrated resilience of 
its business model with record year-on-year growth, 
HomeToGo’s share price underperformed, with -41% 
at the end of 2021 compared to the issue price. 

The share initially opened at a price of EUR 8.85 on 
September 22, 2021 and closed at a price of EUR 5.26 
on December 30, 2021. The share reached its highest 
price during the reporting period at EUR 9.51 on No-
vember 10, 2021, and its lowest price during the peri-
od was EUR 5.20 on December 21, 2021.

The average daily trading volume in the reporting 
period was 31,827 shares.

Share development: Growth 
potential in a volatile market 
environment
First Technology-focused SPAC in Europe, first SPAC 
on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange
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Source: Frankfurt Stock Exchange

ISIN LU2290523658 WKN A2GM3K

As of the balance sheet date December 31, 2021, the 
market capitalization of HomeToGo SE amounted to 
EUR 615 million based on 116.9 million shares out-
standing at a closing price of EUR 5.26.

HomeToGo has been covered by three banks during 
its first four months on the stock exchange. The 
company was covered by analysts from Deutsche 
Bank, Berenberg Bank and Baader Bank. 

Analysts Recommendation Target Price

Baader Bank
(Volker Bosse) Buy 10.50 EUR

(since Nov. 25, 2021)

Berenberg Bank
(Wolfgang 
Specht)

Buy 12.00 EUR
(since Nov. 29, 2021)

Deutsche Bank
(Silvia Cuneo) Buy 11.50 EUR

(since Nov. 23, 2021)

HomeToGo strives to maintain and strengthen the 
trust of all capital market participants through close, 
regular and open dialogue. We do so by engaging 
with institutional investors in numerous one-on-one 
meetings, calls, roadshows and conferences around 
the globe. 
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As such, we participated in a number of events and 
hosted our inaugural Analyst Day on October 14, 2021. 
An overview of previous and planned activities can 
be found in the financial calendar on our Investor 
Relations Website:

Date Event

Sep. 22, 2021 Baader Investment 
Conference

Oct. 14, 2021 Analyst Day

Nov. 17 – Nov. 18, 2021 Morgan Stanley European 
TMT Conference

Nov. 24, 2021
Deutsche Börse AG: 
Deutsches Eigen-
kapitalforum 2021

Nov. 29 – Dec. 2, 2021 Credit Suisse 25th Annual 
Technology Conference

Dec. 6 – Dec. 8, 2021 UBS Global TMT Virtual 
Conference

Dec. 9, 2021 Berenberg European 
Conference

Shareholder Structure1

1 As of October 14, 2021
2 Incl. ANXA Holding PTE and Lakestar II

17.9% 
HTG Insight IX S.a.r.l.

8.9% 
DN Capital 
(UK) LLP

8.6% 
Acton GmbH & 
Co. Heureka II KG

30.6%
Others

8.1%
Treasury 

Shares

4.2%
TruVenturo 

GmbH

7.0%
Management 
Board

14.7% 
Klaus 
Hommels2

Basic Information

First Day of Trading September 22, 2021

Issuer HomeToGo SE

Listing Venue Frankfurt Stock Exchange

Market Segment
Regulated Market (General 
Standard) of Frankfurt Stock 
Exchange

Public Share ISIN LU2290523658

Public Share WKN A2QM3K

Public Share Ticker Symbol HTG

Total number of shares 
outstanding as of 
September 22, 2021

116,868,948 (112,285,615 Class 
A Shares and 4,583,333 Class 
B Shares)

Total number of shares 
issued as of September 
22, 2021

127.138.982 (122.555.649 Class 
A Shares und 4.583.333 Class 
B Shares)

Share Capital as of 
September 22, 2021 EUR 2,441,068.45

Type of Shares
Class A Shares (Public Shares) 
and Class B Shares (Founder 
Shares)

Public Warrants ISIN LU2290524383

Public Warrants WKN A3GPQR

Public Warrants Ticker 
Symbol HTGW

Paying Agent: Banque Internationale à 
Luxembourg S.A.

Basic information on the HomeToGo SE share
Shareholder structure

https://ir.hometogo.de/websites/hometogo/English/3000/financial-calendar.html
https://ir.hometogo.de/websites/hometogo/English/3000/financial-calendar.html
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HomeToGo SE (formerly Lakestar 
SPAC I SE), Luxembourg
Combined Management Report for Financial Year 2021

1. Background to the Group
1.1. General
HomeToGo SE, Luxembourg is a public European 
company (Société Européenne) that is listed on the 
Frankfurt Stock Exchange, having its registered of-
fice at 9, rue de Bitbourg, L-1273 Luxembourg, Lux-
embourg, and registered with the Luxembourg 
Trade and Companies Register (Registre de Com-
merce et des Sociétés de Luxembourg) under num-
ber B249273.

This management report comprises both the group 
management report and the management report of 
HomeToGo SE. Herein, we report on the business 
performance as well as the situation and expected 
development of HomeToGo Group (hereafter also 
referred to as “HTG”, “Group” or “HTG Group”) and 
HomeToGo SE (hereafter also referred to as “HTG 
SE” or “the  Company”).

1.2. Business Model

The HTG Group operates an international market-
place for vacation rentals, which connects millions of 
users in their search for a place to stay with thou-
sands of inventory suppliers across the globe, result-
ing in the world’s most comprehensive inventory 
coverage in the alternative accommodation space. 
At the time of the report, the portfolio of HTG com-
prises more than 15 million aggregated accommoda-
tion offers provided by over 31,000 online travel 
agencies, tour operators, property managers and 
other inventory suppliers (“Partners”) worldwide.

HTG operates its business through local websites and 
apps in 24 countries. The international market appear-
ance is carried out through various brands, mainly 
HomeToGo, Casamundo, Wimdu, Tripping, Agrituris-
mo.it, CaseVacanza.it, Smoobu and Escapada Rural. 

The marketplace integrates a vast inventory in one 
simple search and enables users to book accommo-
dations from diverse partners, either on the part-
ners’ external websites or directly on the HTG plat-
form. Since March 2021, we offer our new software 
as a service (“SaaS“) product for semi-professional 
agencies and homeowners, which enables them to 
centrally control their listings and coordinate their 
actions across multiple platforms, we also effectively 
improve the quality and synchronization of the exist-
ing inventory for our Partners, in particular online 
travel agencies (“OTAs“), and grant them access to 
additional new inventory that otherwise would not 
be (easily) available to them. 

As an internet marketplace, HTG sees itself as an en-
try opportunity in the search for a vacation rental. 
With our on-site solution, there is an option to direct-
ly book with the connected partners via HTG. The 
use of the platform is thereby free of charge for us-
ers. Instead, HTG receives a commission from the 
connected booking partner for every successful me-
diation of a booking or for the generation of a query, 
respectively.

1.3. Group Structure

On July 14, 2021, Lakestar SPAC I SE (hereafter also re-
ferred to as “Lakestar SPAC”) and HomeToGo GmbH 
(hereafter also referred to as “HTG GmbH”) that was 
the former parent company of HTG Group, entered 
into a business combination agreement (in the fol-
lowing referred to as “the Transaction”) by way of 
contribution of all shares in HTG GmbH into Lakestar 
SPAC in exchange for the issuance of new public 
shares. The business combination was completed 
on September 21, 2021 and resulted after changing 
the name of Lakestar SPAC I SE in the new combined 
entity HomeToGo SE. The former parent company of 
HTG Group, HTG GmbH, was deemed to be both 
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the accounting acquirer and the predecessor entity 
in the subsequent fillings of the combined compa-
ny. Therefore, HTG Group presents as comparative 
information, the financial information of  former 
HTG GmbH Group as of December 31, 2020. See 
section 6 - Business Combinations and other acqui-
sitions of the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements for further details on the business com-
bination.

HTG Group is managed by its ultimate parent com-
pany HTG SE and is operated under one segment. 
The Group comprises the parent entity, HTG SE, 
domiciled in Luxembourg, and its subsidiaries in 
Germany, Italy, Spain, Lithuania and the US. As of 
December 31, 2021, HTG SE had direct or indirect 
shareholdings in 15 companies, which belong to the 
Group and from which 13 are fully consolidated.

Subsidiaries and 
Investments Location Share in 

capital

HomeToGo GmbH Berlin, 
Germany 100%

LS I Advisors 
Verwaltungs-GmbH

Munich, 
Germany 100%

LS I Advisors GmbH & 
Co. KG

Munich, 
Germany 100%

Casamundo GmbH Berlin, 
Germany 100%

UAB HomeToGo 
Technologies

Kaunas, 
Lithuania 100%

UAB HomeToGo 
Technologies Vilnius

Vilnius, 
Lithuania 100%

Mertus 288. GmbH Berlin, 
Germany 100%

HS Holiday Search GmbH Berlin, 
Germany 100%

Feries S.r.l. Milan, Italy 100%

Escapada Rural S.L. Barcelona, 
Spain 100%

HOMETOGO 
INTERNATIONAL, INC.

Wilmington, 
Delaware, USA 100%

Smoobu GmbH Berlin, 
Germany 100%

Mapify UG 
(haftungsbeschränkt)

Kassel, 
Germany 100%

SECRA GmbH Sierksdorf, 
Germany 19%

SECRA Bookings GmbH Sierksdorf, 
Germany 19%

1.4. Management System

The governing bodies of the Group are the Manage-
ment Board, the Supervisory Board and the Share-
holders’ Meeting of HomeToGo SE. Detailed informa-
tion on the composition of Management and 
Supervisory Board can be found on the Investor Rela-
tions website of the company. 

The Management Board monitors and controls the 
Group’s development through a comprehensive report-
ing system. The Management Board reporting informs 
in detail on current developments in the operating busi-
ness in the form of absolute and relative key figures.

The Supervisory Board receives a monthly report in-
cluding an income statement that provides a compre-
hensive picture of HTG Group’s economic position. 
Significant items and their changes are explained and 
discussed in detail in regular meetings between the 
management and the Supervisory Board.

HTG’s most important financial key performance indi-
cators (KPIs) for the Management of the group are 
revenues and Adjusted EBITDA (non-GAAP). Besides 
revenues Management Board uses Adjusted EBITDA 
because we believe that it provides useful informa-
tion to investors and others in understanding and 
evaluating our results of operations, as well as pro-
vides a useful measure for period-to-period compari-
sons of our business performance. It is a key measure 
used by Management internally to make operating 
decisions, including those related to analyzing oper-
ating expenses, evaluating performance, and per-
forming strategic planning and annual budgeting. 
Both metrics are outlined in the following table:

Revenues

Revenues according to IFRS accounting 
policies. CPA revenues are recognized 
on check-in date. CPC + CPL revenues 
are recognized on booking or click date. 
Revenues from Subscriptions & 
Services are recognized over time or 
when services are provided.

Adjusted EBITDA*

Net income (loss) before (i) income 
taxes; (ii) finance income, finance 
expenses; (iii) depreciation and 
amortization; adjusted for (iv) expenses 
for share-based compensation and (v) 
one-off items. One-off items relate to 
one-time and therefore non-recurring 
expenses and income outside the 
normal course of business.

* unaudited

https://ir.hometogo.de/websites/hometogo/English/5000/corporate-governance.html
https://ir.hometogo.de/websites/hometogo/English/5000/corporate-governance.html
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In addition to the above, HTG also uses a range of fur-
ther non-GAAP KPIs to manage its business. The Man-
agement Board uses them to measure operating per-
formance and as a basis for strategic planning, and 
because the Management Board believes that such 
non-GAAP KPIs will be used by investors and analysts 
to assess the performance of HTG. These further non-
GAAP KPIs are described in the following table:

Gross Booking 
Value (GBV)*

GBV is the gross EUR value of bookings 
on our platform in a reporting period 
(including all components of the 
booking amount except for VAT). GBV 
is recorded at the time of booking and 
is not adjusted for cancellations or any 
other alterations after booking. For CPA 
transactions, GBV includes the booking 
volume as reported by the Partner. For 
CPC, GBV is estimated by multiplying 
the total click value with the expected 
conversion rate. The total click value is 
the duration of the search multiplied 
with the price per night of the clicked 
offer. This total click value is multiplied 
with the average conversion rate of 
that micro conversion source for CPA 
Partners in the respective month.

Bookings*
Bookings represent the number of 
bookings generated by users of the 
HomeToGo platforms.

CPA Basket Size*
CPA Basket Size defined as CPA Gross 
Booking Value per booking, before 
cancellations.

Take Rate*

Take Rate is the margin realized on the 
gross booking amount and defined as 
Booking Revenues divided by Gross 
Booking Value (excl. revenues from 
Hotels and Subscriptions & Services).

Booking 
Revenues*

Booking Revenues is a non-GAAP 
operating metric to measure perfor-
mance that is defined as the net Euro 
value before cancellations generated 
by transactions on the HTG platforms 
in a reporting period (CPA, CPC, CPL, 
etc.). Booking Revenues does not 
correspond to, and should not be 
considered as alternative or substitute 
for Revenue recognized in accordance 
with IFRS.

* unaudited

1.5. Research & Development

As a technology company, HTG undertakes develop-
ment in view of optimizing the search intelligence 
and develops self-used IT modules. The technical 
platform, on the basis of which the Group’s websites 

and apps are operated, is an important differentiat-
ing factor compared to competitors, being continu-
ously further developed in line with the require-
ments of the market and the expectations of the 
users. In-house and external experts engage with 
the continuous development of the platform. Our 
R&D work aims at achieving innovations that support 
a more convenient booking experience for our cus-
tomers. Furthermore, we aim at ensuring our market 
leadership as the largest vacation home search ma-
chine in the world. In this regard, the Lithuanian sub-
sidiaries, UAB HomeToGo Technologies and UAB 
HomeToGo Technologies Vilnius, which perform 
most of the development services for the HTG 
Group, play a major role.

Over the past year, HTG continued to enhance its 
platform while the data warehouse technologies 
have also been upgraded to further increase self-ser-
vice capabilities, speed, reliability, and observability 
of the data platform. HTG also consolidated technol-
ogies within the Group, enabling more of the brands 
to take advantage of the platform.

The Group’s direct R&D expenses in 2021 amounted 
to EUR 8,163 thousand (2020: EUR 6,002 thousand), 
resulting in a R&D rate of 9% in relation to HTG’s rev-
enues (2020: 9%). The capitalization ratio amounts to 
19% (2020: 23%) and amortization allocatable to cap-
italized R&D expenses amounted to EUR 542 thou-
sand (2020: EUR 285 thousand). HomeToGo SE as an 
individual entity and pure financial holding does not 
conduct any operations related to research and de-
velopment.

2. Report on Economic
Position
2.1. Macroeconomic and 
Sector-specific Environment

The market for alternative vacation rentals was still 
highly impacted by the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic 
in the financial year 2021, though to a lesser extent 
than the previous year following a gradual relief of 
travel restrictions in Europe, North America and oth-
er parts of the world in spring. The overall develop-
ment remained dynamic with the appearance of 
different Covid-19 variants that created multiple in-
fection waves over the year. As measured by an in-
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crease of 5.9% of the global price-adjusted gross 
domestic product (GDP)1, economic development 
resurged in 2021 after a running into a recession in 
the previous year.

While global Covid-19 vaccine adoption against new 
cases trended in the right direction, there were still 
large waves of new cases. However, because hospi-
tal resources are less constrained in North America 
and the EU, these countries are moving forward cau-
tiously with easing travel restrictions. The Omicron 
variant introduced new uncertainty, though the 

1	 As of 2021. Source: Statista

world appeared to be transitioning to a mindset of 
living with the pandemic.

The pandemic has changed travel patterns for much 
of 2020 and 2021, shifting when and how people 
book and travel. Large shifts out of urban centers 
towards traditional vacation destinations. People are 
taking longer trips. The shift to more remote work 
during the pandemic also allowed people to travel 
more and stay longer. One result of this has also 
been a faster recovery among short term rentals 
than hotels.

https://de.statista.com/statistik/daten/studie/197039/umfrage/veraenderung-des-weltweiten-bruttoinlandsprodukts/ 

Source: UBS Evidence Lab

https://www.statista.com/statistics/1102546/coronavirus-european-gdp-growth/
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Still, the online travel business and the business with 
alternative vacation rentals remains a growing mar-
ket despite the ongoing pandemic. The entire ad-
dressable market is estimated to amount to more 
than EUR 1 trillion, being expected to reach more 
than EUR 1.7 trillion within the next decade.2

2.2. Business Development

HTG KPIs Overview 2021 2020 2021 
vs. 2020

Gross Booking 
Value (EUR 
thousands)*

1,437,515 1,252,675  15%

Bookings (#)* 929,419 890,944  4%

CPA Onsite* 492,281 269,049  83%

CPA Offsite* 437,138 621,895  (30)%

CPA Basket Size 
(EUR)* 1,252 1,002  25%

Take Rate*  8.4%  6.4%  31%

Booking Revenues 
(EUR thousands)* 123,555 81,946  51%

CPA Onsite* 50,168 23,269  116%

CPA Offsite* 44,350 41,614  7%

CPC + CPL* 20,249 10,712  89%

Subscriptions & 
Services* 8,788 6,352  38%

Booking Revenues 
onsite share*  44%  31%  42%

Cancellations 
(EUR thousands)*  (24,797)  (18,917)  31%

Cancellation Rate*  20%  23%  (13)% 

IFRS Revenues 
(EUR thousands) 94,839 65,855  44%

CPA Onsite 31,523 14,382  119%

CPA Offsite 34,127 34,313  (1)%

CPC + CPL 20,401 10,808  89%

Subscriptions 
& Services 8,788 6,352  38%

Adj. EBITDA (EUR 
thousands)* (23,768) (2,421)  882%

One-off items* 2,698 (341)  (891)%

Adj. EBITDA excl. 
one-off items* (21,070) (2,762) 663%

2	 Deutsche Bank Research, Airbnb – The air bed looks fully inflated, January 4, 2021, Exane BNP Paribas, Airbnb – Floating On Air, January 4, 2021

HTG KPIs Overview 2021 2020 2021 
vs. 2020

Cash & cash 
equivalents + other 
highly liquid short- 
term financial assets 
(EUR thousands)

252,910 36,237 598%

Equity (EUR 
thousands) 300,687 22,865 1,215%

Equity ratio  82%  22%  273%

Employees 
(end of period) 417 302  38%

* unaudited

Although the global activity within the market for 
tourism and vacations in 2021 was remarkably de-
creased due to the ongoing pandemic HTG was 
able to close a successful business year and achieved 
a strong growth. The Group’s revenue grew strongly 
by +44% to EUR 94,839 thousand in 2021. Booking 
Revenues increased by 51% to EUR 123,555 thousand 
with an overall growing share of onsite bookings 
made directly on our platforms increasing to 44% 
from 31% in the previous year.

Additionally, while we recorded approx. 321 million 
website visits in 2020, our 2021 increase to approx. 
375 million stands for HomeToGo’s brand awareness 
that has gradually increased, in particular over the 
last two years. At the time of the report, HTG man-
aged to increase the number of partners to more 
than 31,000 (vs. 30,000 in 2020) contributing to an 
inventory of more than 15 million offers (vs. 14 million 
in 2020) on the Group’s platforms.

With the acquisition of the Berlin based all-in-one va-
cation rental management software provider Smoo-
bu GmbH, Berlin (“Smoobu”) in March 2021 as well as 
our investment in SECRA GmbH, Sierksdorf and SE-
CRA Bookings GmbH, Sierksdorf SECRA Booking 
GmbH, Sierksdorf, we are enhancing our SaaS strate-
gy and provide further technology solutions to the 
supply-side of our business operations.

2.3. Results of Operations, Financial 
Position and Net Assets
The statements made on the net assets, financial po-
sition and results of operations of the HTG Group are 
based on the values and comparative figures of the 

Table continues → 
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consolidated financial statements for the financial 
year 2021, which have been prepared in accordance 
with the International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as adopted by the EU. More detailed explana-
tions on the accounting and valuation methods ap-
plied can be found in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements 2021. 

a) Results of operations
Compared to the previous fiscal year, the Group’s 
operating result has developed as shown in the fol-
lowing table:

Shortened Statements of Profit or Loss 

(in EUR 
thousands) 2021 2020 change

Revenues  94,839  65,855  44%

Cost of revenues  (4,336)  (2,792)  55%

Gross profit  90,503  63,063  44%

Product development 
and operations  (23,726)  (15,275)  55%

Marketing and sales  (95,495)  (52,235)  83%

General and 
administrative  (112,751)  (13,092)  761%

thereof: Non-cash 
listing service 
expense (de-SPAC 
Charge)

 (70,437)  –  n/a

Other expenses  (626)  (735)  (15)%

Other income  11,639  1,058  1,000%

Profit (loss) 
from operations (130,456)  (17,216)  (658)%

The following sections outline the development of 
individual income and expense items:

Breakdown of revenues by activity areas

(in EUR thousands) 2021 2020

CPA 65,650  48,695 

thereof:

CPA Onsite  31,523  14,382 

CPA Offsite  34,127  34,313 

CPC and CPL  20,401  10,808 

Subscriptions & Services  8,788  6,352 

Total  94,839  65,855 

In the financial year 2021, the Group’s total revenues 
increased by more than EUR 28,984 thousand to 

EUR 94,839 thousand. While revenues from Sub-
scription & Services are continuously growing, still, 
the major portion of the revenues was generated 
from CPA (“Cost per Action”), CPC (“Cost per Click”) 
and CPL (“Cost per Lead”) transactions.  Overall, the 
growth in revenues is partly reflected by the resur-
gence in the travel industry in 2021. In addition, the 
increase is on the back of solid increase of 83% in 
onsite transactions and take rate and increased 
brand awareness. Increased revenues in Subscrip-
tions & Services are mainly explained by the acquisi-
tion of the SaaS company Smoobu. 

Breakdown of expenses by functional areas

(in EUR thousands) 2021 2020

Cost of revenues  4,336  2,792 

Product development and 
operations  23,726  15,275 

Marketing and sales  95,495  52,235 

General and administrative  112,751  13,092 

Other expenses  626  735 

Total  236,934  84,129 

The Group’s 2021 costs are primarily driven by ex-
penses for performance-marketing within our mar-
keting and sales function and share-based com-
pensation expenses that strongly impacted 
especially the general and administrative function. 
The reconciliation to adjusted EBITDA below pro-
vides a general overview of the impact of share-
based compensation on the different cost func-
tions.

Cost of revenues increased by EUR 1,544 thousand 
or 55% from EUR 2,792 thousand in 2020 to EUR 
4,336 thousand in 2021 due to higher expenses for 
hosting and higher amortization of self-developed 
software, partly also arising from the additional 
amortization of the fair value step-up from the ac-
quisition of Smoobu.

The increase in expenses for product development 
and operations by 55% to EUR 23,726 thousand in 
2021 (2020: EUR 15,275 thousand) mainly results from 
higher expenses for share-based compensation 
(2021: EUR 8,260 thousand, 2020: EUR 3,170 thou-
sand). Furthermore, our Product, Data and Engineer 
workforce has grown by 57% compared to the previ-
ous fiscal year leading to personnel-related expenes 
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of EUR 9,435 thousand in 2021 compared to EUR 6,747 
thousand in 2020.

Marketing and sales expenses grew by 83% from EUR 
52,235 thousand in 2020 to EUR 95,495 thousand in 
2021. The majority of the increase was driven by EUR 
40,656 thousand or 100% higher expenses for perfor-
mance-marketing compared to prior year as spend 
was increased across all markets. In addition, there 
was stronger competition compared to prior year 
leading to higher bids and therefore higher expense. 
Besides, additional expenses incurred as HTG specifi-
cally targeted travelers to download the HTG app. 
This investment supported the strong growth in CPA 
onsite revenues.

The increase in general and administrative expenses 
(2021: EUR 112,751 thousand, 2020: EUR 13,092 thousand) 
mainly results from share-based compensation (2021: 
EUR 88,038 thousand, 2020: EUR 3,395 thousand). The 
vast majority of this share-based compensation relates 
to the listing service expense of EUR 70,437 thousand 
which was recognized as part of the business combina-
tion  that was treated as reverse acquisition account-
ing-wise. This one-time non-cash expense reflects the 
excess of the fair value of shares issued by HomeToGo 
GmbH over the fair value of Lakestar SPAC I SE identifia-
ble net assets acquired. Please refer to section 6 - Busi-
ness Combinations and other acquisitions of the notes 
to the consolidated financial statements for further de-
tails. Additionally, general and administrative expenses 
have increased due to higher consulting expenses 
(2021: EUR 13,079 thousand, 2020: EUR 1,643 thousand) 
and expenses for service agreements with third parties 
(2021: EUR 1,829 thousand, 2020: EUR 1,155 thousand), 
both incurred in connection with the business combina-
tion. Personnel-related expenses in general and admin-
istrative increased year-on-year to EUR 6,803 thousand 
(2020: EUR 4,613 thousand), with the number of staff 
having increased.

Other income increased due to government grant re-
lated income in 2021 of EUR 9.3 million (2020: EUR 0.4 
million). EUR 8.6 million relate to income from a grant 
that is part of the Covid-19 aids by the German State.

In 2021, the Group incurred a consolidated net loss in 
the amount of EUR (166,789) thousand compared to 
the 2020 result of EUR (23,806) thousand. The de-
crease compared to the previous period is strongly re-
lated to the aforementioned listing service expenses 

and non-recurring consulting expenses that was in-
curred as part of the business combination and shown 
in general and administrative.

In order to assess the operating performance of the 
business, HTG’s management also considers adjusted 
EBITDA. HTG recorded an adjusted EBITDA excluding 
expenses for share-based compensation and one-off 
items of EUR (21,070) thousand in 2021 compared to 
EUR (2,762) thousand in 2020. The decrease is mainly 
due to the higher marketing and sales expenses. Over-
all, the development of the Group’s result of operations 
are assessed favorable given the ongoing pandem-
ic-related pressure on the travel industry. The deriva-
tion of the Group’s adjusted EBITDA excluding one-off 
items is shown in the following table:

Adjusted EBITDA reconciliation 
(in EUR thousands) 2021 2020

Profit (loss) from operations (130,456) (17,216)

Depreciation and amortization 4,691 3,607

Share-based payment expenses 101,997   11,188

thereof:

Listing service expense (Sponsor 
as well as public shares and 
warrants from de-SPAC)

70,437 –

HTG Virtual Stock Option 
Program 31,560 11,188

thereof recognized in:

Product development and 
operations  8,260  3,170

Marketing and sales  5,700  4,623

General and administrative  17,601   3,395

Adjusted EBITDA*  (23,768)  (2,421)

One-off items*  2,698  (341)

thereof:

Business Combination*  12,801 –

Mergers and Acquisitions*  533  12

Covid-19 related Restructuring*  –  63

Other*  438 –

Income from Government Grants*  (9,256)  (416)

Capitalized transaction costs 
under IFRS  (1,818) –

Adjusted EBITDA excl. one-off 
items*  (21,070)  (2,762)

* unaudited
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b) Financial position
The following table provides an overview of the 
Group’s financial development:

(in EUR thousands) 2021 2020

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the year  36,237  10,972 

Cash flow from operating activities  (83,256)  (11,309) 

Cash flow from investing activities  (118,343)  (4,649) 

Cash flow from financing activities  317,093  41,449 

Foreign currency effects  1,213  (226) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
end of the year  152,944  36,237 

As of December 31, 2021, the Group has cash and 
cash equivalents in the amount of EUR 152,944 thou-
sand (2020: EUR 36,237 thousand). The financial de-
velopment of the Group was primarily driven by the 
de-SPAC transaction.

The decrease in cash inflow from operating activities 
is due to the cash settlement to beneficiaries of the 
HomeToGo Virtual Stock Option Program (“VSOP”) in 
the amount of EUR 42,111 thousand. 

The increase in cash outflow from investing activities 
from EUR (4,649) thousand in 2020 to EUR (118,343) 
thousand in 2021 results mainly from the investment 

of EUR 100,000 thousand in a money market fund to 
minimize the impact of negative interest rates on reg-
ular bank accounts. Furthermore, the increase is ex-
plained by the acquisition of Smoobu, reflected in 
payment for acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash ac-
quired in the amount of EUR (16,385) thousand.

The increase in cash inflow from financing activities 
is mainly due to the collected proceeds of more than 
EUR 171,489 thousand resulting from the cash in Lak-
estar SPAC I SE and from additional subscription 
agreements with investors in a private investment in 
public equity (“PIPE”) transaction in the aggregate 
amount of EUR 75,000 thousand. Furthermore,  ad-
ditional convertible loans with a combined principal 
amount of EUR 66,206 thousand have been issued in 
March and April 2021. Together with the other out-
standing convertible loans these were already fully 
converted to equity prior to the de-SPAC transaction 
resulting in an increase in equity of EUR 146,277 
thousand. Besides, the Group had also drawn down 
a bank loan of EUR 10,000 thousand in February 2021 
that was already granted as of August 2020 for work-
ing capital financing.

In addition to the financing from convertible loans in 
the past HTG also uses external financing in the form 
of regular bank loans. The following table provides 
an overview on the outstanding loans within the 
Group as of December 31, 2021:

Debtor
Loan Amount

(in EUR 
thousands)

Payout date Maturity Nominal interest 
rate

Carrying amount
(in EUR 

thousands)

HomeToGo GmbH  6,000 February 2020 December 2023  4.35%  3,000 

HomeToGo GmbH  10,000 February 2021 September 2025  2.12%  8,414 

Feries S.r.l.  400 August 2020 August 2025  1.50%  376 

Escapada Rural S.L.  500 May 2020 June 2023  2.50%  337 

Escapada Rural S.L.  300 May 2020 June 2025  1.55%  252 

The HTG Group’s financial position can be stated as pos-
itive, especially against the backdrop of the successful 
business combination with Lakestar SPAC I SE. The 

Group has been able to meet its payment obligations at 
any time. Liquidity shortages have neither occurred nor 
are such shortages foreseeable for the future.
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c) Net Assets

(in EUR thousands) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 change

Non-current assets 85,962 24% 60,984 58% +24,978 +41%

Current assets 279,321 76% 43,819 42% +235,502 + >100 %

Total assets 365,284 100% 104,803 100% +260,481 + >100 %

Equity 300,687 82% 22,865 22% +277,822 + >100 %

Non-current liabilities 28,499 8% 66,745 64% (38,246) (57)%

Current liabilities 36,098 10% 15,193 14% +20,905 + >100 %

Total equity and liabilities 365,284 100% 104,803 100% +260,481 + >100 %

As of the balance sheet date, the balance sheet total 
of the Group amounts to EUR 365,284 thousand 
(2020: EUR 104,803 thousand), with EUR 85,962 thou-
sand (2020: EUR 60,984 thousand) accounting for 
non-current assets and EUR 279,321 thousand  (2020: 
EUR 43,819 thousand) accounting for current assets.

The main non-current assets are composed of intan-
gible assets in the amount of EUR 61,360 thousand 
(2020: EUR 41,570 thousand) and property, plant and 
equipment in the amount of EUR 15,202 thousand 
(2020: EUR 16,413 thousand). The increase in intangi-
ble assets mainly results from the acquisition of 
Smoobu, resulting in the recognition of additional 
goodwill in the amount of EUR 14,664 thousand and 
trademarks, customer relationships and software in 
the amount of EUR 6,605 thousand. Property, plant 
and equipment slightly decreased due to deprecia-
tion that was not fully compensated by replacement 
investments. Moreover, the Group has purchased 19% 
shares each in SECRA GmbH and SECRA Bookings 
GmbH. Both investments are accounted for at fair val-
ue through profit and loss amounting together to EUR 
3,597 thousand as of December 31, 2021.

Current assets mainly relate to trade receivables in-
cluding other receivables (2021: EUR 18,992 thousand, 
2020: EUR 5,647 thousand) and cash and cash equiv-
alents (2021: EUR 152,944 , 2020: EUR 36,237 thou-
sand). The increase in trade receivables corresponds 
to the increased revenues. Furthermore, current oth-
er financial assets have increased to EUR 101,960 thou-
sand as of December 31, 2021 from EUR 549 thousand 
as of the prior year due to an investment in short-term 
money market funds of spare cash resulting from the 
business combination to avoid negative interest. Cur-
rent other receivables increased from EUR 505 thou-

sand as of December 31, 2020 to EUR 9,237 thousand 
as of December 31, 2021 due to the government grant 
that was applied and  received as part of the Covid-19 
aids from the German state. 

As of December 31, 2021, the Group’s equity amounts 
to EUR 300,687 thousand (2020: EUR 22,865 thou-
sand). Accordingly, the equity ratio amounts to 82% 
(2020: 22%) and is above the target equity ratio of 
50%. The increase in the equity ratio compared to the 
prior year mainly results from the proceeds from 
shares issued as part of the business combination 
and the conversion of convertible loans to equity.

Non-current liabilities decreased to EUR 28,499 thou-
sand as of December 31, 2021 compared to EUR 66,745 
thousand in the prior year mainly due to the conver-
sion of convertible loans to equity in September 2021 
prior to the business combination. 

Current liabilities amounted to EUR 36,098 thousand as 
of December 31, 2021 compared to EUR 15,193 thou-
sand as of the prior year. The increase is explained by 
outstanding trade payables related to transaction fees 
incurred as part of the business combination. Further-
more, current liabilities as of December 31, 2021 contain 
the holdback amount of EUR 5,000 thousand for the 
acquisition of Smoobu that is due in 2022 as well as a 
customer with a credit balance EUR 2,564 thousand 
resulting from double-payment. 

d) Overall statement
The Management Board views the overall business 
development of HTG as positive, specifically consid-
ering the negative impact of the Covid-19 pandemic. 
Overall, the net assets and financial position has been 
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strongly improved by the business combination with 
Lakestar SPAC I SE.

GBV and take rate have developed in line with the 
expectations while the development in booking rev-
enues and revenues has exceeded the expectations 
by the Management Board due to a strong fourth 
quarter. The negative adjusted EBITDA was expect-
ed due to the increased expenses for perfor-
mance-marketing as well as the additional expenses 
as a result of being public. 

2.4. Employees

In 2021 the Group had employed on average 372 
employees (2020: 269), representing an increase of 
38% compared to the prior year. The overall increase 
is explained by the Group’s expansion of business 
activities. The strongest increase was recorded in 
the Product, Data and Engineer Teams (57% in 2021). 
In addition, the head count increased in connection 
with the acquisition of Smoobu.

3. Statutory Results of 
Operations and Financial 
Position of the Company
Until the Transaction, the Company’s sole purpose was 
the acquisition of an operating business with principal 
business operations in a member state of the European 
Economic Area or the United Kingdom or Switzerland 
that is based in the technology sector through a merger, 
capital stock exchange, share purchase, asset acquisi-
tion, reorganization or similar transaction. After the clos-
ing of the Transaction, the Company’s purpose is the 

creation, holding, development and realization of its in-
vestment in HTG GmbH.

Results of Operations
As pure financial holding the Company did not generate 
any revenues or income during the fiscal year 2021. The 
Company incurred expenses of EUR 17,740 thousand in 
2021 (2020: EUR 1,044 thousand) that led to a loss in the 
same amount in the respective period. The expenses in 
2021 mainly compose of underwriting fees (EUR 9,000 
thousand) for the initial public offering (“IPO”) in Febru-
ary, 2021 as well as for the admission of the newly issued 
shares as part of the de-SPAC transaction in September 
2021. The remaining expenses mainly incurred in rela-
tion to the preparation of de-SPAC process as well as 
from consulting, accounting and auditing.

Financial Position
As of December 31, 2021, the Company had cash and 
cash equivalents of EUR 2,906 thousand compared to 
EUR 738 thousand in the previous year. During the fiscal 
year 2021, the Company had raised EUR 275,000  thou-
sand of equity funds as part of an IPO and from addi-
tional subscription agreements with investors in a pri-
vate investment in public equity (“PIPE”) transaction in 
the aggregate amount of EUR 75,000 thousand. As part 
of the consumption of the Transaction, shares in the 
amount of EUR 102,692 thousand had been redeemed 
and are now held as treasury shares. After the Transac-
tion, redemptions in the amount of EUR 100,627 were 
paid out and the major part of the remaining funds have 
been transferred to HomeToGo GmbH by means of a 
capital contribution in the amount of EUR 237 million.

The Company was able to meet its payment obliga-
tions at all times. No liquidity shortfalls have occurred 
or are foreseeable in the future.

Net Assets

(in EUR thousands) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 change

Non-current assets 1,088,637 91% 31 4% +1,088,606 + >100 %

Current assets 106,295 9% 738 96% +105,557 + >100 %

Total assets 1,194,931 100% 768 100% +1,194,163 + >100 %

Equity 1,193,118 100% (924) (120)% +1,194,042 - < 100 %

Non-current liabilities – –% 1,500 195% (1,500) + >100 %

Current liabilities 1,813 –% 192 25% +1,621 + >100 %

Total equity and liabilities 1,194,931 100% 768 100% +1,194,163 + >100 %
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Non-current assets are composed of the Compa-
ny’s investments whereas the increase during the 
fiscal year is the result of the Transaction. The book 
value of the investment in HTG GmbH amounts to 
EUR 1,088,080 thousand as of December 31, 2021.

Current assets comprise 10,269,314 treasury shares in 
the amount of EUR 102,692 thousand (Decem-
ber 31, 2020: EUR 0) and cash and cash equivalents of 
EUR 2,906 thousand (December 31, 2020: EUR 738 thou-
sand).

4. Risk and Opportunity 
Report
4.1. Risk and Opportunity Management 
System

The Management Board of HTG SE assumes overall 
responsibility for the development and operation of 
an effective risk and opportunity management sys-
tem (RMS) for HTG. The CFO has implemented the 
RMS that consists of the following elements:

Risk and Opportunity Objectives
The objective of the RMS is to create the necessary 
transparency about risks and opportunities for deci-
sion makers, to foster the risk and opportunity cul-
ture, and to create a common understanding of risks 
and opportunities throughout the company.

Risk and Opportunity Identification and Monitoring
Using multiple instruments, such as workshops and 
self-assessments, the identification and assessment 
of risks and opportunities is carried out by both the 
risk and opportunity owners during day-to-day oper-
ations and the CFO on a quarterly basis.

Risk and Opportunity Assessment
All risks and opportunities identified are evaluated 
with regard to their probability of occurrence and 
their potential impact based on a one-year time ho-
rizon. The identified single risks and opportunities 
are finally aggregated. The probability of occur-
rence represents the possibility that a specific im-
pact for a risk or an opportunity may materialize 
within the next 3 to 60 months. The impact assess-
ment is conducted on a quantitative scale that re-
fers to the potential financial impact. The material 

risks and opportunities are described in the next 
section of this report.

Risk and Opportunity Control
Risk and opportunity owners are charged with de-
veloping and implementing effective risk mitigating 
and opportunity supporting measures within their 
responsibility area. Depending on the type, charac-
teristics, and assessment of the risks, different risk 
strategies are applied by the risk owners to reduce 
the risk, considering costs and effectiveness. Risk 
strategies can be risk avoidance, reduction, transfer 
to a third party, or acceptance.

Risk and Opportunity Management Improvements 
and Reporting
The respective risk owner reports on the overall risk 
and opportunity situation to the senior manage-
ment, the Management Board, and the Supervisory 
Board on a quarterly basis.

4.2. Illustration of Risks

As at the time of the publication of the combined 
management reports, governments, in particular in 
Europe, are further lifting measure such as social dis-
tancing, duty to wear face masks in public institu-
tions or contact restriction regimes previously aimed 
at containing the spread of Covid-19. Although these 
measures are being lifted, there still exists a risk that 
the pandemic will resurge e.g. in the form of other 
virus variants and due to limited efficacy of existing 
vaccines against those variants. We expect that 
complete normality with unrestricted traveling will 
only be possible again in the medium term. HTG will 
continue to flexibly respond at short notice to any 
new development, as the Group has already done 
since 2020 when the pandemic occurred. Overall, 
the risks associated with the Covid-19 pandemic are 
not classified as a threat to HTG’s continued exist-
ence as the business has now proven its resilience 
multiple times.

The main operational risks relate to the areas of IT and 
marketing. The business model of the HTG Group is 
strongly based on the functionality of the IT systems 
and therefore exposed to IT risks. Errors or malicious 
external interference may threaten business process-
es. For this reason, we use state-of-the-art server solu-
tions scalable by specialized third-party providers and 
recruit experts in order to ensure system integrity and 
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safety and reduce the IT risks to an acceptable level. 
Appropriate measures also comprise an authorization 
concept that regulates which employee has access to 
which internal data and services.

Another risk factor, in addition to the IT infrastruc-
ture, is the reachable efficiency and effectiveness of 
marketing expenses. There is a risk of increased user 
acquisition costs as competition with direct and indi-
rect competitors in online marketing channels is in-
tensifying. HTG counters this with investments in 
the brands of the HTG Group, which are, for exam-
ple, geared to the main brand, HomeToGo. For ex-
ample, through the evaluation of organic search re-
sults, targeted CRM campaigns are launched or TV 
and outdoor advertising is placed in order to in-
crease the efficiency of the marketing measures 
applied and to reduce the dependency on individual 
online marketing channels.

Our business depends on our partners maintaining 
their offers on our platform and engaging in practices 
that encourage users to book those offers. If partners 
do not establish or maintain a sufficient number of 
offers and availability for their properties, the number 
of nights booked declines for a particular period, or 
the price charged by partners declines, our revenue 
would decline and our business, results of operations, 
and financial condition would be materially adversely 
affected. While we plan to continue to invest in our 
partners and in tools to assist partners, these invest-
ments may not be successful in growing our partners 
and offers on our platform. In addition, partners may 
not establish or maintain offers if we cannot attract 
prospective users to our platform and generate book-
ings from a large number of users. While HTG has 
experienced only a limited number of contract termi-
nations by partners in the past, partners have from 
time to time taken their inventory temporarily off its 
websites, e.g., for technical reasons.

Since our key partners, in particular OTAs, typically 
operate their own platforms and/or also use the ser-
vices of other platforms, we face the risk that a key 
partner may decide to suspend or terminate its part-
nership with us. Such decisions can be based on 
factors that are beyond our control. For example, a 
key partner may decide to reduce spending on ser-
vices from us due to a challenging economic envi-
ronment or other factors, both internal and external, 
relating to its business. These factors, among others, 

may include corporate restructuring, pricing pres-
sure, changes to an outsourcing strategy, or switch-
ing to another platform. Furthermore, our reliance 
on certain key partners for a significant portion of 
our revenue may give these partners a certain de-
gree of pricing leverage against us when negotiating 
contracts and terms of service.

The loss of all or a portion of our business with, or 
the failure to retain a significant amount of business 
with, any of our key partners could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition 
and results of operations.

Due to the continuing loss situation, there is generally 
a medium-term liquidity risk. Furthermore, a default 
risk exists in respect of our partners’ receivables, 
which might also adversely affect liquidity. Given the 
size of our partners (partly listed companies), we re-
gard a default of large partners as unlikely. A slightly 
higher default risk arises from small and non-profes-
sionalized partners, which is treated through consist-
ent follow-up care. Overall, this refers to a minor vol-
ume and does not adversely affect HTG’s further 
existence. The Group has strong liquidity resources at 
its disposal following the business combination in 
September 2021 and an effective liquidity manage-
ment. In the financial year, based on its robust busi-
ness model, it has proven that it has been able to at-
tract new investors and procure fresh capital in the 
capital market even in times of a pandemic.

We offer our partners and users integrated pay-
ments in more than 28 currencies and a considera-
ble portion of our business is conducted in foreign 
currencies. Therefore, we are exposed to a certain 
currency risk. HTG counters this currency risk 
through natural hedging of the main foreign curren-
cies (primarily USD and GBP) by keeping bank ac-
counts in the corresponding foreign currency in or-
der to always be able to hold a stock of foreign 
currency in this way and not to be exposed to short-
term currency fluctuations.

We operate websites and apps through which we 
collect, maintain, transmit and store information 
about our users, Partners and others, including credit 
card or other financial information and personal infor-
mation, as well as other confidential and proprietary 
information, including information related to intellec-
tual property. We also employ third-party service pro-
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viders that store, process and transmit proprietary, 
personal and confidential information on our behalf. 
Furthermore, we rely on encryption and authentica-
tion technology licensed from third parties in an ef-
fort to securely transmit confidential and sensitive in-
formation, including credit card details. While we 
have a cyber-risk management in place and take ex-
tensive steps to protect the security, integrity and 
confidentiality of sensitive and confidential informa-
tion (e.g., password policies and firewalls), our securi-
ty practices may be insufficient and third parties may 
breach our systems (e.g., through Trojans, spyware, 
ransomware or other malware attacks, or breaches by 
our employees or third party service providers), which 
may result in unauthorized use or disclosure of infor-
mation. Such attacks might lead to blackmail attempts, 
forcing us to pay substantial amounts to release our 
captured data or resulting in the unauthorized release 
of such data. Given that techniques used in those at-
tacks change frequently and often are not recognized 
until launched against a target, it may be impossible 
to properly secure our systems. In addition, technical 
advances or a continued expansion and increased 
complexity of our IT-infrastructure could increase the 
likelihood of security breaches.

The operation of our business requires a number of li-
censes and other (usage) rights, e.g., in connection 
with integrating content into our platform. In the future, 
we may require additional licenses (e.g., if legal envi-
ronments change or we provide additional services). 
There is, however, no guarantee that we will be able to 
obtain all required licenses or other (usage) rights or 
that we will manage to comply with all requirements 
imposed on us thereunder. If we fail to obtain and 
maintain such licenses or rights, we may not be able to 
conduct our business as intended, which may ad-
versely affect our growth and profitability.

Our employees’ expertise and commitment are im-
portant factors for our successful development and 
the management of opportunities and risks. There-
fore, our success largely depends on our ability to 
recruit, train, motivate and retain highly qualified 
employees and, at the same time, promote our cor-
porate culture. A shortage of qualified and motivat-
ed staff, primarily in key positions, might adversely 
affect our development and growth and increase 
our costs. We are competing for qualified staff, e.g., 
in the field of software developers. The loss of quali-
fied staff, high employee fluctuation or lasting diffi-

culties in filling vacant positions with suitable appli-
cants might adversely affect our ability to effectively 
compete in our business, and we might lose impor-
tant know-how, or our competitors might gain access 
to such know-how. In order to attract and retain quali-
fied staff, we offer competitive compensation pack-
ages with long-term incentive models and other em-
ployer benefits, which serve the professional and 
health promotion of our employees. Furthermore, we 
strongly invest in our corporate culture and the devel-
opment and further training of our employees.

Legislative and regulatory authorities or other poli-
cy-making organizations in other countries where 
we operate may expand the scope of application of 
laws and regulations in force, enact new laws or reg-
ulations or issue revised rules or guidelines on data 
privacy and consumer protection. For example, it is 
expected that the European Commission initiative 
for a Digital Single Market (DSM) will lead to addition-
al regulations for e-commerce or data protection, 
information security and privacy protection, which 
might increase our costs for the compliance with 
such regulations or require necessary adjustments 
to our business model. Several governments have 
also introduced regulatory requirements for plat-
forms offering short-term rentals and will probably 
continue to do so. Those regulations are enacted 
worldwidewith the intention to control and restrict 
the renting of private accommodations, which leads 
to a large number of regulations that we have to ob-
serve and comply with. Such laws may result in high-
er legal costs and necessary resources, depending 
on the individual market and jurisdiction. HTG coun-
ters these regulatory risks by ongoing monitoring 
and early recognizing political developments, which 
might lead to an adjustment of our business model 
or our technology. In addition, HTG is engaged in 
industry associations, such as the Deutscher Ferien-
hausverband e.V. (DFV) and actively advocates the 
EU-wide harmonization of the regulation on short-
term renting (e.g., by preparing and submitting posi-
tion papers).

HTG has acquired multiple businesses since 2018 
and we will continue to regularly evaluate potential 
acquisitions. We may expend significant cash or in-
cur substantial debt to finance such acquisitions, 
which indebtedness could result in restrictions on 
our business and significant use of available cash to 
make payments of interest and principal. In addition, 
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we may finance acquisitions by issuing equity or 
convertible debt securities, which could result in fur-
ther dilution to our existing stockholders. We may 
enter into negotiations for acquisitions that are not 
ultimately consummated. Those negotiations could 
result in diversion of management time and signifi-
cant out-of-pocket costs. If we fail to evaluate and 
execute acquisitions successfully, our business, re-
sults of operations, and financial condition could be 
materially adversely affected.

In addition, we may not be successful in integrating 
acquisitions or the businesses we acquire may not 
perform as well as we expected. While our acquisi-
tions to date have not caused major disruptions in 
our business, any future failure to manage and suc-
cessfully integrate acquired businesses could mate-
rially adversely affect our business, results of opera-
tions, and financial condition. 

In summary, Management believes, in view of the 
risk situation in the reporting period, no risks have 
been identified that could endanger the Company’s 
and the Group’s ability to continue as a going con-
cern and, from today’s perspective, no such risks are 
recognizable for the foreseeable future.

4.3. Illustration of Opportunities

The market for alternative vacation rentals had been 
the fastest growing segment of the online travel in-
dustry already prior to the Covid-19 pandemic. We 
assume that this market, as a result of a general shift 
of the travelers’ preferences from traditional hotel 
and resort bookings towards the rental of vacation 
homes, which has even been accelerated by the 
Covid-19 pandemic, will experience considerable 
growth. In the last two years, many citizens spent 
their vacation in their home countries according to 
their governments’ recommendations, which, in our 
opinion, will lead to a long-term trend towards do-
mestic traveling also in the future and an increase in 
demand for alternative vacation rentals. Moreover, 
the increasing awareness in respect of the ecologi-
cal impact of air travel contributes to the general 
trend to prefer domestic or nearby vacation destina-
tions. With its innovative platforms and an increasing 
number of users and website visitors, HTG aims at 
successfully serving this market segment also in the 
future. In addition, increasing digitization of this pri-
vately and semi-professionally operated segment of 

the tourism sector will open up new market fields, in 
which HTG will offer its customers and users a fully 
integrated product portfolio, with customized prod-
ucts and software-based solutions, in order to con-
tinue its previous growth path in a sustained manner.

In particular faster recovery from Covid-19 restric-
tions can lead to additional demand in the shoulder 
seasons. Further expansion of workation is expected 
as consumers are adding additional days before or 
after their holidays and just work from away.

During the Covid-19 pandemic the cancellation rate 
has increased, in particular in 2020. Since then it has 
decreased, however, it is still above the historic aver-
age. A faster than expected return to historic cancel-
lation rates can lead to additional revenues. 

Faster implementation of our software solutions 
can lead to faster digitalization of inventory and 
therefore benefit the whole alternative accommo-
dation industry. 

Increased competition among our partners can lead 
to better economics for HTG as the partners want to 
have a higher traffic share.

5. Significant Events after 
the Reporting Period
In February 2022, a number of countries (including 
the US, the UK and the EU) imposed sanctions 
against certain entities and individuals in Russia and 
Belarus as a result of the official recognition of the 
Donetsk People Republic and Luhansk People Re-
public by the Russian Federation. Announcements 
of potential additional sanctions have been made 
following military operations initiated by Russia 
against Ukraine on February 24, 2022.

Due to the war in Ukraine, there has been a significant 
increase in volatility on the securities and currency 
markets. It is expected that these events may affect 
the activities of Russian enterprises in various sectors 
of the economy, but also the economy of sanctioning 
countries and people in those countries as well.

The Management Board regards these events as 
non-adjusting events after the reporting period. Al-
though neither HTG’s performance and going con-
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cern nor operations, at the date of this report, have 
been significantly impacted by the above, the Man-
agement Board continues to monitor the evolving 
situation and its impact on the financial position and 
results of the company. The indirect impact of the 
war in Ukraine and its implications, such as a poten-
tial change in travel behavior, cannot be quantified 
at this point in time.

6. Outlook
The business started very strong into 2022 with sig-
nificantly higher booking revenues than in 2021 at 
the same period. At the time of publishing this com-
bined management report, we can already observe 
an increased demand for alternative vacation rentals 
compared to previous years.

The travel market will still be impacted by Covid-19 
and might not return to its pre-pandemic state in the 
short-term view. While in parts of Europe and North 
America most restrictions have been lifted a new 
wave of Covid-19 seems to build up in Asia which 
could impact the global economy and could lead to 
new travel restrictions.

The Group will continue its growth path of 2021 both 
organically and non-organically by satisfying our 
customers’ and partners’ needs with the help of new 
products and technical solution and further by ac-
quisition activity which will partly be financed with 
the proceeds from the business combination. We 
will also continue to invest in our onsite business, 
both in Europe and North America.

The direct impact of the war in Ukraine is expected to 
be minimal as both the Ukrainian and Russian markets 
are of little importance for HTG. Both in terms of travel 
destination as well as bookings. However, the indirect 
impact of the war such as a potential change in travel 
behavior, and its implications on energy cost and con-
sumer confidence cannot be quantified at this point 
in time, in particular not in case the war would involve 
additional countries. 

It is expected that inflation in 2022 will rise to the 
highest level since decades, in particular driven by 
higher energy cost. These higher costs could lead to 
a reallocation of consumer spending towards food, 
heating and transportation. 

For the fiscal year 2022, the HTG Group expects to 
grow revenues within a 27-32% range (equals EUR 120 
million to EUR 125 million). We expect that the Group 
will generate a negative adjusted EBITDA again in 
2022. We expect that adjusted EBITDA will see a de-
cline compared to 2021 resulting in an amount be-
tween EUR (25) million and EUR (35) million due to 
further investments into our onsite business.

Luxembourg, March 28, 2022
Management Board of HomeToGo SE

Dr. Patrick Andrae 
Co-founder & CEO

Valentin Gruber
COO

Wolfgang Heigl
Co-founder & CSO

Steffen Schneider
CFO
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Consolidated Statements of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
for the Years Ended December 31

(in EUR thousands, except share and per share data) Note 2021 2020

Revenues 9  94,839  65,855 

Cost of revenues 10  (4,336)  (2,792) 

Gross profit  90,503  63,063 

Product development and operations 11  (23,726)  (15,275) 

Marketing and sales 12  (95,495)  (52,235) 

General and administrative 13  (112,751)  (13,092) 

Other expenses 14  (626)  (735) 

Other income 14  11,639  1,058 

Loss from operations  (130,456)  (17,216)

Finance income  2,833 –

Finance expenses  (38,964)  (7,906) 

Financial result, net 15  (36,131)  (7,906) 

Loss before tax  (166,587)  (25,122)

Income taxes 16  (202)  1,316 

Net loss  (166,789)  (23,806)

Total comprehensive loss (166,806)  (23,806)

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share 17  (2.09) (0.36)

Weighted average ordinary shares outstanding (basic and diluted) 79,619,166  66,681,774 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

HomeToGo SE 
(formerly Lakestar SPAC I SE), 
Luxembourg
Consolidated Financial Statements
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Consolidated Statements of Financial Position as of December 31

(in EUR thousands) Note 2021 2020

Equity and liabilities

Equity

Subscribed capital 2,441 93

Capital reserves 508,963 113,280

Foreign currency 
translation reserve (18) –

Share-based 
payments reserve 68,744 22,148

Retained Earnings (279,444) (112,656)

Total shareholder´s 
equity 24 300,687 22,865

Borrowings 
(non-current) 25 9,371 3,557

Convertible loans 
(non-current) 26 – 33,132

Other financial 
liabilities 
(non-current)

28 12,954 26,139

Provisions 
(non-current) 27 1,182 558

Other liabilities 
(non-current) 29 1,117 1,105

Income tax liabilities 
(non-current) – 17

Deferred tax liabilities 30 3,874 2,236

Non-current liabilities 28,499 66,745

Borrowings (current) 25 3,007 2,114

Trade payables 
(current) 15,395 4,233

Other financial 
liabilities (current) 28 8,885 1,574

Provisions (current) 27 108 1,100

Other liabilities 
(current) 29 8,535 6,156

Income tax liabilities 
(current) 168 16

Current liabilities 36,098 15,193

Total liabilities 64,596 81,938

Total shareholder´s 
equity and liabilities 365,284 104,803

(in EUR thousands) Note 2021 2020

Assets

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 19 61,360 41,570

Property, plant and 
equipment 20 15,202 16,413

Other receivables 
(non-current) 21 814 1,414

Income tax receiva-
bles (non-current) 79 34

Other financial assets 
(non-current) 22 8,249 1,485

Other assets 
(non-current) 23 258 68

Total non-current 
assets 85,962 60,984

Current assets

Trade and other 
receivables (current) 21 18,992 5,647

Income tax receiva-
bles (current) 79 139

Other financial assets 
(current) 22 101,960 549

Other assets (current) 23 5,347 1,246

Cash and cash 
equivalents 152,944 36,237

Total current assets 279,321 43,819

Total assets 365,284 104,803

Table continues → 
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity for the Years Ended December 31

(in EUR thousands) Note Subscribed 
capital 

Capital 
reserves 

Retained 
earnings 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Share-
based 

payments 
reserve

Total 
share-

holders’ 
equity 

As of Jan 1, 2020 93 113,280 (88,852) –  10,959  35,480 

Net loss – – (23,806) – –  (23,806) 

Total comprehensive loss – – (23,806) –  (23,806)

Share-based compensation 31 – – – –  11,189  11,189 

As of Dec 31, 2020 93 113,280 (112,656) –  22,148  22,865 

As of Jan 1, 2021 93 113,280 (112,656) –  22,148  22,865 

Net loss – – (166,789) – –  (166,789) 

Other comprehensive loss – – –  (18)  (18)

Total comprehensive loss – – (166,789)  (18)  (166,806) 

Conversion of convertible loans 6 18 146,259 – – –  146,277 

Conversion of earn outs 6 1 515 – –  (515)  1 

Share capital restructuring 6 1,438 (1,438) – – – –

Reverse acquisition of Lakestar 
SPAC 6 665 164,616 – –  70,437  235,718 

Share issuance for PIPE financing 6 144 74,856 – – –  75,000 

Share issuance transaction costs 6 – (1,818) – – –  (1,818) 

Share-based compensation 31 81 12,693 – –  (23,325)  (10,551) 

As of Dec 31, 2021 2,441 508,963  (279,445)  (18)  68,745  300,687 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31

Table continues → The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated 
financial statements.

(in EUR thousands) Note 2021 2020

Loss before income tax (166,587) (25,122)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and 
amortization 4,690 3,607

Non-cash employee 
benefits expense - 
de-SPAC Charge

31 70,437 —

Non-cash employee 
benefits expense - 
share-based payments

31 31,560 11,189

Fair value (gains)/losses 
on non-current financial 
assets at fair
value through profit or 
loss

(377) –

VSOP - Exercise tax 
settlement charge 6 (30,495) —

VSOP - Cash paid to 
beneficiaries 6 (11,616) —

Finance costs - net 15 36,466 7,906

Net exchange 
differences (972) (33)

Change in operating 
assets and liabilities

(Increase) / Decrease 
in trade and other 
receivables

(12,496) (1,676)

(Increase) / Decrease in 
other financial assets (4,968) (135)

(Increase) / Decrease in 
other assets (4,135) 143

Increase / (Decrease) 
in trade and other 
payables

9,742 (1,061)

Increase / (Decrease) in 
other financial liabilities 2,105 (229)

Increase / (Decrease) 
in other liabilities (5,067) (6,236)

Increase / (Decrease) 
in provisions (376) 1,182

Cash generated from 
operations (82,088) (10,465)

Interest and other 
finance cost paid (-) (1,140) (680)

Income taxes (paid) / 
received (28) (163)

(in EUR thousands) Note 2021 2020

Net cash used in 
operating activities (83,256) (11,309)

Payment for financial 
assets at fair value 
through profit and loss

22 (100,000) –

Payment for acquisition 
of subsidiary, net of 
cash acquired

6 (16,385) (1,647)

Payments for property, 
plant and equipment 20 (324) (1,551)

Payments for intangible 
assets 19 (91) (100)

Payments for internally 
generated intangible 
assets

19 (1,545) (1,369)

Proceeds from sale of 
property, plant and 
equipment

2 18

Net cash used in 
investing activities (118,343) (4,649)

Proceeds from 
borrowings and 
convertible loans

25/26 76,175 43,512

Proceeds from 
recapitalization, net of 
redemptions

6 171,489 –

Proceeds from PIPE 
financing 6 75,000 –

Transaction costs (1,818) –

Repayments of 
borrowings 25 (2,787) (1,500)

Principal elements of 
lease payments (966) (563)

Net cash provided by 
financing activities 317,093 41,449

Net increase (decrease) 
in cash and cash 
equivalents

115,494 25,490

Cash and cash 
equivalents at the 
beginning of the period

36,237 10,972

Effects of exchange rate 
changes on cash and 
cash equivalents

1,213 (226)

Cash and cash 
equivalents at the end 
of the period

152,944 36,237
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HomeToGo SE, Luxembourg 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Amounts in EUR thousands, except stated otherwise)
1. Corporate information

The HomeToGo Group (“HTG” or “Group”), compris-
es the parent entity HomeToGo SE (“HTG SE”), Lux-
embourg, Luxembourg (the “Company”), and its di-
rect and indirect subsidiaries. The Company is 
registered in the commercial register of the Registre 
de commerce et des sociétés in Luxembourg under 
number B249273. The Company’s address is 9, Rue 
de Bitbourg, 1273, Luxembourg, Luxembourg.

The business activities of HTG include the operation 
of an international marketplace for alternative ac-
commodations that connects millions of users 
searching for a place to stay with thousands of in-
ventory suppliers across the globe, resulting in the 
world’s most comprehensive inventory coverage in 
the alternative accommodation space. At the time of 
the report, HTG’s portfolio comprised of more than 
15 million aggregated accommodation offers provid-
ed by over 31,000 online travel agencies, tour opera-
tors, property managers and other inventory suppli-
ers (“Partners”) worldwide. HTG operates its business 
through localized websites and apps in 24 countries. 
The marketplace seamlessly integrates a vast inven-
tory in one simple search and enables users to book 
accommodations from diverse Partners, either on 
the Partner’s external accommodation websites or 
directly on the HomeToGo marketplace platform. 
The consolidated financial statements of HTG were 
initially authorized for issue by the Management 
Board on March 28, 2022.

HTG SE was originally known as Lakestar SPAC I SE 
(“Lakestar SPAC”) a Special Purpose Acquisition 
Company with the objective of acquiring a Europe-
an late-stage growth company in the technology 
sector with the funds raised from private place-
ments. Lakestar SPAC became listed on the Frank-
furt Stock Exchange on February 22, 2021.

On July 14, 2021, HomeToGo GmbH (“HTG GmbH”) 
and Lakestar SPAC entered into a Business Combina-
tion Agreement (“BCA”) whereby Lakestar SPAC 

became the legal parent company of HTG GmbH, its 
direct and indirect subsidiaries for a contribution 
and exchange of HTG GmbH shares for new Public 
Shares (the “Business Combination” or “Transac-
tion”). On September 21, 2021 the Transaction was 
closed (the “Closing”) and Lakestar SPAC changed 
its name to HomeToGo SE. 

HTG GmbH was deemed to be both the accounting 
acquirer and the predecessor entity in the subse-
quent fillings of the combined company. Therefore, 
HomeToGo Group presents as comparative informa-
tion, the financial information of former HomeToGo 
GmbH Group as of December 31, 2020. See Note 6 
for further details.

2. Basis of preparation

The accompanying consolidated financial state-
ments have been prepared in accordance with Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and 
the interpretations issued by the International Finan-
cial Reporting Standards Interpretations Committee 
(“IFRIC”) as adopted by and to be applied in the Eu-
ropean Union.

The official version of the accounts is the ESEF ver-
sion available at the Officially Appointed Mechanism 
(OAM) at the German Federal Gazette ("Bundesan-
zeiger") under https://www.bundesanzeiger.de. 

The accounting principles set out below, unless stat-
ed otherwise, have been applied consistently for all 
periods presented in the consolidated financial 
statements. 

HTG’s financial year ends December 31. All intercom-
pany transactions are eliminated during the prepara-
tion of the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared on a historical cost basis, unless otherwise 
stated. The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in Euro (“EUR”), which is the functional 
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currency of the Company and all subsidiaries of 
HTG. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand, 
except when otherwise indicated. Due to rounding, 
differences may arise when individual amounts or 
percentages are added together.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared 
under the assumption that the Group will continue 
as a going concern. Management believes that HTG 
has adequate resources to continue operations for 
the foreseeable future.

3. Scope of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the 
balances and results of the Company and its wholly- 
owned subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities directly 
or indirectly controlled by the Company. The Compa-
ny controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has the 
right to, variable returns from its involvement with the 
entity and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are 
consolidated from the date on which control com-
mences until the date on which control ceases.

Besides the Company, the following subsidiaries are 
included in the scope of consolidation as of Decem-
ber 31, 2021:

Subsidiary Location Percentage of 
ownership

HomeToGo GmbH Berlin, 
Germany 100%

LS I Advisors 
Verwaltungs-GmbH

Munich, 
Germany 100%

LS I Advisors GmbH & 
Co. KG

Munich, 
Germany 100%

Casamundo GmbH Berlin, 
Germany 100%

UAB HomeToGo 
Technologies

Kaunas, 
Lithuania 100%

UAB HomeToGo 
Technologies Vilnius

Vilnius, 
Lithuania 100%

Mertus 288. GmbH Berlin, 
Germany 100%

HS Holiday Search 
GmbH

Berlin, 
Germany 100%

Feries S.r.l. Milan, Italy 100%

Subsidiary Location Percentage of 
ownership

Escapada Rural S.L. Barcelona, 
Spain 100%

HOMETOGO 
INTERNATIONAL, INC.

Wilmington, 
Delaware, USA 100%

Smoobu GmbH Berlin, 
Germany 100%

Mapify UG 
(haftungsbeschränkt)

Kassel, 
Germany 100%

Please refer to note 6 - Business Combinations and 
other acquisitions for additions to the scope of con-
solidation during the year 2021 and 2020. 

4. Summary of significant accounting 
policies
a. Current versus non-current classification

HTG classifies assets and liabilities by maturity. They 
are classified as current in the consolidated state-
ment of financial position if they mature within one 
year. Deferred tax liabilities and assets are consist-
ently presented as non-current in the consolidated 
statement of financial position.

b. Foreign currency translation
HTG’s consolidated financial statements are present-
ed in Euro, which is the functional and presentation 
currency of the Company and its subsidiaries. For 
each entity, the Group determines the functional 
currency and items included in the financial state-
ments of each entity are measured using that func-
tional currency. Functional currency is defined as 
the currency of the primary economic environment 
in which each entity operates.

Any transactions denominated in foreign currencies 
are translated at the exchange rates prevailing on 
the date of transaction. Balance sheet items denom-
inated in foreign currencies are translated at the 
closing rate for each reporting period, with resulting 
translation differences recognized within the consol-
idated statement of profit or loss and comprehen-
sive income.

The results and financial position of foreign opera-
tions (none of which has the currency of a hyperin-
flationary economy) that have a functional currency Table continues → 
different from the presentation currency are trans-
lated into the reporting currency as follows:
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	→ assets and liabilities for each balance sheet 
presented are translated at the closing rate at the 
date of that balance sheet

	→ income and expenses for each statement of 
profit or loss and statement of comprehensive 
income are translated at average exchange rates 
(unless this is not a reasonable approximation of 
the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on 
the transaction dates, in which case income and 
expenses are translated at the dates of the 
transactions), and 

	→ all resulting exchange differences are recognized 
in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from 
the translation of any net investment in foreign enti-
ties, and of borrowings are recognized in other com-
prehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold 
or any borrowings forming part of the net invest-
ment are repaid, the associated exchange differenc-
es are reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain 
or loss on sale.

c. Profit or loss structure
HTG uses a cost of revenue structure to present its 
revenues and expenses by function. See section 9 
and the following paragraph for further explanations 
about the content in the different profit or loss line 
items.

d. Revenue recognition
HTG applies IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with 
customers. The standard establishes principles for 
reporting information to users of financial statements, 
about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of 
revenue and cash flows arising from an entity’s con-
tracts with customers. Management applies the five-
step model according to IFRS 15 when determining 
the timing and amount of revenue recognition. 

HTG operates a marketplace for alternative accom-
modations that connects millions of travelers search-
ing for a perfect place to stay with thousands of in-
ventory suppliers across the globe. HTG generates 
revenue through the following main revenue types:

	→ Cost per Action (“CPA”): CPA is the largest 
revenue stream, whereby HTG receives a  
percentage-based commission for successful  
on- or offsite booking referrals, which facilitate a 
stay. Depending on the contractual terms with 

the respective partner, the revenue for HTG is 
either calculated as percentage of the commission 
or as percentage of the booking value  
(sometimes called revenue share).

	→ Cost per Click (“CPC”) HTG receives a fixed 
commission based on every successful referral 
click.

	→ Cost per Lead (“CPL”): HTG receives a fixed 
commission based on every successful referral 
inquiry (lead).

	→ Subscriptions and Services are related to sub-
scription-based revenue from partners who can 
use the platform for listing of their rental objects 
over a determined period and are generated 
mainly by the foreign entities in Italy and Spain.

CPA transactions are commission-based revenues 
where the Partner compensates HTG for facilitating 
bookings that resulted in a stay of the traveler. HTG is 
acting as an agent in either scenario as described 
above. The Company considers its Partners, in particu-
lar online travel agencies (“OTAs”), or the rental proper-
ty owners and managers to be its customers. Only the 
CPA contracts and the specific bookings taken togeth-
er would constitute a contract under IFRS 15. Typically, 
these bookings are cancellable at any time. The con-
tracts with the OTA partners stipulate that HTG only 
earns CPA for bookings that facilitate a stay. Further-
more, for the majority of contracts the payment claim 
of HTG only comes into existence once the check-in of 
the traveler has occurred. HTG also engages in a multi-
tude of post-booking activities that facilitate the check-
in (hence the stay of the traveler), e.g. customer sup-
port for the traveler. These activities are not distinct 
from each other and are not separate performance 
obligations. It is therefore management’s judgement to 
define the single performance obligation of the 
Group’s CPA transactions as ’successful booking’ which 
facilitates a stay. Therefore, the revenues for CPA trans-
actions are recognized at the same point in time as the 
check-in date of the traveler when HTG’s performance 
obligation is satisfied. Payments received from OTA 
partners for bookings where check-in has not occured 
yet are recognized as contract liabilities.

For CPC or CPL transactions, HTG receives a fixed 
commission based on every successful inquiry or 
referral click. As opposed to CPA transactions, each 
click or inquiry initiated by the traveler through the 
HTG platform with referral to the partner website is 
considered a distinct promised service. HTG has an 
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enforceable payment claim based on the monthly 
click volume and is not subject to cancellation or 
similar risks. Therefore, the ’simple referral’ through 
CPC meets the criteria of a performance obligation 
which is satisfied at a point in time i.e. with the click 
through the partner website. HTG recognizes the 
revenue for CPC at the corresponding click date.

In HTG’s subscription contracts, property managers 
or owners pay in advance for Software as a Service 
(“SaaS”) and online advertising services related to 
the listing of their properties for rent over a fixed pe-
riod, which is usually one year. As the performance 
obligation is the SaaS or listing service and is provid-
ed to the property manager/owner over time of use 
(SaaS) or the life of the listing period, the subscrip-
tion revenues are recognized on a straight-line basis 
over the time of use (SaaS) or listing period respec-
tively. Amounts received as prepayment are recog-
nized as contract liabilities.

Variable consideration might occur in the form of 
performance-based bonuses with respect to reve-
nue based on bonus agreements that can be agreed 
for CPL and CPA transactions. HTG includes variable 
consideration estimated in the transaction price only 
to the extent that it is highly probable that a signifi-
cant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue 
recognized will not occur when the uncertainty as-
sociated with the variable consideration is subse-
quently resolved.

e. Intangible assets and goodwill
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are car-
ried at cost less any accumulated amortization and 
accumulated impairment losses, if any. The useful life 
of intangible assets is assessed as either finite or in-
definite. Refer to Note 19 - Intangible assets and good-
will for further details regarding the carrying amount 
of HTG’s intangible asset balances and to Note 6 – 
Business Combinations and other acquisitions with 
respect to information on goodwill and intangible as-
sets resulting from business combinations.

Intangible assets with a finite useful life
Intangible assets with a finite useful life consist of li-
censes, trademarks and domains, customer relation-
ships, order backlog and internally generated software. 

In accordance with IAS 38, development costs that 
are directly attributable to the design, coding and 

testing of identifiable software modules controlled 
by the Group are recognized as intangible assets 
where the following criteria are met: 1) It is technical-
ly feasible to complete the software so that it will be 
available for use, 2) management intends to com-
plete the software and use or sell it, 3) there is an 
ability to use or sell the software, 4) it can be demon-
strated how the software will generate probable fu-
ture economic benefits, 5) adequate technical, fi-
nancial and other resources to complete the 
development and to use or sell the software are 
available, 6) and the expenditure attributable to the 
software during its development can be reliably 
measured. Directly attributable costs that are capi-
talized as part of the software include employee 
costs and other directly attributable costs. Software 
maintenance costs are recognized as an expense 
incurred. 

Intangible assets with a finite life are amortized over 
their estimated useful life on a straight-line basis and 
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indi-
cation that the intangible asset may be impaired. 
The amortization period and the amortization meth-
od of intangible assets with a finite useful life are re-
viewed at least annually, with any changes treated as 
changes in accounting estimates. Changes in the 
expected useful life or the expected pattern of con-
sumption of the assets’ future economic benefits 
are considered when assessing the amortization 
method and useful life of the asset.

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Asset type Estimated useful life

Software and licenses 3 to 5 years

Trademarks 3 to 15 years

Customer relationship 10 years

Order backlog 1 year

Internally generated software 3 to 7 years

Goodwill indefinite

Goodwill
HTG’s goodwill originated from the acquisitions of 
Feries, Casamundo, Escapada Rural and Smoobu in 
2018, 2019 and 2021 and represents the difference 
between the purchase price and the net identifiable 
assets acquired at fair value. Refer to Note 6 for fur-
ther details.
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Goodwill is not amortized but reviewed for impair-
ment at least annually. Refer to accounting policy on 
business combination and goodwill in section q).

f. Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical 
cost, net of accumulated depreciation and accumu-
lated impairment losses, if any. Historical cost in-
cludes any expenditures that are directly attributa-
ble to the acquisition of the asset, including costs 
incurred to prepare the asset for its intended use.

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over each asset’s expected useful 
life. Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual 
values are reviewed at least annually and adjusted 
prospectively, if appropriate.

HTG applies the following useful lives when estimat-
ing depreciation of property and equipment:

Asset type Estimated useful life

Leasehold improvements 2 to 15 years

Other equipment and office 
equipment 2 to 13 years

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the 
shorter of the underlying lease or the expected use-
ful life of the asset.

All repair and maintenance costs are expensed when 
incurred.

HTG assesses property, plant and equipment for im-
pairment whenever there is an indication of poten-
tial impairment.

g. Leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or 
contains, a lease is based on the substance of the 
arrangement at inception. The arrangement is, or 
contains, a lease if fulfillment of the arrangement is 
dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets 
and the arrangement conveys a right to use the as-
set or assets, even if that right is not explicitly speci-
fied in an arrangement. HTG assesses at the incep-
tion of the contract whether the contract is or 
contains a lease.

HTG’s leases consist of real estate, car leasing and dis-
tinct server leases. Lease terms are negotiated on an 
individual basis and may contain a range of different 
terms and conditions. Lease contracts may be nego-
tiated for fixed period or include extension options.

To determine the lease terms, all facts and circum-
stances which offer economic incentives to exercise 
extension options are included. If it is reasonably 
certain that a lease term will be extended, the relat-
ed extension option is included. The lease terms in-
clude fixed payments as well as variable payments 
that depend on an index or rate.

Management of HTG reviews the contractual and 
current market conditions individually when deter-
mining whether an extension option is reasonably 
certain to be exercised.

The lease liability is measured at the date of com-
mencement of the lease as the present value of the 
expected lease payments. To determine the present 
value, HTG discounts the remaining lease payments 
with the incremental borrowing rate of the lessee. 
The incremental borrowing rate is the interest rate 
that HTG would have to pay to borrow over a similar 
term, and with a similar security, the funds neces-
sary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-
of-use asset as the underlying lease agreement in a 
similar economic environment. 

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost at the date 
of commencement of the lease. The cost is com-
prised of the initial lease liability measurement and 
any lease payments made before the commence-
ment date, less any lease incentives received and 
estimated cost of dismantling and removing the un-
derlying asset incurred by the lessee.

Right-of-use assets are presented in the balance 
sheet as part of property, plant and equipment.

After the commencement date, HTG measures 
right-of-use assets at cost less accumulated depreci-
ation and any accumulated impairment losses.

For subsequent measurement, the carrying amount 
of the lease liability is increased to reflect the interest 
on the lease liability and reduced to reflect the lease 
payments made. The finance expenses associated 
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with the lease term are recognized in the consolidat-
ed statement of profit or loss and other comprehen-
sive income over the lease term.

No impairment losses have been identified on HTG’s 
right-of-use assets in 2021 and 2020.

HTG elected to apply an exemption for low value 
leases and short-term leases in accordance with IFRS 
16. Low value leases are leases with contract amounts 
below EUR 5 thousand. Short-term leases relate to 
lease agreements with a lease term of less than 12 
months. Lease payments associated with low value 
leases and short-term leases are expensed on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. Accordingly, 
no right-of-use assets or lease liabilities are recog-
nized for low value and short-term leases.

h. Impairment of non-financial assets
HTG assesses whether an asset may be impaired at 
each reporting date. If any indication of impairment 
exists, or when annual impairment testing for such 
an asset is required, HTG estimates the asset’s recov-
erable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the 
higher of an asset’s or CGU’s fair value less costs of 
disposal or its value in use. The recoverable amount 
is determined for an individual asset, unless the as-
set does not generate cash inflows that are largely 
independent of those from other assets or groups of 
assets. When the carrying amount of an asset or 
CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is 
considered impaired and written down to its recov-
erable amount.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their present value using a 
discount rate that reflects current market assess-
ments of the time value of money and the risks spe-
cific to the asset. HTG does not use the fair value less 
costs of disposal method when assessing the recov-
erable amount of its non-financial assets.

HTG bases its impairment calculation on detailed 
budgets and forecasted cash flows. Impairment 
losses are recognized in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in 
expense categories consistent with the function of 
the impaired asset.

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is 
made at each reporting date to determine whether 

there is an indication that previously recognized im-
pairment losses no longer exist or has decreased. 

If such indication exists, HTG estimates the asset’s or 
CGU’s recoverable amount.

Financial instruments - Initial recognition and 
subsequent events
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise 
to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liabil-
ity or equity instrument of another entity.

Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement 
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as 
subsequently measured at amortized cost, fair value 
through other comprehensive income (OCI), and fair 
value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recogni-
tion depends on the financial asset’s contractual 
cash flow characteristics and HTG’s business model 
for managing them. With the exception of trade re-
ceivables that do not contain a significant financing 
component or for which the Group has applied the 
practical expedient, HTG initially measures a finan-
cial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a finan-
cial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, 
transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not con-
tain a significant financing component or for which 
HTG has applied the practical expedient are meas-
ured at the transaction price. 

In order for a financial asset to be classified and 
measured at amortized cost or fair value through 
OCI, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are ’solely 
payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the 
principal amount outstanding. This assessment is 
referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an 
instrument level. Financial assets with cash flows 
that are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair 
value through profit or loss, irrespective of the busi-
ness model. 

HTG’s business model for managing financial assets 
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order 
to generate cash flows. The business model deter-
mines whether cash flows will result from collecting 
contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or 
both. Financial assets classified and measured at am-
ortized cost are held within a business model with 
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the objective to hold financial assets in order to col-
lect contractual cash flows while financial assets 
classified and measured at fair value through OCI are 
held within a business model with the objective of 
both holding to collect contractual cash flows and 
selling.

Subsequent measurement 
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial 
assets are classified in four categories:

	→ Financial assets at amortized cost  
(debt instruments)

	→ Financial assets at fair value through OCI with 
recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt 
instruments)

	→ Financial assets designated at fair value through 
OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and 
losses upon derecognition (equity instruments)

	→ Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
(equity instruments, money market funds).

	→ Financial assets at amortized cost  
(debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently 
measured using the effective interest (EIR) method 
and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are 
recognized in profit or loss when the asset is 
derecognized, modified or impaired. 

In the case of a financial asset not at fair value 
through profit or loss (FVTPL), financial assets are 
measured at amortized cost and include trade and 
other receivables and other financial assets.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
(equity instruments)
The group subsequently measures all equity invest-
ments at fair value. Changes in the fair value of finan-
cial assets at FVTPL, in particular to investments in 
money market funds, are recognized in profit or loss 
in the period in which it arises.

Derecognition
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a fi-
nancial asset or part of a group of similar financial 
assets) is derecognized (i.e., removed from HTG’s 
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

	→ The rights to receive cash flows from the asset 
have expired

Or
	→ HTG has transferred its rights to receive cash 
flows from the asset or has assumed an obliga-
tion to pay the received cash flows in full without 
material delay to a third party under a ’pass-
through’ arrangement; and either (a) HTG has 
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards 
of the asset, or (b) HTG has neither transferred 
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards 
of the asset, but has transferred control of the 
asset.

When HTG has transferred its rights to receive cash 
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what 
extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of own-
ership. When it has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, 
nor transferred control of the asset, HTG continues 
to recognize the transferred asset to the extent of its 
continuing involvement. In that case, HTG also rec-
ognizes an associated liability. The transferred asset 
and the associated liability are measured on a basis 
that reflects the rights and obligations that HTG has 
retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a 
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at 
the lower of the original carrying amount of the as-
set and the maximum amount of consideration that 
HTG could be required to repay.

Impairment 
HTG recognizes an allowance for expected credit 
losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at fair 
value through profit or loss, if the exposure is materi-
al. For trade receivables, HTG applies a simplified 
approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, HTG does 
not track changes in credit risk, but instead recog-
nizes a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each 
reporting date if the exposure is material. HTG has 
established a provision matrix that is based on its his-
torical credit loss experience, adjusted for for-
ward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the 
economic environment.

The Group considers a financial asset in default 
when contractual payments are 180 days past due. 
However, in certain cases, HTG may also consider a 
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financial asset to be in default when internal or exter-
nal information indicates that HTG is unlikely to re-
ceive the outstanding contractual amounts in full 
before taking into account any credit enhancements 
held by HTG. A financial asset is written off when 
there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the 
contractual cash flows.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement 
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, 
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. 

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair 
value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and 
other payables, net of directly attributable transac-
tion costs.

HTG’s financial liabilities include trade and other pay-
ables, as well as loans and borrowings including 
bank overdrafts.

Subsequent measurement 
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial 
liabilities are classified in two categories:

	→ Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
	→ Financial liabilities at amortized cost

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
include financial liabilities held for trading and finan-
cial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as 
at fair value through profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if 
they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in 
the near term.

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are rec-
ognized in the statement of profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recogni-
tion at fair value through profit or loss are designated 
at the initial date of recognition, and only if the crite-
ria in IFRS 9 are satisfied. The Group has not desig-
nated any financial liability as at fair value through 
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities at amortized cost
This is the most relevant category to HTG. After ini-
tial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrow-

ings are subsequently measured at amortized cost 
using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recog-
nized in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecog-
nized as well as through the EIR amortization process.

Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account 
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or 
costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR 
amortization is included as finance costs in the state-
ment of profit or loss. 

Derecognition 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obliga-
tion under the liability is discharged or cancelled or 
expires. When an existing financial liability is re-
placed by another from the same lender on substan-
tially different terms, or the terms of an existing lia-
bility are substantially modified, such an exchange 
or modification is treated as the derecognition of the 
original liability and the recognition of a new liability. 
The difference in the respective carrying amounts is 
recognized in the statement of profit or loss. 

Offsetting of financial instruments 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and 
the net amount is reported in the consolidated state-
ment of financial position if there is a currently enforce-
able legal right to offset the recognized amounts and 
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realize 
the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Fair value measurement
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell 
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants as of the 
measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, 
the most advantageous market to which HTG has 
access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects 
its non-performance risk.

A number of HTG’s accounting policies and disclosures 
require the measurement of fair value for both financial 
liabilities. HTG measures the fair value of an instrument 
using the quoted price in an active market for that in-
strument, if such price is available. A market is regarded 
as ’’active’’ if transactions for the asset or liability take 
place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide 
pricing information on an ongoing basis.

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then 
HTG uses valuation techniques that maximize the use 
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of relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of 
unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique 
incorporates all factors that market participants would 
take into account in pricing a transaction.

In connection with management judgement about 
the fair value measurement, the Group involves an 
independent external valuation expert, who uses ap-
propriate valuation techniques, and determines the 
fair value of assets and liabilities. 

Based on the input parameters used for valuation 
the fair values have to be assigned to one of the fol-
lowing levels of the fair value hierarchy:

	→ Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in 
active markets for identical assets and liabilities,

	→ Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included 
within level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or 
indirectly (that is, derived from prices), and

	→ Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are 
not based on observable market data (that is, 
unobservable inputs).

i. Convertible loans and embedded derivatives
Convertible loans are subject to split accounting. 
The loan is initially measured at their fair value and 
subsequently at amortized cost using the effective 
interest rate method, or at the reporting date fair val-
ue with the change being reflected through profit or 
loss. 

The fair value of the embedded derivatives in HTG’s 
convertible loans, if separable, is deducted from the 
issuance proceeds of the loan and treated as a finan-
cial liability at initial recognition. The difference be-
tween the fair value of the entire instrument and the 
fair value of the embedded derivative is the fair value 
of the host contract of the loan (without conversion 
right). Transaction costs are deducted from the fair 
value of the host contract. The host contract of the 
loan is subsequently measured at amortized cost un-
til extinguished on conversion or maturity of the 
loan. The embedded derivative is recognized as a 
derivative financial liability and subsequently meas-
ured at fair value through profit or loss.

j. Provisions
HTG recognizes provisions when it has a present ob-
ligation, legal or constructive, as a result of a past 

event, it is probable that an outflow of resources em-
bodying economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made 
of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are meas-
ured at the present value of management´s best es-
timate of the expenditure required to settle the pres-
ent obligation at the end of the reporting period. 
The increase in provision due to the passage of time 
and unwinding of the discount rate is recognized as 
finance expenses.

k. Income taxes
Current income taxes
Current income tax is the expected tax payable or 
receivable based on the taxable income or loss for 
the period and the tax laws that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted as of the reporting date. 
Management periodically evaluates positions taken 
in tax returns with respect to situations in which ap-
plicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It 
establishes provisions where appropriate based on 
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. 
In case of uncertainties related to income taxes, they 
are accounted for in accordance with IFRIC 23 and 
IAS 12 based on the best estimate of those uncer-
tainties.

HTG establishes tax liabilities on the basis of expect-
ed tax payments. Liabilities for trade taxes, corporate 
taxes and similar taxes on income are determined 
based on the taxable income of the consolidated 
entities less any prepayments made. Calculation of 
tax liabilities is based on the recent tax rates applica-
ble in the tax jurisdiction of HTG.

Deferred taxes
Deferred taxes are recognized on temporary differ-
ences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities in the financial statements and the corre-
sponding tax bases used in the computation of taxa-
ble income and are accounted for using the balance 
sheet-liability method.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all 
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax as-
sets are recognized to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable income will be available against which 
deductible temporary differences can be utilized.

However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognized 
if the temporary difference arises from goodwill. 
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Furthermore, deferred tax assets and deferred tax 
liabilities are not recognized if the temporary differ-
ence arises from the initial recognition (other than in 
a business combination) of other assets and liabili-
ties in a transaction that affects neither taxable in-
come, nor the accounting profit.

Current and deferred tax is charged or credited in 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and oth-
er comprehensive income, except when it relates to 
items charged or credited directly to equity, in which 
case the current or deferred tax is also recognized 
directly in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated us-
ing tax rates expected to be in place in the period of 
realization of the associated asset or liability, based 
on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting 
period in the respective jurisdiction.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is re-
viewed at each reporting date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient 
taxable income will be available to allow all or part of 
the asset to be recovered.

l. Earnings (Loss) per share
HTG Group presents earnings (loss) per share data 
for its ordinary shares. Basic earnings (loss) per share 
is calculated by dividing the net income of the peri-
od by the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding during the period. HTG Group 
only issued ordinary shares according to IAS 33, all of 
which are outstanding, because all share classes are 
subject to the same dividend entitlement with re-
gard to the earnings for the period. The potential 
ordinary shares were not taken into account, be-
cause the effect on loss per share would have been 
antidilutive. The weighted average number of shares 
is calculated from the number of shares in circula-
tion at the beginning of the period adjusted by the 
number of shares issued during the period and mul-
tiplied by a time-weighting factor. The time-weight-
ing factor reflects the ratio of the number of days on 
which shares were issued and the total number of 
days of the period.

m. Segment reporting
An operating segment is a component of HTG that 
engages in business activities from which it may 

earn revenues and incur expenses and for which dis-
crete financial information is available and used by 
the Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) to 
make decisions around resource allocation and re-
view operating results of HTG. HTG identified the 
CEO of the Company as the CODM and operates 
under only one operating segment and therefore 
the consolidated financial information represents 
the segment reporting.

n. Share-based compensation
The Group granted remuneration in the form of share-
based payments, whereby management and employ-
ees render services as consideration for equity instru-
ments of the Group (equity-settled transactions).

The measurement of equity-settled transactions is 
determined by the fair value at the date when the 
grant is made using an appropriate valuation model 
in accordance with IFRS 2. Costs are recognized 
within profit or loss together with a corresponding 
increase in equity (share-based payment reserves), 
over the period in which the service and, where ap-
plicable, the performance conditions are fulfilled 
(the vesting period). The cumulative expense recog-
nized for equity-settled transactions at each report-
ing date until the vesting date reflects the extent to 
which the vesting period has expired and the 
Group’s best estimate of the number of equity in-
struments that will ultimately vest. The expense or 
credit in the statement of profit or loss for a period 
represents the movement in cumulative expense 
recognized as at the beginning and end of that peri-
od. Service and non-market performance conditions 
are not taken into account when determining the 
grant date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of 
the conditions being met is assessed as part of 
HTG’s best estimate of the number of equity instru-
ments that will ultimately vest. Market performance 
conditions are reflected within the grant date fair 
value. Any other conditions attached to an award, 
but without an associated service requirement, are 
considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vest-
ing conditions are reflected in the fair value of an 
award and lead to an immediate expensing of an 
award unless there are also service and/or perfor-
mance conditions. No expense is recognized for 
awards that do not ultimately vest because non-mar-
ket performance and/or service conditions have not 
been met. Where awards include a market or 
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated 
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as vested irrespective of whether the market or 
non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all 
other performance and/or service conditions are sat-
isfied. When the terms of an equity-settled award are 
modified, the minimum expense recognized is the 
grant date fair value of the unmodified award, provid-
ed the original vesting terms of the award are met. An 
additional expense, measured as at the date of modi-
fication, is recognized for any modification that in-
creases the total fair value of the share-based pay-
ment transaction, or is otherwise beneficial to the 
employee. Where an award is cancelled by the entity 
or by the counterparty, any remaining element of the 
grant date fair value of the award is credited immedi-
ately through profit or loss.

The Group sometimes engages in share-based pay-
ment transactions to acquire goods or services from 
parties other than employees. The goods or services 
received in exchange for shares should be measured 
at the fair value of those goods or services. It is pre-
sumed that the fair value of goods or services can be 
measured reliably in the case of transactions with par-
ties other than employees. If this presumption is re-
butted, the fair value is measured indirectly by refer-
ence to the fair value of the equity instruments 
granted as consideration. Employee services or uni-
dentifiable goods or services are measured indirectly 
at the date on which the equity instruments are grant-
ed. The fair value is not subsequently re-measured 
after the grant date.

o. Government grants
Government grants are recognized where there is 
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received 
and all attached conditions will be complied with. 
When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recog-
nized as income on a systematic basis over the peri-
ods that the related costs, for which it is intended to 
compensate, are expensed. The Group has chosen to 
present grants related to an expense item as other 
operating income in the statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income.

p. Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the ac-
quisition method. The cost of an acquisition is meas-
ured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, 
which is measured at acquisition date fair value. Acqui-
sition-related costs are expensed as incurred and in-
cluded in General and administrative expenses.

The Group determines if a transaction is to be ac-
counted for as a business combination, using the 
concentration test and by determining that it has 
acquired a business when the acquired set of activi-
ties and assets include an input and a substantive 
process that together significantly contribute to the 
ability to create outputs. The acquired process is 
considered substantive if it is critical to the ability to 
continue producing outputs, and the inputs ac-
quired include an organized workforce with the nec-
essary skills, knowledge, or experience to perform 
that process or it significantly contributes to the abil-
ity to continue producing outputs and is considered 
unique or scarce or cannot be replaced without sig-
nificant cost, effort, or delay in the ability to continue 
producing outputs. 

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by 
the acquirer will be recognized at fair value at the 
acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified 
as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument 
and within the scope of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, 
is measured at fair value with the changes in fair val-
ue recognized in the statement of profit or loss in 
accordance with IFRS 9.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost (being the ex-
cess of the aggregate of the consideration trans-
ferred and any previous interest held over the net 
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed). 
If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess 
of the aggregate consideration transferred, the 
Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified 
all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities as-
sumed and reviews the procedures used to measure 
the amounts to be recognized at the acquisition 
date. If the reassessment still results in an excess of 
the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggre-
gate consideration transferred, then the gain is rec-
ognized in profit or loss.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost 
less any accumulated impairment losses. For the 
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in 
a business combination is, from the acquisition date, 
allocated to the group of cash-generating units. The 
allocation is made to those cash-generating units or 
groups of cash-generating units that are expected 
to benefit from the business combination in which 
the goodwill arose. The units or groups of units are 
identified at the lowest level at which goodwill is 
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monitored for internal management purposes, be-
ing the operating segments. HTG comprises one 
segment with four CGUs. HTG management identi-
fies the acquired businesses HTG, Feries, Escapada 
Rural and Smoobu as separate CGUs for the purpose 
of testing assets, other than goodwill, for impair-
ment. Casamundo became part of the existing HTG 
CGU. Goodwill is tested for impairment on the basis 
of the three combined CGUs since this is the lowest 
level at which management captures information for 
internal management reporting purposes about the 
benefits of goodwill.

Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be re-
versed in future periods.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-gener-
ating unit or group of cash-generating units and part 
of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the 
goodwill associated with the disposed operation is 
included in the carrying amount of the operation 
when determining the gain or loss on disposal. 
Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is meas-
ured based on the relative values of the disposed 
operation and the portion of the cash-generating 
units retained.

5. New and revised standards
a. New and revised standards and interpretations 
applied for the first time 

HTG has applied all IFRS Standards applicable as of 
December 31, 2021 to the extent these have an im-
pact on the consolidated financial statements.

b. New and revised standards issued, but not yet 
effective
At the date of authorization of these financial state-
ments, HTG has not applied the following new and 
revised IFRS standards that have been issued, but 
are not yet effective:

New or revised standards –
endorsement completed Effective date

IFRS 3 (A) Business Combinations January 1, 2022

IAS 16 (A) Property, Plant and 
Equipment January 1, 2022

IAS 37 (A) Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets January 1, 2022

Annual Improvements 2018-2020 January 1, 2022

New or revised standards –
endorsement completed Effective date

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts January 1, 2023

(A) Amendment

New or revised standards –
endorsement outstanding Effective date

IAS 1 (A) Presentation of Financial 
Statements: Classification of Liabilities 
as Current or Non-current

January 1, 2023

IAS 1 (A) Presentation of Financial 
Statements and IFRS Practice 
Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting 
policies

January 1, 2023

IAS 8 (A) Accounting Policies, Changes 
in Accounting Estimates and Errors: 
Definition of Accounting Estimates

January 1, 2023

IAS 12 (A) Income Taxes: Deferred Tax 
related to Assets and Liabilities arising 
from a Single Transaction

January 1, 2023

(A) Amendment

From the standards listed above the only amend-
ments expected to have an impact on the reported 
assets and liabilities and net income of HTG are the 
one listed below. 

The IAS 12 (A) could have an impact on the recogni-
tion of deferred tax liabilities and assets from rights 
of use assets and lease liabilities in the future. So far, 
the exemption for the initial recognition of a de-
ferred tax resulting from the recognition of a rights 
of use asset and lease liability according to IAS 12.15 
has been availed, which will not be possible any-
more.

IFRS 16 (A) for Covid-19-related rent concessions 
could have an impact in the future since HTG Group 
holds several office leases which might be subject to 
future concessions. The given concessions would 
be treated as variable payments and deducted from 
expenses and lease liability.

The impact on the consolidated financial statements 
from the amendments to IAS 1 is not considered to 
be material.

Table continues → 
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6. Business Combinations and other 
acquisitions
Smoobu GmbH

On March 1, 2021, HS Holiday Search GmbH, a whol-
ly-owned subsidiary of HTG, acquired 100% of the 
shares of Smoobu GmbH (“Smoobu”) for EUR 18.5 
million in cash. The purchase price of EUR 18.5 mil-
lion consists of a fixed price in the amount of EUR 
19.0 million in cash less working capital adjustments 
of EUR 0.5 million. Of the purchase price, EUR 13.5 
million were paid by the closing date and deferred 
consideration of EUR 5.0 million is not due until 
March 2022 and bears no interest. 

Smoobu is a provider of all-in-one vacation rental 
management software. It was acquired as part of the 
Software as a Service (“SaaS”) strategy to enhance 
the whole supply-side with technology solutions. In 
addition, the subscription model contributes to the 
group with a positive EBITDA.

The final allocation of the consideration to assets and 
liabilities assumed as of March 1, 2021 as part of the 
business combination is shown in the following table:

(in EUR thousands) Fair Value

Cash  299

Intangible assets: trademarks  1,849

Intangible assets: customer 
relationships  2,328

Intangible assets: software  2,428

Trade receivables  135

Other assets  163

Net deferred tax liability  (1,643)

Other liabilities  (1,689)

Net identifiable assets acquired  3,870

Add: goodwill  14,664

Net assets acquired  18,534

A total deferred tax liability of EUR 1.6 million was rec-
ognized based on the local tax rate of 30.2% and net 
of deferred tax assets for tax losses carried forward of 
EUR 352 thousand, which are not yet expired due to 
the transaction. No additional liabilities were identi-
fied. The goodwill recognized as part of the business 
combination relates to platform synergy effects and 

the entity’s market position within the subscription 
business. It will not be deductible for tax purposes.

The fair value of acquired trade receivables is EUR 135 
thousand and equals the gross contractual amount 
for trade receivables due less loss allowance.

Acquisition-related costs of EUR 269 thousand are 
included in General and administrative expenses in 
the consolidated statement of or loss and other 
comprehensive loss.

The acquired business contributed revenues of EUR 
3.1 million and net loss of EUR 0.8 million to HTG for 
the period from March 1, 2021 to December 31, 2021. 
If the acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2021, 
consolidated pro-forma revenue and net loss for the 
Group for the financial year 2021 would have been 
EUR 95.3 million and EUR 166.6 million respectively. 
These amounts have been calculated using the sub-
sidiary’s results and adjusting them for:

	→ differences in the accounting policies between 
the group and the subsidiary, and

	→ the additional depreciation and amortization that 
would have been charged assuming the fair 
value adjustments to intangible assets had 
applied from January 1, 2021, together with the 
consequential tax effects.

The composition of the consideration and the im-
pact on the Statement of Cash Flows can be derived 
from the following table:

(in EUR thousands)  March 1, 2021

Cash paid  13,534

Deferred consideration  5,000

Total purchase consideration  18,534

Cash and cash equivalents acquired  299

As a result of the above transaction, the Group’s 
goodwill increased by EUR 14.6 million from EUR 25.7 
million at December 31, 2020 to EUR 40.3 million at 
December 31, 2021.

Mapify UG (haftungsbeschränkt)
Mapify UG (haftungsbeschränkt) (“Mapify”) was ac-
tive in operating a community-backed travel website 
and was in the process of winding down. On May 31, 
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2021, HTG agreed to issue to the sellers 63 virtual 
shares from the Company’s Virtual option plans at a 
strike price of EUR 3,783. The virtual shares are grant-
ed and fully vested immediately and represent the 
only consideration for Mapify. No employees were 
taken over. Furthermore, no established processes 
were continued. The transaction does not qualify as 
a business combination. IFRS 3 is therefore not appli-
cable and the cost of an intangible asset or services 
acquired for shares is measured in accordance with 
IFRS 2 and classified as equity settled. The identified 
service is marketing and influencer content from the 
Mapify community. Since the business of Mapify 
only generated immaterial revenues, the acquired 
trademark has no value and thus is not recognized 
as an intangible asset. The grant date fair value of 
the 63 granted and fully vested virtual shares amount 
to EUR 172 thousand and is recognized under mar-
keting and sales expenses. The 63 virtual shares 
were exercised as part of the Business Combination 
as further described below.

de-SPAC transaction
HomeToGo SE was originally known as Lakestar 
SPAC I SE (“Lakestar SPAC”), a Special Purpose Ac-
quisition Company with the objective of acquiring a 
European late-stage growth company in the technol-
ogy sector with the funds raised from private place-
ments. Lakestar SPAC was listed on the Frankfurt 
Stock Exchange on February 22, 2021.

On July 14, 2021, HomeToGo GmbH (“HTG”) and Lak-
estar SPAC entered into a Business Combination 
Agreement (“BCA”) whereby Lakestar became the 
legal parent company of HTG, and its direct and indi-
rect subsidiaries, for a contribution and exchange of 
HTG shares for new public shares (“Class A Shares”) 
that is hereinafter also referred to as the “Transac-
tion”. On September 21, 2021 the Transaction was 
closed (the “Closing”) and Lakestar SPAC changed 
its name to HomeToGo SE. 

The Transaction has been accounted for as a capital 
reorganization, whereby Lakestar SPAC was treated as 
the acquired company and HTG as the acquirer. Oper-
ations prior to the Business Combination are those of 
HTG and the historical financial statements of HTG be-
came the historical financial statements of the com-
bined entity, upon the consummation of the Transac-
tion. Accordingly, the consolidated statement of Profit 
or Loss for the year ended December 31, 2021 includes 

the transactions of HomeToGo SE starting from the 
date of the Closing of the Transaction.

Pursuant to the Closing several transactions occurred: 

	→ Lakestar SPAC entered into subscription agree-
ments with investors (the “PIPE Investors”) in a 
Private Investment in Public Equity transaction 
(the “PIPE Financing”) in the aggregate amount 
of EUR 75 million. In return for their investment, 
the PIPE Investors received a total of 7,500,000 
additional Lakestar SPAC Class A Shares.

	→ Under HTG’s convertible loan agreements, the 
HTG Lenders had granted and disbursed loans to 
HTG in an aggregate principal amount of EUR 
104.6 million. The resulting convertible loans of 
EUR 108.6 million (including accrued interest) and 
the derivatives of EUR 37.6 million classified as a 
liability and bifurcated at initial recognition were 
converted into 18,438 HTG shares. In addition, 
pursuant to the Convertible Loan Agreement 
2018, under certain conditions, PG HoldCo, Inc., 
(in this context the “Earn-Out Subscriber”) was 
entitled to subscribe for further 1,290 HTG 
shares. Following an amendment agreed bet-
ween the lenders and the Earn-Out Subscriber, 
the HTG shares were subsequently exchanged 
for Lakestar SPAC Class A Shares.

	→ HTG Virtual Stock Options Plan (“VSOP”) holders 
accepted the HomeToGo VSOPs Amendment, 
provided for in the BCA, under which the 
Transaction qualifies as an exercise event and 
pursuant to which all vested and exercisable 
virtual options were exercised in connection with 
the Business Combination. The exercise was 
fulfilled via a cash payment equal to 50% of the 
VSOP claim, to cover estimated relevant tax 
obligations, and newly issued Class A Shares in 
Lakestar SPAC equal to the remaining 50% of the 
VSOP claim divided by a price of EUR 10.00 per 
share, irrespective of the actual share price of the 
Public Shares at the time of the delivery. Outs-
tanding virtual options not vested and exercisa-
ble as of the Transaction closing will vest and 
become exercisable to the same conditions and 
will be settled in Class A Shares upon future 
exercise by the option holder. See Note 31 - Sha-
re-based payments for further information.

The acquisition of Lakestar SPAC is not identified as 
a business combination according to IFRS 3 since 
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Lakestar SPAC itself was a shell company with no 
business. Instead, the transaction is considered be-
ing similar to a reverse acquisition under IFRS 3 and 
falls within the scope of IFRS 2 with Lakestar SPAC 
providing HTG GmbH with the service of making 
HTG public (“listing service”). As at Closing date, the 
fair value of HTG GmbH’s shares and warrants that 
were deemed to be issued to Lakestar SPAC amount-
ed to EUR 235.7 million, based on the initial closing 
price of shares and warrants of HTG SE according to 
the table below. As a result, Class A Warrants issued 
by Lakestar SPAC and not redeemable are reclassi-
fied as equity instruments under IFRS 2. In return, 
HTG received Lakestar SPAC’s listing service and its 
net assets which mainly consisted of remaining cash 
net of redemptions and liabilities related to the war-
rants of EUR 165.3 million, resulting in a total non-
cash listing service expense of EUR 70.4 million to 
General and administrative expenses: 

Fair Value in 
EUR million

Class A Shares (19.8 million shares 
at EUR 8.98 per Share) 177.6

Class A Warrants (9.2 million warrants 
at EUR 0.8 per warrant) 7.3

Class B2 Shares (2.3 million shares 
at EUR 8.45 per share) 19.4

Class B3 Shares (2.3 million shares 
at EUR 8.23 per share) 18.9

Class B Warrants (5.3 million warrants 
at EUR 2.34 per warrant) 12.5

HTG GmbH’s shares and warrants 
deemed issued 235.7

Less:

Lakestar SPAC’s net assets  165.3 

IFRS 2 non-cash listing service expense  70.4 

The expense for the warrants was determined on the 
basis of the fair value at the date of the Transaction. 
The fair value was derived by applying the Black-
Scholes option pricing model where the expected 
volatility was derived from the historical volatility of 
peer group companies and based on historical stock 
returns adjusted by individual leverage ratios.

Lakestar SPAC’s net assets at Closing September 21, 
2021 (proceeds of EUR 75.0 million from PIPE financ-
ing not included):

Fair Value in EUR million

Cash 272.1

Redemption payable (100.6)

Advances from Sponsors 
to be repaid (2.2)

Accruals and trade creditors (4.0)

Net assets  165.3 

As part of the public share offering a total of 10.1 mil-
lion shares with an agreed price of EUR 10 were re-
deemed and are currently held as treasury shares. 
The redemption payable of EUR 100.6 million was 
still outstanding at Closing, but has been paid sub-
sequently prior to December 31, 2021.

After all redemptions the resulting ownership struc-
ture was as follows:

Ownership in shares Equity%

HomeToGo Investors 80,793,077 69

Lakestar SPAC Public 
Shareholders 17,437,338 15

Lakestar SPAC 
Founders 6,927,628 6

VSOP Holders 4,210,905 4

PIPE Investors 7,500,000 6

116.868.948 100

As part of the recapitalization HTG GmbH’s share 
capital was exchanged for shares in Lakestar of EUR 
1,551,227, being the 80.8 million shares, shown in the 
table above, at a par value of EUR 0.0192. This capital 
reorganization was shown as an increase within 
share capital by EUR 1.4 million from the old share 
capital (par value of EUR 1) before Closing of EUR 
112,951 by reducing share premium. HTG Group has 
decided not to adjust the share capital in the com-
paratives and to show the capital reorganization only 
in the current financial year. 

A total of EUR 1.8 million were capitalized within eq-
uity as transaction costs resulting from the de-SPAC 
transaction.
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SECRA GmbH and SECRA Bookings GmbH
On August 23, 2021 HS Holiday Search GmbH ac-
quired shares in SECRA GmbH and in SECRA Book-
ings GmbH (together “SECRA”) which led to an 
ownership of 19% in each entity. The consideration 
payable for SECRA GmbH was EUR 3.0 million and 
for SECRA Bookings GmbH EUR 190 thousand. 
Thereof EUR 3.1 million have been paid and EUR 150 
thousand being a holdback amount will be due the 
following year. 

Both acquisitions are accounted for under IFRS 9 as 
investments at fair value through profit and loss. 
With the signing of the sales and purchase agree-
ment and the additional shareholders’ agreement 
HTG also obtained the call option to acquire the re-
maining 81% of SECRA in two years time at its fair 
market value at the time of exercise. Furthermore, 
HTG also obtained a perpetual put option to sell all 
acquired shares at a price of EUR 1 back to SECRA. 
The sellers obtained a perpetual call option to buy 
back the shares held by HTG at the same conditions 
of previous transfers as well as the right of offer 
which gives the Seller the option to offer the 81% of 
shares to HTG. Please refer to note 22 - Other finan-
cial assets (current and non-current) for further infor-
mation regarding the investment.

7. Critical accounting judgments and key 
estimates and assumptions
The preparation of HTG’s consolidated financial state-
ments in accordance with IFRS requires management 
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, 
assets and liabilities, and the accompanying note dis-
closures and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. 
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates 
could result in outcomes that require a material ad-
justment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities 
affected in future periods.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are subject 
to continuous review.

Below is a summary of the critical measurement pro-
cesses and the key assumptions used by manage-
ment in applying accounting policies with regard to 
the future, and which could have significant effects 
on carrying amounts stated in the consolidated fi-
nancial statements, or for which there is a risk that 

significant adjustments may be made to the carrying 
amount of assets and liabilities in subsequent years.

a. Critical accounting judgements
Classification of Class A Warrants and B Warrants
As part of the SPAC transaction HTG took over pub-
lic warrants which were issued by Lakestar SPAC pri-
or to the Transaction that is treated as an equity-set-
tled share-based payment arrangement under IFRS 
2, rather than a financial liability under IFRS 9. Public 
warrants are classified under IFRS 2 as equity since 
they are considered part of the issuance of equity 
instruments to acquire Lakestar SPAC. Since the ex-
ercise period after the closing of the SPAC transac-
tion has lapsed whereby the warrant holders were 
able to redeem their warrants for cash, the Group 
assessed that there is no potential present obliga-
tion to settle in cash. In addition, through public 
communications and publications warrant holders 
should not expect to be able to redeem the warrants 
in cash nor does the Group have any established his-
tory of settlement of these instruments in cash. The 
classification of warrants of this kind has been sub-
mitted to regulators of the IFRS Interpretations Com-
mittee (“IFRS IC”) for clarification. This committee 
will have its first deliberations in March 2022. De-
pending on the outcome of the IFRS IC’s delibera-
tions, HTG may need to change its accounting poli-
cy and retrospectively change its accounting for the 
de-SPAC when a final agenda decision is available. If 
warrants are considered to be acquired they would 
continue to be financial liabilities. The IFRS 2 listing 
service expense would not change.

Internally generated intangible assets
For individual software modules, management 
sometimes applies judgement to determine the 
point in time where research can be separated from 
development activities. In connection with manage-
ment judgement about the future economic benefit 
of software modules, the Group uses assumptions 
regarding the future performance of the software 
modules concerned and their implications on the 
Group’s business activities.

Government Grants
In 2020, HTG received governments grants recog-
nized as income for investment in new employ-
ments. The granting of subsidies is subject to the 
condition that investments are made in permanent 
jobs and that the payroll exceeds a certain amount in 
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the grant period from August 19, 2019 to February 18, 
2023. The management of HTG assumes that the 
conditions of reaching a certain level of person-
nel-related expenses are and will be met with rea-
sonable assurance. Therefore, HTG recognized the 
full receivable amounting to EUR 1.9 million under 
the grant in 2020 from which EUR 0.5 million have 
been received and EUR 1.1 million recognized as oth-
er income until December 31, 2021 from which EUR 
0.7 million other income relate to the fiscal year 2021.

In 2021, HTG applied for a subsidy amounting to 
EUR 8.593 thousand as part of the Covid-19 aid by Ger-
man State for a defined period in 2020 and 2021 that is 
fully taxable, but does not need to be repaid. The deci-
sion on the grant by the authority was received subse-
quent to December 31, 2021. Since the conditions for 
the grant were at the time of balance sheet date the 
application HTG, considers that there was reasonable 
assurance to receive the grant and recorded a receiva-
ble as of December 31, 2021. The gain from the grant is 
presented in other income as well.

SECRA GmbH and SECRA Bookings GmbH
On August 23, 2021 HS Holiday Search GmbH en-
tered into a sale and purchase agreement for 19% of 
the share capital in SECRA GmbH and SECRA Book-
ings, respectively. The additional shareholders’ 
agreement provides for various consent rights as 
well as informational rights. The Group is also holder 
of a call option to acquire all outstanding shares in 
both companies at fair market value, that is currently 
not exercisable. The management of HTG concludes 
that neither control, joint control nor a significant in-
fluence exists until December 31, 2021. The Group is 
accounting for the investment under IFRS 9 in the 
category fair value through profit and loss.

AMIVAC SAS
On Oct. 27, 2021 the Group entered into a sale and 
purchase agreement (“SPA”) for 100% of the shares in 
AMIVAC for EUR 4.15 million. The closing date is Jan-
uary 1, 2022. As all rights granted for the period be-
tween the signing of the SPA and Jan. 1, 2022 must 
be considered protective, the Group will only gain 
control over AMIVAC SAS with the transfer of the 
shares on Jan. 1, 2022.

b. Key estimates and assumptions
Incremental borrowing rate
The incremental borrowing rate for lease accounting 
is determined based on interest rates from various 
external financial data adjusted to reflect the terms 
of the lease and the nature of the leased asset. For 
additional information with respect to extension op-
tions refer to Note 4.

Impairment of goodwill and trademark
At least annually, or when circumstances indicate a 
potential impairment event may have occurred, HTG 
assesses whether its goodwill and trademark are im-
paired. The CGUs which resulted from the business 
combinations were also tested for impairment with 
the Covid-19 pandemic being a triggering event. Key 
assumptions used in HTG’s impairment assessments 
of these assets include forecasted cash flows of the 
business, estimated discount rate, and future growth 
rates. Management uses internal and external data 
to forecast these key assumptions. This includes 
consideration of any impact of the Covid-19 pan-
demic and of any impact of the ongoing discussion 
about climate change. Refer to Note 19 – Intangible 
assets and goodwill. 

Litigation
HTG Group has set up a provision for a litigation that 
could not be settled by the date the consolidated 
financial statements of HTG Group were authorized 
for issue. The provision is measured using the calcu-
lated expected value of a performed scenario analy-
sis by weighing the possible scenarios with their 
probability. Due to the inherent uncertainty of a liti-
gation the possible financial risk might be higher 
than the expected value. Refer to Note 26.

Covid-19 pandemic
Existing protective measures put in place in 2020, 
such as social distancing, the requirement to wear 
face masks in public institutions, or contact restric-
tion regimes are slowly being released across Eu-
rope. Despite the lifting of these restrictions, there is 
still a possibility that the pandemic can resurface, for 
example, in the form of new viral variants and due to 
the low efficiency of existing vaccinations against 
those variants. It can be estimated that normalcy 
with unlimited travel will only be attainable in the 
medium term. HTG will continue to adapt flexibly to 
any new development on short notice, as it has done 
since the epidemic began in 2020. As part of the  
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Covid-19 aids by German State HTG has applied for 
and received a grant of EUR 8.593 thousand that 
does not need to be repaid.

Fair value determination for share-based payment 
arrangements and derivative financial liabilities
Share-based payment arrangements
The Group has adopted an equity-settled share-
based compensation plan, pursuant to which certain 
participants are granted virtual shares of the Com-
pany. The grants made under this plan are account-
ed for in accordance with the policy as stated in Note 
31 - Share-based payments. The total amount to be 
expensed is determined by reference to the fair val-
ue of the options granted, which is subject to esti-
mates over time. The fair value is measured at the 
date of grant using an Option Pricing model as fur-
ther explained in Note 31 - Share-based payments. 
Due to the lack of quoted market prices prior to the 
Transaction, the Group has determined the fair val-
ue for the measurement of the equity-settled trans-
actions at the grant date with assistance of an exter-
nal appraiser, considering certain assumptions 
relating to the volatility of stock price, the determina-
tion of an appropriate risk-free interest rate and ex-
pected dividends. The share price input is based on 
the company’s valuation.

Embedded derivatives
Embedded derivatives resulting from the split ac-
counting of convertible loans are measured at fair 
value, with changes in those fair values being recog-
nized in profit or loss. In order to value these various 
instruments, the Company makes assumptions and 
estimates concerning variables such as discount 
rates, probability of a qualifying event taking place 
and the fair value of the Company’s shares which in-
cludes assumptions in future cash flows, discount 
rates, expected volatility and risk-free rate. The as-
sumptions of future outcomes, and other sources of 
estimation uncertainty concerning the determina-
tion of key inputs to the valuation models, are based 
on management’s best assessment using the knowl-
edge available, management’s historical experiences 
as well as other factors that are considered to be 
relevant. The estimates and assumptions are re-
viewed on an ongoing basis.

8. Segment and geographic information
In line with the management approach, the operat-
ing segment was identified on the basis of HTG’s in-
ternal reporting and how the CODM assesses the 
performance of the business. On this basis, HTG 
identifies as a single operating and therefore the 
consolidated financial information represents the 
segment reporting.

Assets are not allocated to the business segment for 
internal reporting purposes. 

In the reporting period two single customers ac-
counted for more than 10% of HTG’s revenues:

Year ended December 31,

(in EUR thousands) 2021 2020

Customer 1  19,114  9,065

Customer 2  30,534  23,498

 49,648 32,563

In prior year one additional customer accounted for 
more than 10% of the revenues.

Revenues from external customers can be attributed 
to the entity’s country of domicile in the amount of 
EUR 30.9 million, 2020: EUR 20.3 million and to all for-
eign countries in total EUR 63.9 million, 2020: EUR 
45.5 million. Due to the reverse acquisition of HTG SE 
(formerly Lakestar SPAC) by HTG GmbH Germany is 
still treated as the entity’s country of domicile.

Non-current assets other than financial instruments 
and deferred tax assets located in the entity’s coun-
try of domicile amounting to EUR 50.5 million, 2020: 
EUR 24.4 million and in all foreign countries amount-
ing to EUR 34.6 million, 2020: EUR 33.6 million. 
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9. Revenues
HTG recognizes its revenues as follows:

Year ended December 31,

(in EUR thousands) 2021 2020

Revenues recognized at a 
point in time

CPA  65,650  48,695 

thereof:

CPA onsite  31,523  14,382 

CPA offsite  34,127  34,313 

CPC and CPL  20,401  10,808 

Other –  654 

Revenues recognized over time

Subscriptions  8,788  6,352 

 94,839  65,855 

CPA onsite reflect revenues from bookings made di-
rectly on HTG platforms while CPA offsite revenues 
are generated on Partner’s platforms.

For CPA and CPC revenues, typically the payment 
occurs shortly after the performance obligation is 
satisfied. However, a few customers paid in advance 
leading to a certain amount of fees which are pre-
sented under contract liabilities. Subscription reve-
nues are generally collected before the performance 
obligation is satisfied over time leading to a high 
balance of contract liabilities, which is subsequently 
released over the performance period.

The 2021 increase in revenues is explained both by 
increased activity in travel following the gradual re-
lease of measures aimed at containing the spread of 
the coronavirus, increased brand awareness as well as 
additional revenues from acquisition of Smoobu. 

Revenues recognized in the financial years 2021 and 
2020 from contract liabilities were EUR 2.9 million and 
EUR 11.9 million respectively, the change in contract 
liabilities goes back to updated invoice terms with 
some of our customers during prior period. Substan-
tially all amounts recognized from contract liabilities 
are recognized as revenue within the subsequent 
year. Refer to Note 29 - Other liabilities (current and 
non-current) for further information on contract liabil-
ities. No information is provided about remaining per-
formance obligations as of December 31, 2021 and 

December 31, 2020 since all performance obligations 
are originally expected to be satisfied within one year 
or less, as allowed by IFRS 15.121. 

HTG holds trade receivables from contracts with 
partners as of December 31, 2021 of EUR 9.8 million, 
December 31, 2020 of EUR 5.2 million. These have 
been impaired individually by EUR 1.0 million, 2020: 
EUR 0.5 million. 

10. Cost of revenues

Year ended December 31,

(in EUR thousands) 2021 2020

Hosting and domains  3,003  2,154

Depreciation and
amortization  866  285

Other  467  353

 4,336  2,792

Hosting and domains comprise the expenses for 
server hosting services and the expenses for domain 
subscriptions. Depreciation and amortization con-
tains the amortization of the internally generated in-
tangible assets.

11. Product development and operations

Year ended December 31,

(in EUR thousands) 2021 2020

Personnel-related expenses  9,435  6,747

Depreciation and 
amortization  785  721

Licence expenses  878  581

Software expenses  4,223  4,056

Share-based compensation  8,260  3,170

Other  145 –

 23,726  15,275

Personnel-related expenses for product develop-
ment and operations comprise expenses for the 
workforce for development and maintenance of the 
platform and system infrastructure as well as cus-
tomer service. Depreciation and amortization relate 
to the respective assets attributed to this workforce.
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Other includes overhead costs directly attributable to 
the Product development and operations function.

12. Marketing and sales 

Year ended December 31,

(in EUR thousands) 2021 2020

Performance marketing  81,173  40,517

Personnel-related expenses  5,289  4,202

Depreciation and 
amortization  2,559  2,111

Share-based compensation  5,700  4,623

Other  774  782

 95,495  52,235

Performance marketing relates to paid marketing 
services, search engine marketing (“SEM”), content 
marketing and other forms of inbound marketing as 
well as on- and off-site search engine optimization. 
Performance marketing activities are scaled to 
bringing demand to the Group’s booking platforms 
and converting website visitors to users who make 
bookings. The significant increase in 2021 in perfor-
mance marketing expenses as spend was increased 
across all markets. In addition, there was stronger 
competition compared to prior year leading to high-
er bids and therefore higher expense. Besides, addi-
tional expenses incurred as HTG specifically target-
ed travelers to download the HTG app. This 
investment supported the strong growth in CPA 
onsite revenues.

13. General and administrative

Year ended December 31,

(in EUR thousands) 2021 2020

Personnel-related expenses  6,803  4,613

Depreciation and 
amortization  480  491

Consulting expenses  13,079  1,643

License expenses  553  178

Expenses for third-
party-services  1,829  1,155

Share-based compensation 88,038  3,395

Other 1,969  1,617

 112,751  13,092

2021 expenses for share-based compensation con-
tain a non-cash expense for the listing service of EUR 
70.4 million incurred as part of the accounting for 
the Transaction, see section 6 – Business Combina-
tions and other acquisitions for further details.

The increase in personnel-related expenses is in line 
with the growth of the Group’s number of employ-
ees, see note 18 - Personnel expenses for further de-
tails. 

Consulting expenses are significantly up compared 
to the prior year due to the number of external ser-
vice providers involved during the preparation of the 
Transaction. 

The increase in expenses for third-party-services is 
related to the Group’s cooperation with providers of 
temporary staff as part of foreign operations. 

Other have mainly increased due to the increase in 
valuation allowances of trade receivables.

14. Other income and expenses

Other income includes foreign exchange gains of 
EUR 1.6 million (2020: EUR 0.4 million) and govern-
ment grant related income in 2021 of EUR 9.3 million 
(2020: EUR 0.4 million). EUR 8.6 million relate to in-
come from a grant that is part of the Covid-19 aids by 
the German State. The increase in foreign exchange 
gains goes back to an increase in USD denominated 
bank balances.

There are future conditions or other contingencies 
attached to the expense related grants. HTG did not 
benefit directly from any other forms of government 
assistance.

Other expenses include foreign exchange losses of 
EUR 0.6 million (2020: EUR 0.7 million).
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15. Financial result, net

Year ended December 31,

(in EUR thousands) 2021 2020

Finance income

Interest income  1 –

Other  18 –

Income from remeasurement 
to fair value  2,814 –

Finance expenses

Interest expenses  3,644  2,000 

Expenses from 
remeasurement to fair value  34,672  5,471 

Interest expenses on leases  517  311 

Other  130  124 

Financial result, net  (36,131)  (7,906)

Income from remeasurement to fair value relates to 
the remeasurement of the embedded derivatives 
resulting from the convertible loans. Both, income 
and expenses from remeasurement to fair value re-
lating to the embedded derivatives amounting to 
EUR 34.7 million (2020: EUR 5.5 million) and interest 
expenses in relation to the convertible loan in the 
amount of EUR 1.9 million (2020: EUR 1.0 million) are 
non-cash items. Refer to Note 26 - Convertible loans 
for a breakdown of those expenses. 

16. Income taxes

During the financial year 2020, HTG’s tax rate was 
30.175%, consisting of the German corporate tax rate 
of 15.0%, a 5.5% solidarity surcharge on the corporate 
tax rate and a trade tax rate of 14.35%. As a result of 
the de-SPAC transaction and incorporation of the 
HTG SE the Group became subject to taxation under 
the laws of Luxembourg. Therefore, the overall tax 
rate changed to 24.94% in 2021, consisting of corpo-
rate tax rate of 17%, a 7% solidary surcharge on the 
corporate tax rate and a municipal business tax rate 
of 6.75%. The recognition of deferred tax assets 
(“DTA”) on temporary differences consist of the exer-
cised convertible loans in the amount of EUR 9.5 mil-
lion. Refer to Note 26 – Convertible loans.

Year ended December 31,

(in EUR thousands) 2021 2020

Current tax  (207)  (40)

Deferred tax  5  1,356 

Income tax  (202)  1,316 

The following table shows the reconciliation be-
tween the expected and the reported income tax 
expense:

(in EUR thousands) 2021 2020

Loss before tax (166,587) (25,122)

Tax at the expected group 
tax rate (24.94%, 2020: 30.18%) 41,547 7,581

Tax effects of:

Deviations from group tax 
rate 24.94% (2020: 30.18%) 7,957 40

Virtual option plan 17,498 (3,376)

Listing service fee 
de-SPAC transaction (21,083) –

Permanent differences (3) (113)

Non-deductible expenses (366) (92)

Non-recognition of DTA 
on current year tax losses (36,334) (3,612)

Non-recognition of DTA 
on temporary differences (9,378) 939

IRE Leasing and 
dismantling obligation (125) (61)

Other tax effects 86 10

Total income tax expense (202) 1,316

Effective total income 
tax rate (%) 0.12% (5.24)%
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17. Earnings (loss) per share
Basic earnings per share:

Year ended December 31,

2021 2020

Net income (loss) for the 
period (in EUR thousands)  (166,789)  (23,806)

Weighted average number 
of ordinary shares issued  79,619,166  66,681,774 

Total basic and diluted 
earnings per share 
attributable to the ordinary 
equity holders of the 
Company (in EUR)

 (2.09)  (0.36)

On July 14, 2021, HTG GmbH and Lakestar SPAC en-
tered into a BCA whereby Lakestar SPAC became 
the legal parent company of HTG GmbH for a contri-
bution and exchange of HTG GmbH shares for new 
Public Shares. On September 21, 2021 the Transac-
tion was closed. Refer to Note 6 - Business Combina-
tions and other acquisitions for further details.

As the business combination is accounted for as a 
reverse acquisition, the number of shares is adjusted 
to reflect the capital structure of the legal parent. In 
accordance with IAS 33.64, the calculation of the ba-
sic and diluted earnings per share for all periods pre-
sented must be adjusted retrospectively due to 
these changes.

The conversion ratio is calculated as the number of 
shares of the legal parent, 80,793,077 to the legal 
subsidiary, 112,951. Refer to Note 24 - Shareholder’s 
equity for an overview of the conversion and the dif-
ferent share classes.

For the calculation of diluted earnings per share, the 
share-based payment programs were considered. In 
accordance with IAS 33.58, settlement in ordinary 
shares was assumed for contracts where the Company 
has the option to settle in cash or in ordinary shares. 
These potential ordinary shares were not taken into ac-
count, because the effect on loss per share would have 
been antidilutive. As a result, basic earnings per share 
corresponds to diluted earnings per share.

Number of potential ordinary shares:

As of December 31,

2021 2020

Convertible loan –  337,900 

Share-based payment 
programs  33,868  21,612 

 33,868  359,512 

18. Personnel expenses

The average number of employees is presented below:

Year ended December 31,

(Number of employees) 2021 2020

female  161  129 

male  211  140 

Total  372  269 

Employee benefits expense are composed of the 
items as shown in the following table:

Year ended December 31,

(in EUR thousands) 2021 2020

Wages and salaries  14,258  13,091 

Social security expenses  4,964  2,359 

thereof: 
Retirement benefit costs  6  17 
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19. Intangible assets and goodwill

(in EUR thousands) Goodwill
Trade-

marks and 
domains

Software 
and 

licenses

Internally 
generated 

software

Customer 
rela-

tion-ships

Order 
Backlog

Intangible 
assets

Cost

As of January 1, 2020 25,654 7,056 448 2,931 10,105 1,249 47,444

Additions – – 100 – – 100

Additions from internal 
development – – – 1,369 – – 1,369

Disposals – 23 – – – – 23

As of December 31, 2020 25,654 7,033 548 4,300 10,105 1,249 48,890

Accumulated amortization and 
impairment

As of January 1, 2020 – 912 92 2,021 990 1,249 5,264

Amortization charge of the year – 786 17 285 990 – 2,078

Disposals – 23 – – – – 23

As of December 31, 2020 – 1,675 109 2,306 1,980 1,249 7,319

Carrying amount

As of January 1, 2020 25,654 6,144 357 910 9,115 – 42,179

As of December 31, 2020 25,654 5,358 439 1,994 8,125 – 41,570

Cost

As of January 1, 2021 25,654 7,033 548 4,300 10,105 1,249 48,890

Additions – – 1 – – – 1

Additions from business 
combinations 14,664 1,849 2,475 – 2,328 – 21,317

Additions from internal 
development – – – 1,545 – – 1,545

As of December 31, 2021 40,318 8,882 3,024 5,845 12,433 1,249 71,752

Accumulated amortization and 
impairment

As of January 1, 2021 – 1,675 109 2,306 1,980 1,249 7,319

Amortization charge of the year – 828 193 867 1,184 – 3,072

As of December 31, 2021 – 2,503 302 3,173 3,164 1,249 10,391

Carrying amount

As of January 1, 2021 25,654 5,358 439 1,994 8,125 – 41,570

As of December 31, 2021 40,318 6,379 2,722 2,672 9,270 – 61,361
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Amortization in relation to trademarks and domains 
and customer relationships are presented within mar-
keting sales expenses, while order backlog and inter-
nally generated software amortization is presented 
within cost of revenues.

Material intangible assets comprise trademarks from 
Casamundo of EUR 2.5 million (2020: EUR 2.1 million), 
Smoobu of EUR 1.7 million (2020: EUR 0.0 million), 
Feries of EUR 1.3 million (2020: EUR 1.4 million), Esca-
pada of EUR 0.7 million (2020: EUR 0.7 million), as well 
as customer relationships from Feries of EUR 2.6 mil-
lion (2020: EUR 2.9 million), Smoobu of EUR 2.1 million 
(2020: EUR 0.0 million), Casamundo of EUR 1.4 million 
(2020: EUR 1.6 million) and Escapada of EUR 3.1 million 
(2020: EUR 3.5 million). The intangible assets were 
identified as part of the business combination in the 
corresponding period. Both, customer relationships 
and trademarks from all four acquisitions have a re-
maining amortization period of 6-9 years as of De-
cember 31, 2021. Refer to Note 6 - Business Combina-
tions and other acquisitions for further information.

The recoverable amount of the group of CGUs is de-
termined based on the value in use. The key assump-
tions for determining the value in use are those re-
garding the cash flows, discount rates and growth 
rates. The values assigned to the key assumptions 
represent management’s assessment of future trends 
in the relevant industries and have been based on his-
torical data from both external and internal sources. 

The future cash flows were estimated with the under-
lying assumption that the Covid-19 pandemic opened 
up an increased market potential for vacation rentals 
as more traveler used vacation rental for the first time 
to avoid hotel accommodations. These travelers saw 
the benefits of vacation rental and thus, there is the 
assumption for a sustainable positive trend in the up-
coming years. In addition, the pandemic has provided 
an additional market potential for Working from Home 
(WFH) away or “workation”. Travelers are enabled by 
their employers to extend their holidays and to work 
for example a week ahead of the actual holidays or a 
week after. Thus, travelers are staying in a holiday area 
for three weeks instead of two weeks. In addition, 
management sees travelers becoming longer term 
rental customers, for example staying over the winter 
abroad instead of for example in Germany. Before the 
pandemic this was not an option for the majority of 
employees. These effects, combined with the Group’s 

ambitious measures to grow the business as an OTA, 
are driving a more optimistic business plan post Cov-
id-19 and therefore higher revenues and EBITDA. More-
over, the increasing awareness in respect of the eco-
logical impact of air travels contributes to the general 
trend to prefer domestic or nearby vacation destina-
tions. With its innovative platforms and an increasing 
number of users and website visitors, the Management 
Board believes that HTG is well placed with its offerings 
to meet that expected change in travelling behavior 
and therefore expects that it will be able to achieve its 
growth ambition. On that basis, the Group expects sig-
nificant double-digit growth over the next years. The 
cash flow projections are based on a detailed business 
plan for 5 years. Due to the high growth stage of HTG, 
the business plan was prolonged by four further plan-
ning years (based on yearly assumptions regarding the 
net sales and margin development) to reflect a step-
by-step declining growth of the Group until the termi-
nal value.

Management estimates discount rates as a pre-tax 
measure estimated based on the historical industry 
average weighted-average cost of capital. The WACC 
takes into account cost of equity and cost of debt, 
weighted according to the portion of debt and equity 
in the Group’s target capital structure. The cost of eq-
uity and cost of debt are derived from the expected 
return an investor would require for an equity invest-
ment or debt investment with similar risk. Seg-
ment-specific risks of the travel market are incorpo-
rated by applying a beta factor. The beta factor is 
evaluated annually based on publicly available market 
data of comparable companies. Adjustments to the 
discount rate are made to reflect a pre-tax discount 
rate. The additional basis was a market risk premium 
and the risk-free interest rate.

The growth rates are based on industry growth fore-
casts. Management has considered the upper end of 
commonly applied growth rates to be appropriate 
given the development stage of HTG and the planned 
growth for the upcoming years.

Financial Year

2021 2020

Discount rate 
(pre-tax)  14.9%  14.8%

Growth rate  2.0%  2.0%
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During the periods presented, no impairment was 
recognized. No change in a key assumption consid-
ered possible by management would cause the car-

rying amount to exceed the recoverable amount. 
Even if the free cash flows were to decrease by 70% 
this would not result in any impairment.

20. Property, plant and equipment

(in EUR thousands)
Right-of-
Use-Real 

Estate

Right-of-
Use-Asset 

Car Leasing

Leasehold 
improve-

ments

Other 
equipment, 
factory and 

office 
equipment

Total 
property, 
plant and 

equipment

Cost

As of January 1, 2020 3,078 18 331 675 4,102

Additions 13,435 – 1,773 149 15,357

Disposals 1 – – 175 176

As of December 31, 2020 16,512 18 2,104 649 19,284

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

As of January 1, 2020 955 14 132 350 1,450

Depreciation charge of the year 1,266 5 101 158 1,529

Disposals – – – 109 109

As of December 31, 2020 2,221 18 232 399 2,870

Carrying amount

As of January 1, 2020 2,123 4 199 325 2,652

As of December 31, 2020 14,291 – 1,872 250 16,413

Cost

As of January 1, 2021 16,512 18 2,104 649 19,284

Additions 19 – 54 324 396

Additions from business combinations – 27 – 10 37

Disposals (32) – – (23) (55)

As of December 31, 2021 16,499 45 2,158 960 19,662

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

As of January 1, 2021 2,221 18 232 399 2,870

Depreciation charge of the year 1,304 6 138 170 1,618

Disposals – – – (22) (22)

As of December 31, 2021 3,525 24 370 547 4,466

Carrying amount

As of January 1, 2021 14,291 – 1,872 250 16,413

As of December 31, 2021 12,974 22 1,788 412 15,197
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Expenses on leases accounted for under the low val-
ue exemption amounted to EUR 8 thousand in the 
financial year 2021 (2020: EUR 14 thousand) and 
short-term lease exemption amounted to EUR 270 
thousand in the financial year 2021 (2020: EUR 16 
thousand).

The total cash outflow for leases amounted to EUR 
1,512 thousand in 2021 (2020: EUR 905 thousand). It 
includes the payment of the principal amounts, in-
terest and short-term and low value leases.

Leasing activity during the reporting periods pre-
sented is comprised of office buildings and cars. 
The most significant contract, which commenced in 
2020, is the office building in Berlin, also resulting in 
significant dismantling obligations.

Extension options are assumed to be reasonably cer-
tain to be exercised for all leases and are therefore 
considered within the calculation of the rights-of-
use assets and lease liabilities.

21. Trade and other receivables 
(current and non-current)
Current trade and other receivables consist of:

December 31,

(in EUR thousands) 2021 2020

Trade receivables  9,755  5,142 

Other receivables 9,237  505 

18,992  5,647 

The increase in trade receivable is related to the 
growth in business activity and corresponds to the 
increase in revenues in 2021.

Non-current other receivables consist of:

December 31,

(in EUR thousands) 2021 2020

Other receivables  814  1,414

 814  1,414

Current and non-current other receivables in finan-
cial year 2021 include receivables from government 
grants of EUR 10.0 million (2020: EUR 1.9 million).

22. Other financial assets 
(current and non-current)

Other current financial assets consist of:

December 31,

(in EUR thousands) 2021 2020

Deposits  1,995  361 

Money market fund  99,965  188 

101,960  549 

The current portion of other financial assets contains 
an investment into a short-term money market fund 
accounted for at fair value through profit and loss.

Other non-current financial assets consist of:

December 31,

(in EUR thousands) 2021 2020

Deposits  1,502  1,485

Financial asset at fair value 
through profit or loss  3,597 –

Payments in advance for 
business combination  3,150 –

 8,249  1,485

Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss rep-
resents the fair value of the Company’s investment 
as of the balance sheet date in SECRA. Payments in 
advance for business combination contains a pay-
ment in advance for the acquisition of a new subsid-
iary, refer to section 36 - Subsequent events after the 
reporting period for further details.
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23. Other assets 
(current and non-current)

Other current assets consist of:

December 31,

(in EUR thousands) 2021 2020

Other non-financial assets  1,695  24

Other tax receivables 1,253  379

Prepaid expenses  2,399  843

5,347  1,246

Other non-financial assets have mainly increased 
due to a guaranteed prepayment for services related 
to a new server hosting agreement that do not relate 

to a specific point in time in the future. Prepaid ex-
penses have increased following the closing of new 
IT infrastructure agreements with prepayments.
Other non-current assets consist of:

December 31,

(in EUR thousands) 2021 2020

Other tax receivables  187  53

Prepaid expenses  65  15

Other non-financial assets  6 –

 258  68

24. Shareholder’s equity
The different shareholder classes can be summarized as follows:

HomeToGo GmbH shares (1 EUR nominal value)
HomeToGo SE shares

(0.0192 EUR nominal value)

Common 
Shares

Series 
A 

Shares

Series 
B 

Shares

Series 
C 

Shares

Series 
C1 

Shares

Series 
C2 

Shares

Series 
C3 

Shares

Series 
C3/
Fall 

2018

Series 
C4

Class A 
Shares

Class B2 
Shares

Class B3 
Shares

As of 
Jan. 1, 2020

36,736 15,488 13,618 10,030 645 5,160 7,837 3,709

As of 
Dec. 31, 2020

36,736 15,488 13,618 10,030 645 5,160 7,837 3,709

As of 
Jan. 1, 2021

36,736 15,488 13,618 10,030 645 5,160 7,837 3,709

Conversion 
of convertible 
loans

18,438

Conversion 
of earn outs

1,290

Capital 
reorganization

-36,736 -15,488 -13,618 -10,030 -645 -5,160 -7,837 -4,999 -18,438 80,793,077

Shares issued 
in recapitali-
zation, net of 
redemptions

30,051,667 2,291,667 2,291,666

Shares 
issuance 
for PIPE 
financing

7,500,000

Share-based 
compensation

4,210,905

As of 
Dec. 31, 2021

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 122,555,649 2,291,667 2,291,666
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Common Shares and Series A through Series C3/Fall 
2018 shares are non-par value shares and have been 
fully paid since 2018. Holders of these shares are en-
titled to the same dividends rights as declared from 
time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at 
general meetings of the Company. In general, dis-
posal of shares requires the Company’s approval.

On September 21, 2021 HTG GmbH and Lakestar SPAC 
(now HTG SE) consummated the BCA which led to the 
listing on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange and a capital re-
organization of the Group. See Note 6 – Business Com-
binations and other acquisitions for further information. 

Class A through to Class B3 Shares in HTG SE are non-
par value shares and have been fully paid. Class A Shares 
are publicly traded. As part of the public share offering a 
total of 10.1 million Class A Shares were redeemed 
against capital reserves and are currently held as treas-
ury shares by the Company. Class B1 to B3 Shares are 
neither redeemable nor transferable, assignable or sella-
ble other than to the members of the Management or 
Supervisory Board. Holders of Class A to B3 Shares are 
entitled to the same dividend and liquidation rights and 
one vote per share at general meetings.

As part of the consummation of the de-SPAC transac-
tion all Class B1 Shares were automatically converted 
into Class A Shares at a ratio one for one. All Class B2 
Shares will automatically convert into Class A Shares 
at a ratio one for one, once the closing price of the 
Class A Shares for any ten trading days within a thirty 
trading day period exceeds EUR 12. Similarly, all Class 
B3 Shares will automatically convert into Class A 
Shares at a ratio one for one, once the closing price of 
the Class A Shares for any ten trading days within a 
thirty trading day period exceeds EUR 14. There is no 
expiry date for the conversion of Class B2 Shares or 
Class B3 Shares into Class A Shares.

Proceeds entitlement of share classes in
Liquidity Event
HomeToGo SE shares
In the event of a liquidation of the Company the sur-
plus resulting from the realization of the assets and 
the payment of liabilities shall be distributed equally 
amongst the shareholders.

HomeToGo GmbH shares (until Closing)
If proceeds obtained by the Company in a liquidity 
event or exit event are distributed to the shareholders 

or in case of a liquidation of the Company, the holders 
of the Series A through Series C3/Fall 2018 shares re-
ceive a dividend and liquidation preference in com-
parison to the common shares, whereas each share 
class has an individual liquidation preference. Liquidi-
ty Events are thereby a sale of 50% or more of the in-
terest in HTG in a single transaction or a series of relat-
ed transactions, the transfer 50% or more of all assets 
of the group in a single transaction or a series of relat-
ed transactions and the liquidation of the Company 
or HTG. The distribution of proceeds from these cas-
es for each shareholder would be determined accord-
ing to a multi-stage distribution mechanism. In each 
stage the respective amount to be distributed to a 
certain share class and its allocation among the hold-
ers of the respective shares of that class is determined 
by the payments made by the holders of the respec-
tive share class in the past into the share capital and 
the capital reserves or the purchase price paid to the 
holders of the respective share class. If the (remain-
ing) proceeds to be distributed on the respective 
stages are not sufficient to cover the entire total in-
vestment, the remaining proceeds are distributed pro 
rata between the holders of the eligible share classes. 
The Stages are as follows:

Stage Eligible Share Class

1 Series C3/Fall 2018

2 Series C, Series C1, Series C2, Series C3

3 Series B, Series A

4 Series C3/Fall 2018, Series C, 
Series C1, Series C2, Series C3,
Series B, Series A, Common Shares

The distribution of the proceeds to shareholders are 
subject to a share class individual cap. In the event of 
any type of distribution made with respect to shares in 
the Company not being a distribution of proceeds 
from a Liquidity Event, such distribution shall reduce 
the amount of proceeds distributed on Stages 1 to 4 in 
a subsequent Liquidity Event accordingly.

In the event of an initial public offering or admission to 
a stock exchange, all shares should be reallocated 
amongst the shareholders so that the value of shares, 
based on the issue or first quoted price, equal the 
amount which would have been distributed according 
to the distribution mechanism as if all shares would 
have been sold. 
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Capital reserves
Subscribed capital and capital reserves include re-
ceived capital through the issuance of shares for cash 
or premium in kind. See above for share issuances dur-
ing the presented periods. 

Retained earnings
Retained earnings include the accumulated losses at-
tributable to the shareholders.

Foreign currency translation reserve
Exchange differences arising on translation of the for-
eign controlled entity are recognized in other compre-
hensive income, as described in note 4 b), and accu-
mulated in a separate reserve within equity. The 
cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss when 
the net investment is disposed of.

Share-based payments reserve
The share-based payments reserve is dedicated for 
share-based payment transactions. See Note 6 - 
Business Combinations and other acquisitions for 
information on the Mapify transaction, Note 6 - Busi-
ness Combinations and other acquisitions for infor-
mation on the overall Business Combination and 
Note 31 - Share-based payments for HTG GmbH’s 
granted virtual options and the exercises of such op-
tions in the course of the Business Combination. 
The Company does not reclassify amounts for vest-
ed awards to other equity items.

Issued Class A and Class B Warrants are also classi-
fied within the share-based payments reserve.

25. Borrowings
The following table provides an overview on the outstanding loans within the Group as of December 31, 2021:

Debtor
Loan Amount

(in EUR 
thousands)

Payout date Maturity Nominal 
interest rate

Carrying 
amount
(in EUR 

thousands)

HomeToGo GmbH  6,000 February 2020 December 2023  4.35%  3,000 

HomeToGo GmbH  10,000 February 2021 September 2025  2.12%  8,414 

Feries S.r.l.  400 August 2020 August 2025  1.50%  376 

Escapada Rural S.L.  500 May 2020 June 2023  2.50%  337 

Escapada Rural S.L.  300 May 2020 June 2025  1.55%  252 

26. Convertible loans 

As of December 31, 2020, HTG GmbH had EUR 33.1 
million in subordinated convertible loans outstanding. 
HTG GmbH issued additional subordinated converti-
ble loans in total of EUR 66.2 million between March 
12, 2021 and April 14, 2021 and all amounts were re-
ceived by June 4, 2021. All loans were fully converted 
into HTG GmbH shares prior to the Transaction and 
before being exchanged for HTG SE shares. See Note 
6 - Business Combinations and other acquisitions for 
further information. 

The convertible loans contained several embedded 
derivatives in the form of a conversion right at the end 
of maturity or in the context of a financing round as 
well as further prepayment features. The several em-
bedded derivatives are presented as a single instru-
ment due to their interdependency and are separat-

ed from the host contract. The final exercise price of 
the conversion right was EUR 7,932.46. 

December 31, 2021

(in EUR thousands) Financial 
liability

Derivative 
financial liability

Face value of loan issued 
before conversion  (146,259) –

Initial value  (72,213)  (31,940) 

Amortization effects 
by applying the effective 
interest method

 (38,275) –

Valuation effect derivative –  (2,041) 

Income / Expense from 
contractual modifications  1,862  (3,653) 

Conversion into equity  108,626  37,634 

Carrying amount – –
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December 31, 2020

(in EUR thousands) Financial 
liability

Derivative 
financial 

liability

Face value of loan issued  (38,437) –

Initial value  (31,348)  (6,979) 

Amortization effects by 
applying the effective 
interest method

 (3,646) –

Valuation effect derivative –  (1,834) 

Income / Expense from 
contractual modifications  1,862  (3,653) 

Carrying amount  (33,132)  (12,465)

27. Provisions (current and non-current)

2021

(in EUR thousands) Dismantling Other Total

Beginning of 
financial year  483  1,175  1,658 

Additions –  83  83 

Utilizations –  (451)  (451) 

End of financial 
year  483  807  1,290 

Thereof: 
non-current  431  751  1,182 

2020

(in EUR thousands) Dismantling Other Total

Beginning of 
financial year  112  362  474 

Additions  371  866  1,237 

Releases –  (6)  (6) 

Utilizations –  (48)  (48) 

End of financial 
year  483  1,175  1,658 

Thereof: 
non-current  431  127  558 

The provision for dismantling relates to HTGs dis-
mantling provisions for leasehold improvements. 
Other provisions include an onerous contract provi-
sion of EUR 305 thousand for a lease of an office 
which is not being used and could not be sublet as 
of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2021.

As of December 31, 2021 a provision of EUR 751 thou-
sand is recorded as other provision for a legal dis-
pute. Since the investigations and proceedings have 
not yet been completed, the complexity of the indi-
vidual influencing factors, the ongoing consultations 
with the authorities and other latent legal risks, 
which are factored into the estimation of the provi-
sion, are subject to significant estimations risks. In 
accordance with IAS 37.92, no further disclosures are 
made on estimates of the financial impact or on un-
certainties regarding the amount or timing of 
amounts of provisions and contingent liabilities in 
connection with the legal dispute in order not to 
prejudice the outcome of the proceedings and the 
interests of the Group.

28. Other financial liabilities 
(current and non-current)
Other current financial liabilities consist of:

December 31,

(in EUR thousands) 2021 2020

Lease liabilities  1,228  1,464 

Other financial liabilities  7,657  110 

 8,885  1,574 

Other financial liabilities include a liability for the ac-
quisition of a new subsidiary after the balance sheet 
date in the amount of EUR 5 million, see note 36 - 
Subsequent events after the reporting period for 
further details. EUR 2.6 million of the carrying amount 
of other financial liabilities as of December 31, 2021 
relate to a debtor with a creditor balance.

Other non-current financial liabilities consist of:

December 31,

(in EUR thousands) 2021 2020

Lease liabilities  12,949  13,665 

Derivatives –  12,465 

Other  5  9 

 12,954  26,139 

The derivatives shown in 2020 were related to the 
CLAs that were fully converted to equity prior to the 
Transaction.
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29. Other liabilities 
(current and non-current) 
Other current liabilities consist of:

December 31,

(in EUR thousands) 2021 2020

Personnel-related 
liabilities  1,652  955 

Other tax liabilities 570  276 

Other non-financial liabilities  2,450  2,017 

Contract liabilities  3,864  2,908 

8,535  6,156 

Other non-current liabilities consist of:

December 31,

(in EUR thousands) 2021 2020

Personnel-related liabilities  322  304 

Other non-financial liabilities  795  801 

 1,117  1,105 

Other non-financial liabilities mainly relate to the de-
ferred government grant.

30. Deferred taxes

The change in deferred tax liabilities, net was recog-
nized as income tax expense (income) or through 
acquisition of subsidiaries during 2020 and 2021. 
The unrecognized deferred tax assets amount to 
EUR 59.8 million (2020: EUR 23.4 million) and are 

mainly attributable to EUR 59.8 million (2020: EUR 21.7 
million) unused tax losses and EUR 0.0 million (2020: 
EUR 1.6 million) unrecognized temporary differenc-
es. There is no expiry date for the cumulative tax 
losses except for tax losses in Luxembourg which will 
expire after 17 years according to local tax regula-
tions. Tax losses include deductions for the virtual 
share program. Since the legal situation of deduc-
tions for share based programs has not yet been fi-
nally clarified, for an amount of EUR 14 million it is 
uncertain whether or not the tax authorities may 
accept the deduction.

The total amount of temporary differences associated 
with investments in subsidiaries, branches and asso-
ciates and interests in joint ventures for which de-
ferred tax liabilities have not been recognized amount 
to EUR 256 thousand (2020: EUR 149 thousand).

December 31,

(in EUR thousands) 2021 2020

Deferred tax liabilities, net

Beginning of fiscal year  (2,236)  (3,592)

Recognized through profit 
or loss  5  1,356 

Recognized through 
acquisition of subsidiaries  (1,643) –

End of fiscal year  (3,874)  (2,236)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for 
the following types of temporary differences and tax 
loss carryforwards.

December 31, 2021 / Deferred tax December 31, 2020 / Deferred tax

(in EUR thousands) Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Intangible assets –  (5,963) –  (3,962) 

Convertible loan – –  207 –

Provisions  247  (3)  355 –

Borrowings – – –  (1,389) 

Trade payables  47 – – –

Other liabilities  6 – – –

Contract Liabilities – –  394 –

Tax losses  1,792 –  2,158 –

Total Gross  2,092  (5,966)  3,115  (5,351)

thereof non-current  1,839  (5,966)  3,115  (5,351) 

Offsetting  (2,092)  2,092  (3,115)  3,115 

Total after offsetting –  (3,874) –  (2,236)
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31. Share-based payments
Virtual Option Plans - General 
The Company has implemented several similar 
share-based payment programs, i.e. separate share-
based payment agreements in 2015, a Virtual Option 
Plan in 2016, a Founder Program in 2019, a Key Man-
agement Program in 2019 and a C-Level Incentive 
Program. Pursuant to the Programs, current and fu-
ture members of the Company as well as other ben-
eficiaries, who participate in the Programs according 
to the terms and conditions, are eligible to partici-
pate in the future growth of the Company by receiv-
ing cash payments or non-cash consideration by the 
Company subject to certain exit related events de-
fined thereunder. The Programs do not provide for 
straight equity but virtual options which relate to an 
increase in the Company’s enterprise value. In the 
case of certain exit events such as an IPO the Com-
pany has the option to settle the payment claim in 
shares of the Company. Since the programs are sub-
stantially comparable according to IFRS 2.45, the 
following disclosures are presented on aggregate for 
the different programs.

Terms and conditions
Each issued virtual option shall grant the respective 
beneficiary the right to economically participate 
from an exit event taking into account any prior pay-
ment of any Liquidation Preferences pursuant to the 
Shareholders’ Agreement. Therefore, upon the oc-
currence of an exit event the virtual options trans-
form into a payment claim of a beneficiary against 
the Company for payment of a certain monetary 
amount in cash or granting of a non-cash considera-
tion. The beneficiaries are not obliged to pay a fee 
for the granting of the virtual options but the virtual 
options are granted with a certain exercise price. 
The exercise price is specified in the individual allot-
ment letters with the beneficiary. 

The following events are considered an exit event in 
the option terms: the sale and transfer of more than 
50% of all shares of the Company (“Share Deal Exit”), 
the sale and transfer of more than 50% of all tangible 
and intangible assets (“Asset Deal Exit”) or the listing 
of the Company on a stock exchange (“IPO Exit”) 
and in some cases also the liquidation of the Com-
pany (“Liquidation”). In the case of an Asset Deal Exit 
or Share Deal Exit the Company is entitled to fulfill 
the payment claim in whole or in part by transfer of 
non-cash performances that the Company received 

as consideration in course of the exit event, in lieu of 
paying a cash amount. In case of an IPO Exit the Com-
pany is entitled or even obligated to fulfill the pay-
ment claim through shares in the Company in lieu of 
paying a cash amount. In those instances where the 
Company has a choice of settlement in shares, there 
is no stated intent or policy to settle in cash. 

The respective vesting schedules and leaver condi-
tions vary and are specified individually. The vesting 
period for the virtual options is three and four years 
and the vesting shall begin on the allotment day. 
Some beneficiaries have a one-year cliff and after 
the cliff day the virtual options are vested for every 
completed quarter of the year of the following three 
years. Other granted virtual options shall vest in 
equal monthly installments over four years on a line-
ar basis. Also, different accelerated vesting and 
non-vesting conditions are agreed individually. 
Some grants are subject to accelerated vesting in 
case of an IPO/exit event before the vesting period 
some are partially (e.g. 50%) subject to accelerated 
vesting and some grants do not have an accelerating 
vesting condition and will continue to vest after the 
exit event. Good leaver and bad leaver events lead-
ing to expiry for some, or all of the vested options are 
also defined differently, whereas in case of a termi-
nation by the employee the expiry conditions range 
from full expiry to 33% expiry.

Some grants are furthermore subject to specific hurdle 
rates, or the exercise price is subject to an adjustment 
mechanism depending on the exit valuation.

Classification and accounting
Prior to the Transaction management estimated that 
the IPO exit is the most probable exit scenario as of 
all relevant valuation dates. Since the Company in 
that case is entitled to fulfill the payment claim 
through shares in the Company and the assessment 
of the Company’s intent, past practice and ability to 
settle in equity results in all programs being classi-
fied as equity settled. The fair value is determined at 
grant date and the share-based payments expenses 
are recognized over the service period.

Vesting conditions are treated as graded or linear 
vesting or both depending on the individual terms 
and conditions summarized above. Market perfor-
mance conditions are assessed as part of the fair 
value measurement at grant.
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Fair value measurement
The fair value at grant date is determined by HTG using 
the following two methods. First, the common share 
price was derived from an option pricing model using 
interpolation between the previous and the latest trans-
action or financing round as of the grant date. In 2021, 
where no financing rounds took place, the Company’s 
fair value was based on a discounted cash flow valuation 
approach instead. Secondly, the fair value of the virtual 
option as of grant date per individual beneficiary was 
calculated by applying the Black Scholes model based 
on the resulting input from the option pricing model for 
the underlying common share prices.

The fair value was measured based on the following 
significant parameters: a weighted average share 
price of EUR 6.7 thousand (2020: EUR 3.1 thousand), 
a volatility of 54.5% (2020: 34.8%), a weighted aver-
age of exercise price of EUR 5.0 thousand (2020: 
EUR 2.1 thousand), a risk-free interest rates between 
-1.0% and 2.0% and a dividend yield of 0.0% (all peri-
ods). The expected volatility was derived from the 
historical volatility of peer group companies. The 
expected date of the IPO, September 30, 2022 or 
September 30, 2024 (for grants before 2018) was tak-
en as the relevant date for deriving the number of 
shares to be received by the respective beneficiary 
in case of accelerated vesting conditions and for cal-
culating the remaining term. The actual exercise of 
the options can only take place after the expiry of 
the respective waiting period i.e. usually the lock up 
period related to the event. The weighted average 
term of the virtual shares outstanding is 3.6 years 
(2020: 3.3 years). The valuation resulted in a weight-
ed average fair value of EUR 3,215 per virtual share 
(2020: EUR 1,430).

Reconciliation of virtual options

2021

Number of 
virtual 

options

Weighted 
Average of 

exercise 
prices

Outstanding as of January 1  20,376  2,080 

granted during the year  3,207  3,496 

forfeited during the year  139  2,313 

exercised during the year  15,792  5,041 

Outstanding as of 
December 31  7,652  2,272 

2020

Number of 
virtual 

options

Weighted 
Average of 

exercise 
prices

Outstanding as of January 1 16,050 1,824

granted during the year 4,386 3,003

forfeited during the year  60 1,092

Outstanding as of 
December 31 20,376 2,080

None of the instruments granted are currently 
exercisable.
The total expense in relation to share-based pay-
ment awards of virtual options amounts to EUR 22.1 
million (2020: EUR 11.2 million). With respect to share-
based payment expenses resulting from other trans-
actions please refer to Note 6 - Business Combina-
tions and other acquisitions (“Mapify”).

C-Level Incentive Program
General

On July 14, 2021 the Company signed a business 
combination agreement (“BCA”) with the SPAC. Refer 
to Note 6 - Business Combinations and other acquisi-
tions for further information on the BCA. For the 
C-level management of HTG SE, the new legal parent 
entity after closing, 8,600 VSOPs were awarded in 
June 2021 as part of the SPAC deal/BCA negotiations 
and approved by the Advisory Board in July 2021. 

Vesting and performance conditions
The allotments are based substantially on the terms 
of the Founder Program in 2019. The VSOPs are sub-
ject to graded vesting over four years. The vesting 
start date is prior to the grant date since the VSOPs 
are considered as remuneration for the work per-
formed on the preparation of the SPAC-transaction.

In case of a SPAC-transaction, no accelerated vest-
ing with respect to the 50% of the unvested virtual 
options applies. With respect to such remaining (i.e. 
unvested) virtual options that only vest after the 
SPAC-transaction, a payment claim is payable to the 
beneficiary, provided that he or she is still employed 
by HTG at that point in time. The due date for the 
first tranche of the Stay-on Payment is 360 days after 
SPAC-transaction for all other Stay-on Payments one 
month after lapse of the respective calendar year. In 
addition, 60% of the virtual options shall be allotted Table continues → 
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without hurdle, 20% if the closing price of the public 
shares of HTG SE exceeds EUR 12.00 and another 
20% if the closing price of the public shares of HTG 
SE exceeds EUR 14.00, in each case for any 10 trading 
days within any 30 trading day period in XETRA trad-
ing. The vested portion of these VSOPs as of De-
cember 31, 2021 amounts to 18.75%

Classification and accounting
The VSOPs are accounted according to the existing 
Founder Program in 2019 as equity settled with the 
difference that accelerated vesting does not apply 
and the new different hurdle rates are considered by 
using a Monte Carlo simulation in the fair value de-
termination.

The fair value was measured based on the following 
significant parameters: a weighted average share 
price of EUR 6.5 thousand, a volatility of 45.2%, a 
weighted average of exercise price of EUR 3.5 thou-
sand , a risk-free interest rate of 0.64% and a divi-
dend yield of 0.0%. The expected volatility was de-
rived from the historical volatility of peer group 
companies. The actual exercise of the options can 
only take place after the expiry of the respective 
waiting period i.e. usually the lock up period related 
to the event. The weighted average term of the vir-
tual shares outstanding is 0.2 years. The valuation 
resulted in a weighted average fair value of EUR 
3,524 per virtual share.

Reconciliation of virtual options

2021

Number of 
virtual 

options

Weighted 
Average of 

exercise 
prices

Outstanding as of January 1 – –

granted during the year  8,600  3,480 

exercised during the year  323  3,365 

Outstanding as of 
December 31  8,277  3,480 

Smoobu–Virtual participation awards
General 
As part of the acquisition of Smoobu, HTG granted 
new virtual participation awards to the founders 
and managing directors of Smoobu, which are out-
side the scope of the IFRS 3 purchase considerati-
on (Note 7) because of the continued employment 
requirements. Unvested options are forfeited upon 
employment termination and, therefore, the new 
virtual participations are consideration for post-com-
bination services.

The beneficiaries were granted options to acquire a 
certain number of future shares in the Company. 
Through such options, the beneficiaries will partici-
pate in HTG’s future growth and increase in value. 
The awards can be classified into two components: 
’stay on options’ and ’earn-out options’. 

Both option types are virtual share rights which carry 
a contractual right to payment of a certain cash 
amount. An option may be exercised only in respect 
of vested option shares and only in the context of a 
defined liquidity event. Liquidity Event shall mean i) 
a share sale with more than 50% of the shares, ii) a 
liquidation, iii) an initial public offering (the “IPO”) or 
iv) an asset sale of more than 50% of the assets or an 
equivalent profit distribution from an asset sale. HTG 
has the option to settle the payment claim in com-
mon shares in case of an IPO, which is the most 
probable scenario through the de-SPAC transaction.

Vesting and performance conditions
The stay on option shares and the earn-out option 
shares are subject to vesting conditions. All option 
shares vest monthly on a linear basis over two years 
starting from March 1,2021, i.e. until the lapse of 
March 1, 2023. Accelerated vesting is applied to all 
option shares in the case of a Liquidity Event during 
that period. The unvested option shares lapse if the 
beneficiary terminates his service agreement. In 
case a Beneficiary ceases to provide his services be-
fore the lapse of March 1, 2023, he will have to repay 
to the Company a cash amount corresponding to 
the accelerated VSOPs that would have been un-
vested at that point in time. Therefore, graded vest-
ing is applied. Furthermore, the earn-out option 
shares are subject to non-market performance con-
ditions such as non-financial KPI’s and a defined pos-
itive cash flow of the entity.
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Classification and accounting
Both option types are in scope of IFRS 2, because 
even the earn-out options only come into existence 
if the contract will not be terminated by the benefi-
ciary before the lapse of the earn out period and are 
therefore linked to future service conditions of the 
beneficiaries. Management estimates that the IPO 
exit according to the contract is the most probable 
exit scenario. Since the Company in that case is enti-
tled to fulfill the payment claim through shares in the 
Company and the assessment of the Company’s 
past practice and ability to settle in equity results in 
the award being classified as equity settled. The fair 
value is determined at grant date and the share-
based payments expenses are recognized over the 
service period. Non-market performance conditions 
are assessed as part of the number of shares expect-
ed to vest.

The fair value was measured based on the following 
significant parameters: a weighted average share 
price of EUR 6.9 thousand, a volatility of 63.9%, a 
weighted average of exercise price of EUR 0.0 thou-
sand , a risk-free interest rate of -0.6% and 2.0% and a 
dividend yield of 0.0%. The expected volatility was 
derived from the historical volatility of peer group 
companies. The actual exercise of the options can 
only take place after the expiry of the respective 
waiting period i.e. usually the lock up period related 
to the event. The weighted average term of the vir-
tual shares outstanding is 0.5 years. The valuation 
resulted in a weighted average fair value of EUR 6,162 
per virtual share.

2021

Number of 
virtual 

options

Weighted 
Average of 

exercise 
prices

Outstanding as of January 1 – –

granted during the year  1,643 –

exercised during the year  514  6,844 

Outstanding as of 
December 31  1,129 –

Impact of de-SPAC on Virtual Option Plans
With the closing of the Transaction as described in 
Note 6 - Business Combinations and other acquisitions 
all vested and exercisable virtual options were exer-
cised in connection with the Business Combination on 

September 21, 2021 since it qualifies as an exercise 
event. Until that date the share-based payment re-
serve for those vested and exercised options accu-
mulated to EUR 25.5 million. 

Based on the HomeToGo VSOPs Amendment the 
exercise was fulfilled via 50% of the VSOP claim in 
equity settlement and 50% of the VSOP claim in cash 
settlement to cover estimated relevant tax obliga-
tions. The equity settlement led to the issuance of 
4,210,905 Class A Shares in HTG SE in the nominal 
value of EUR 80,849 based on the agreed share price 
of EUR 10. 50% of the accumulated share-based pay-
ment reserve being EUR 12.8 million were reclassified 
within equity. Thereof EUR 80,849 were reclassified 
into share capital and EUR 12.7 million into capital re-
serves.

According to IFRS 2 the portion of the cash settle-
ment used for tax obligations, which are settled 
through HTG Group on behalf of the beneficiaries, is 
considered a modification of the equity-settled plan 
and accounted for as a repurchase of vested instru-
ments. It was therefore also taken out from the 
share-based payment reserve. However, the actual 
payroll tax was lower as expected given that the ac-
tual share price used for the payroll tax calculation 
was lower than the agreed EUR 10, resulting in a cash 
payment to the beneficiaries of the remaining cash 
settlement amount of EUR 4.7 million. In addition, 
not all beneficiaries’ payroll taxes were settled 
through HTG Group, for example for freelancers. As 
a result, the full cash settlement of EUR 6.9 million 
was paid out to those beneficiaries. In total EUR 34.0 
million were reclassified from the share-based pay-
ment reserve. Thereof EUR 30.5 million were used 
for payroll tax purposes. While EUR 3.5 million for this 
settlement were taken from the share-based pay-
ment reserve the remaining cash settlement portion 
of EUR 8.1 million was expensed as followed: 

(in EUR thousands)

Product development and operations  3,517 

Marketing and sales  1,292 

General and administrative  3,283 

Total cash settlement expense  8,092 
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The total expenses in relation to all existing share-
based compensation are allocated as follows:

(in EUR thousands) 2021 2020

Product development and 
operations 8,260 3,170

Marketing and sales 5,700 4,623

General and administrative 88,038 3,395

thereof: Listing service 
expense (Sponsor as well 
as public shares and 
warrants from de-SPAC)

70,437 –

Total 101,997 11,188

The IFRS 2 reserve thus developed as follows:

2021 2020

(in EUR 
thousands) Change Change

January 1 Brought forward  22,148  10,959 

May 31, 2021 Acquisition 
Mapify  172 –

September 16, 
2021

Conversion of 
Earn Outs  (515) –

September 21, 
2021

Lakestar SPAC 
Listing Service 
Fee

 70,437 –

September 21, 
2021

VSOP Exercise 
equity settlement  (12,774) –

September 21, 
2021

VSOP Exercise tax 
settlement 
charge

 (30,495) –

September 21, 
2021

VSOP Exercise 
cash settlement 
charge not 
through Profit or 
loss

 (3,524) –

Financial Year 
2021 / 2020

Regular VSOP 
charge  23,296  11,189 

December 31, 
2021 Year end  68,744  22,148 

32. Related party transactions

The HTG’s related parties are comprised of a signifi-
cant shareholder of HTG, the members of the Man-
agement Board and the Supervisory Board, the close 
members of the family of these persons and con-
trolled entities by these persons.

Entities with significant influence over the Group
Until the Transaction, the largest shareholder of the 
Group had significant influence over the Group and 
constituted a related party according to IAS 24. Due 
to the fact that this investor is also represented on 
the Supervisory Board of HTG SE the investor is still 
assumed to have significant influence over the 
Group although the percentage share in the parent 
company significantly reduced through the Transac-
tion. This shareholder participated in the new con-
vertible loan in 2021 with EUR 3.0 million and in the 
convertible loan in 2020 with EUR 4.2 million.

Key management personnel of the Group
The Management Board as well as the Supervisory 
Board of the Group constitute the key management 
personnel and therefore related persons according 
to IAS 24 for the HTG.

Expenses for compensation of the key management 
personnel are summarized in the table below.

December 31,

(in EUR thousands) 2021 2020

Short-term benefits  1,020  413 

Share-based payments  15,660  1,730 

 16,680  2,143 

Share-based payments expenses for key manage-
ment personnel solely arise from the Virtual Option 
Plans described under section ’Share-based pay-
ments’ above, for the terms and conditions refer to 
Note 31 - Share-based payments. 

The Group has not granted any loans, guarantees, or 
other commitments to or on behalf of any of the relat-
ed persons. Other than the remuneration disclosed 
above the following transactions occurred with enti-
ties controlled by key management personnel:

UAB NFQ Technologies (“NFQ”), a software company 
registered in the Republic of Lithuania, has been iden-
tified as a related party according to IAS 24. During 
the reporting period, an agreement with NFQ was in-
tact on the provision of certain software development 
services, office space and other services by NFQ to 
entities of the HTG for cash consideration. Other ser-
vices mainly include the provision of payroll, account-
ing and car rental services. The business transactions 
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under the scope of the agreement occurred under 
market conditions. Below listed amounts resulted 
from related party transactions with NFQ during the 
reporting period:

December 31,

(in EUR thousands) 2021 2020

Product development and 
operations expenses  5,493  4,469 

Other Services  172  131 

Office Rent  246  204 

Payables towards NFQ  4  19 

33. Auditor’s fees

The following expenses incurred for services provid-
ed by the auditors and related companies of the au-
ditors for the HomeToGo Group:

December 31,

(in EUR thousands) 2021 2020

Audit fees  1,490  73 

thereof: Audit fees for 
previous fiscal year audits  838 –

Other attestation services  127 –

Total  1,618  73 

34. Financial instruments 

The table below shows the net gains and losses of 
financial instruments per measurement categories 
defined by IFRS 9:

December 31,

(in EUR thousands) 2021 2020

Financial assets measured at 
Amortized cost (AC) (1,069)  (480)

Financial assets and financial 
liabilities measured at fair 
value through profit or loss 
(FVTPL)

 342 –

Financial liabilities measured 
at Amortized cost (AC) –  (2,125)

Financial liabilities measured 
at fair value through profit or 
loss (FVTPL)

 207  (5,471)

Total interest expenses including amortization from 
the effective interest method on financial liabilities 
that are measured at amortized cost for the year was 
EUR 0.9 million (2020: EUR 2.0 million).

The following table shows the carrying amounts and 
fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, 
including their levels in the fair value hierarchy. The 
table excludes fair value information for financial as-
sets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value 
if the carrying amount reasonably approximates fair 
value. The carrying amounts of cash and cash equiv-
alents, trade and other receivables as well as trade 
payables are approximately their fair value due to 
their short-term maturities. For all other financial as-
sets and liabilities, no changes have occurred that 
would have had a material effect on the fair value of 
these instruments since their initial recognition.
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Financial instruments as of December 31, 2021 are as follows:

December 31, 2020

(in EUR thousands) Carrying amount
Category in 
accordance
 with IFRS 9

Fair value Fair value level

Non-current assets

Other receivables 814 Amortized Cost

Other financial assets 8,249

thereof deposits 1,502

thereof investments 3,597 FVTPL 3,597 Level 3

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 18,992 Amortized Cost

thereof trade receivables 9,755

thereof other receivables 9,237

Cash and cash equivalents 152,944 Amortized Cost

Other financial assets 101,960

thereof deposits 1,995

thereof money market funds 99,965 FVTPL 99,965 Level 1

thereof other financial assets – Amortized Cost

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 9,371 Amortized Cost

Other financial liabilities 12,954

thereof lease liabilities 12,949 N/A

thereof other liabilities 5

Current liabilities

Borrowings 3,007 Amortized Cost

Trade payables 15,395 Amortized Cost

Other financial liabilities 8,885

thereof lease liabilities 1,228 N/A

thereof other liabilities 7,656 Amortized Cost
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Financial instruments as of December 31, 2020 are as follows:

December 31, 2020

(in EUR thousands) Carrying amount
Category in 

accordance with 
IFRS 9

Fair value Fair value level

Non-current assets

Other receivables  1,414 Amortized Cost

Other financial assets  1,485 Amortized Cost

thereof deposits  1,485 

Current assets

Trade and other receivables  5,647 Amortized Cost

thereof trade receivables  5,142 

thereof other receivables  505 

Cash and cash equivalents  36,237 Amortized Cost

Other financial assets  549 Amortized Cost

thereof deposits  361 

thereof other financial assets  188 

Non-current liabilities

Convertible Loans  33,132 Amortized Cost  33,295 Level 3

Borrowings  3,557 Amortized Cost

Other financial liabilities  26,139 

thereof lease liabilities  13,665 N/A

thereof other liabilities  9 

thereof derivatives  12,465 FVTPL  12,465 Level 3

Current liabilities

Borrowings  2,114 Amortized Cost

Trade payables  4,233 Amortized Cost

Other financial liabilities  1,574 

thereof lease liabilities  1,464 N/A

thereof other liabilities  110 Amortized Cost

The carrying amounts of the financial assets and liabilities measured at amortized cost listed above and  
defined by IFRS 9 as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 were as follows: 
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December 31,

(in EUR thousands) 2021 2020

Carrying amount

Financial assets measured at 
amortized cost 179,397  45,333 

Financial assets measured at 
fair value through profit or 
loss (FVTPL)

103,562 –

Financial liabilities measured 
at amortized cost  26,555  43,155 

Financial liabilities measured 
at fair value through profit or 
loss (FVTPL)

–  12,465 

As HTG does not meet the criteria for offsetting, no 
financial instruments are netted.

Where quoted prices in an active market do not ex-
ist, HTG uses valuation techniques that maximize 
the use of relevant observable inputs and minimize 
the use of unobservable inputs. The valuation tech-
nique used incorporates all factors that market par-
ticipants would consider in pricing such a transac-
tion, e.g. the fair values disclosed in the notes for the 
host contract of convertible loans are determined by 
using credit-risk specific discount factors.

The following paragraph shows the valuation technique 
used in measuring Level 3 fair values at December 31, 

2021 and December 31, 2020 for financial instruments 
measured at fair value in the statement of financial po-
sition (derivative financial liability for conversion right 
and contingent consideration for Escapada) as well as 
the significant unobservable inputs used:

	→ Valuation techniques: The valuation of the 
embedded derivative is performed by using an 
option price model. More specifically the valua-
tion was performed using binomial trees for 
HTG’s share price and refinancing rate to come 
up to a fair value of the conversion right. The 
valuation technique for the contingent conside-
ration resulting from the acquisition of Escapada 
is described under note 6.

	→ Significant unobservable inputs: The option price 
model for the embedded derivative uses diffe-
rent inputs. The most significant unobservable 
input is the refinancing rate of HTG. Further inputs 
for the valuation model are the Company value 
and the volatility of equity. Both inputs have a 
lower impact on the fair value of the entire embed-
ded derivative. The unobservable inputs for the 
contingent consideration resulting from the 
acquisition of Escapada are described under note 6.

The following tables show a reconciliation for Level 3 
fair values:

(in EUR thousands) Embedded Derivative Contingent 
Consideration

Opening balance Jan 1, 2020  (315)  (1,647) 

Issuance of convertible loans and modification of existing contracts  (6,679) –

Settlement –  1,647 

Losses recognized in finance costs  (5,471) –

Closing balance Dec 31, 2020  (12,465) –

Opening balance Jan 1, 2021  (12,465) –

Issuance of convertible loans and modification of existing contracts  (24,961) –

Losses recognized in finance costs  (2,644) –

Gains recognized in finance income  2,436 –

Conversion into equity  37,634 –

Closing balance Dec 31, 2021 – –
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There were no transfers between the different levels 
of the fair value hierarchy during the periods pre-
sented. HTG’s policy is to recognize transfers into 
and transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as of 
the end of the reporting period.

35. Financial risk management

HTG is exposed to the following risks from the use of 
financial instruments:

a)	 Credit risk
b)	 Liquidity risk
c)	 Market risk, interest rate and currency risk

The Company´s Management Board have the overall 
responsibility for the establishment and oversight of 
HTG’s risk management framework. HTG’s risk man-
agement policies are established to identify and 
analyze the risks faced by HTG and to minimize neg-
ative impact on the financial position of HTG related 
to those risks.

Capital risk management
HTG’s objective when managing capital is to safe-
guard HTG’s ability to provide returns for sharehold-
ers and benefits for other stakeholders and to main-
tain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost 
of capital. Management monitors capital usage by 
overseeing the decrease and increase of cash and 
cash equivalents as presented in the consolidated 
statement of financial position. The Group is subject 
to a financial covenant with regard to some loans is-
sued in 2020 for which no breach has occurred. HTG 
needs to achieve an equity ratio of 50% or higher. 
Management expects to achieve the necessary eq-
uity ratio.

a. Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to HTG if a cus-
tomer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails 
to meet its contractual obligations. Credit risk in-

cludes both the immediate default risk and the dan-
ger of a decline in the customer’s creditworthiness.

HTG is exposed to credit risk on cash and cash 
equivalents and current other financial assets, which 
it monitors centrally. HTG maintains its cash deposits 
at financial institutions with top credit ratings. The 
creditworthiness of these financial institutions is 
constantly monitored. HTG considers that its cash 
and cash equivalents and current other financial as-
sets have low credit risk based on the external credit 
ratings of these financial institutions. 

HTG is generally exposed to the credit risk that its 
partners are cash-strapped or in financial difficulties 
and thus, would not pass the agreed share of com-
mission to HTG. Overall, the credit risk for trade and 
other receivables is considered low. The maximum 
risk exposure for all financial assets is the carrying 
amount. Refer to Note 4 regarding the application of 
the expected credit loss model.

b. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that HTG will encounter diffi-
culty in meeting the obligations associated with its 
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash 
or another financial asset. HTG’s approach to man-
aging liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it 
will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities 
when they are due, under both normal and stressed 
conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or 
risking damage to HTG’s reputation. HTG uses regu-
lar external financing options such as bank loans, 
but also financing instruments such as convertible 
loans, to quickly raise larger amounts of fresh capital 
and thus always ensure a certain liquidity buffer.

The following are the remaining contractual maturi-
ties of financial liabilities at the balance sheet date. 
Apart from lease liabilities, the amounts are gross and 
undiscounted and include contractual interest pay-
ments and exclude the impact of netting agreements.
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December 31, 2021

(in EUR thousands) <1 year 1–5 years > 5 years Total Carrying amount

Trade and other payables 15,395 – – 15,395 15,395

Other liabilities 8,535 1,117 – 9,653 9,653

Convertible Loans – – – – –

Borrowings 3,007 9,371 – 12,378 12,378

Lease liabilities 1,228 1,632 11,318 14,178 14,178

Total 28,165 12,120 11,318 51,603 51,603

December 31, 2020

(in EUR thousands) <1 year 1– 5 years > 5 years Total Carrying amount

Trade and other payables  4,233 – –  4,233  4,233 

Other liabilities  110  9 –  119  119 

Convertible Loans –  42,231 –  42,231  33,132 

Borrowings  1,930  4,212  103  6,245  5,671 

Lease liabilities  1,487  5,154  12,674  19,315  15,129 

Total  7,760  51,606  12,777  72,143  58,284 

The following table shows changes in liabilities arising from financing activities:

(in EUR thousands) Jan. 1, 
2021

Cash 
flows

Changes 
in fair 

values

New 
leases

Additions 
from 

business 
combinations

Reclassi-
fication 

/ 
Conver-

sion

Modifica-
tions and 

other 
effects

Interest Dec. 31, 
2021

Borrowings 
(non-current)  3,558  9,969 – – –  (3,255)  (1,244)  343  9,371

Convertible loans 
(non-current)  33,132  66,206 – – –  

(108,626)  (25,341)  34,629 –

Lease liabilities 
(non-current)  13,665 – –  1  10  (517)  (210) –  12,949

Derivatives 
(non-current)  12,465 –  207 – –  (37,633)  24,961 – –

Borrowings (current)  2,113  (2,362) – – –  3,255 – –  3,007

Lease liabilities 
(current)  1,464  (966) –  18  10  517  (332)  517  1,229

66,398  72,848  207  19  19 (146,259)  (2,166)  35,490  26,555
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c. Market, interest rate and currency risk  
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, 
such as foreign exchange rates or interest rates will 
affect HTG’s income or the value of its financial instru-
ments. HTG manages its market risk on a centralized 
basis with the objectives of managing and controlling 
market risk exposures within acceptable parameters.
 
Exposure to interest rate risk normally arises from 
variable interest-bearing financial instruments. HTG 
only has fixed interest loan agreements and there-
fore is not exposed to an interest rate risk.

HTG is not exposed to a material transactional for-
eign currency risk. 

36. Subsequent events after the 
reporting period
AMIVAC

On August 29, 2021 HS Holiday Search GmbH en-
tered into an transfer agreement for AMIVAC SAS 
(“AMIVAC”) whereby the sole shareholder had to sell 
all shares in AMIVAC if the French workers council 
agreed to the transaction. With the fulfillment of the 
condition HS Holiday Search GmbH entered into a 
share purchase agreement to acquire 100% of the 
shares in AMIVAC for EUR 4.2 million with a holdback 
amount of EUR 1 million on October 27, 2021, with 
the agreed closing date being January 1, 2022.

As part of the agreement the seller carved out all as-
sets related to its vacation business unit and trans-
ferred those to AMIVAC until January 1, 2022. As a re-

sult, AMIVAC will hold three complementary platforms 
offering vacation rentals listings and an IT platform. In 
addition, the seller is to provide the operational sup-
port through a service agreement in order to run 
AMIVAC’s vacation business as usual for one year. 

Given that HTG has no controlling rights as of year 
end, AMIVAC is not consolidated yet in 2021. Apart 
from the holdback amount of EUR 1 million, which is 
shown within other financial liabilities, EUR 3.2 mil-
lion have been fully paid as at year end. The EUR 4.2 
million claim to shares are shown within other finan-
cial assets.

Preliminary purchase price allocation:

(in EUR thousands) Preliminary 
Fair Value

Cash  150

Intangible assets: trademarks  570

Intangible assets: customer 
relationships  1,391

Intangible assets: software  117

Other assets  161

Net deferred tax asset  756

Other liabilities  (1,263)

Net identifiable assets acquired  1,881

Add: goodwill  2,269

Net assets acquired  4,150

The purchase price allocation is preliminary as the val-
uation of assets and liabilities assumed as part of the 

(in EUR thousands) Jan. 1, 
2020

Cash 
flows

Changes 
in fair 

values

New 
leases

Additions 
from 

business 
combinations

Reclas-
si-fica-

tion

Modifica-
tions and 

other 
effects

Interest Dec. 31, 
2020

Borrowings
(non-current) –  7,170 – – –  (3,860) –  246  3,558

Convertible loans 
(non-current)  1,697  29,663 – – – –  (1,862)  3,634  33,132

Lease liabilities 
(non-current)  1,397 – –  12,943 –  (311)  (364) –  13,665

Derivatives
 (non-current)  315  6,679  1,818 – – –  3,653 –  12,465

Borrowings (current) –  (1,500) – – –  3,860 –  (246)  2,113

Lease liabilities 
(current)  862  (563) –  491 –  311  52  311  1,464

 4,271  41,449  1,818  13,434 – –  1,479  3,945  66,398
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business combination is not complete due to the 
short time frame between acquisition and authoriza-
tion for issue of the Group’s financial statements.

Furthermore, the Company is continuously looking 
for and possibly in negotiation in view of potential ac-
quisitions.

Virtual Stock Option Program 2022 / Restricted 
Stock Unit Program 2022
In 2022 a new long-term incentive (LTI) program was 
established, but no awards were granted to benefi-
ciaries as of December 31, 2021. Under the Virtual 
Stock Option Program (VSOP 2022) and the Restrict-
ed Stock Unit Program (RSUP 2022) Virtual Stock Op-
tions (VSOs) / Restricted Stock Units (RSUs) are 
granted to employees, advisors of the Company and 
Affiliated Companies as well as members of the 
Management Board. 

The participants are able to select the allocation of 
their overall grant between VSOP 2022 and RSUP 
2022 (from 30% to 70% RSUP 2022 and vice versa 
70% to 30% VSOP 2022). The aggregate maximum 
plan volume of the RSUP 2022 and VSOP 2022 shall 
be limited to the value of 1,225,556 Class A Shares of 
the Company. VSO / RSU may be granted to the par-
ticipants in one or more tranches at any time until 
the end of the year 2025.

Ukraine
In February 2022, a number of countries (including 
the US, UK and EU) imposed sanctions against cer-
tain entities and individuals in Russia and Belarus as 
a result of the official recognition of the Donetsk 
People Republic and Luhansk People Republic by 
the Russian Federation. Announcements of potential 
additional sanctions have been made following mili-
tary operations initiated by Russia against Ukraine on 
February 24, 2022.

Due to the war in Ukraine, there has been a signifi-
cant increase in volatility on the securities and cur-
rency markets. It is expected that these events may 
affect the activities of Russian enterprises in various 
sectors of the economy, but also the economy of 
sanctioning countries and people in those countries 
as well.

The Management Board regards these events as 
non-adjusting events after the reporting period.  

Although neither HTG’s performance and going 
concern nor operations, at the date of this report, 
have been significantly impacted by the above, the 
Management Board continues to monitor the evolv-
ing situation and its impact on the financial position 
and results of the company. The indirect impact of 
the war in Ukraine and its implications, such as a po-
tential change in travel behavior, cannot be quanti-
fied at this point in time.

Luxembourg, March 28, 2022
Management Board of HomeToGo SE

Dr. Patrick Andrae 
Co-founder & CEO

Valentin Gruber
COO

Wolfgang Heigl
Co-founder & CSO

Steffen Schneider
CFO
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Responsibility Statement of 
the Management Board

Luxembourg, March 28, 2022
Management Board of HomeToGo SE

We, Dr. Patrick Andrae, Wolfgang Heigl, Valentin 
Gruber and Steffen Schneider assure, to the best of 
our knowledge that the consolidated financial state-
ments which have been prepared in accordance with 
the International Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by the European Union, give a true and fair 
view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and 
profit or loss of HomeToGo SE and the undertakings 
included in the consolidation taken as a whole and 
that the combined management report includes a fair 
review of the development and performance of the 
business and the position of HomeToGo SE and the 
undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a 
whole, together with a description of the material 
risks and opportunities associated with the expected 
development of the Group.

Dr. Patrick Andrae 
Co-founder & CEO

Valentin Gruber
COO

Wolfgang Heigl
Co-founder & CSO

Steffen Schneider
CFO
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Report on the audit of the 
consolidated financial 
statements
Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial state-
ments of HomeToGo SE and its subsidiaries (the 
“Group”), which comprise the consolidated state-
ment of financial position as at December 31, 2021, 
and the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, the consolidated statement of changes in 
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows 
for the year then ended, and the notes to the conso-
lidated financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated fi-
nancial statements give a true and fair view of the 
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 
December 31, 2021, and of its consolidated financial 
performance and consolidated cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with International Fi-
nancial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by 
the European Union. 

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with EU Reg-
ulation N° 537/2014, the Law of July 23, 2016 on the 
audit profession (the “Law of July 23, 2016”) and with 
International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”) as 
adopted for Luxembourg by the “Commission de 
Surveillance du Secteur Financier” (“CSSF”). Our re-
sponsibilities under the EU Regulation Nº 537/2014, 
the Law of July 23, 2016 and ISAs are further de-
scribed in the “Responsibilities of the “réviseur d’en-
treprises agréé” for the audit of the consolidated fi-
nancial statements” section of our report. We are also 
independent of the Group in accordance with the 
International Ethics Standards Board for Account-
ants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(“IESBA Code”) as adopted for Luxembourg by the 

CSSF together with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements, and have fulfilled our other ethical re-
sponsibilities under those ethical requirements. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our pro-
fessional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the 
current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters.

Revenues 
Description

Total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2021 
were EUR 94.8 million, of which EUR 65.6 million cor-
responding to Click Per Action (“CPA”) transactions, 
where the Group receives a percentage-based com-
mission for successful onsite or offsite booking refer-
rals. CPA revenue is recognized upon check-in of the 
traveler, when the Group’s performance obligation is 
satisfied.

Revenue recognition for CPA is a complex matter 
due to the high number of low-value transactions 
and the variety of billing terms in the customer con-
tracts which gives rise to an elevated risk of account-
ing errors. In light of the significance and the large 
number of individual transactions recorded, we as-
sessed that revenue recognition for CPA transac-
tions is a key audit matter. 

To the Shareholders of HomeToGo SE (formerly Lakestar SPAC I SE)
19, rue de Bitbourg, L-1273 Luxembourg 
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Auditor’s response

We have performed the following audit procedures:
	→ We analyzed the accounting policies applied in the 
consolidated financial statements for revenue 
recognition in terms of the five-step model defined 
in IFRS 15 “Revenue form contracts with customers”. 

	→ We verified the processes and internal controls 
implemented by Management for the recogni-
tion of CPA revenues.

	→ We obtained an understanding of IT systems 
involved in revenue recognition for CPA transactions.

	→ We tested the end-to-end reconciliation between 
the IT systems involved in revenue recognition 
with the general ledger and validated material 
journals processed.

	→ We reconciled the revenues recognized for a 
statistical sample to source documents and 
verified whether the revenues were recorded in 
the correct period based on the underlying 
terms and conditions of the customer contract. 
We tested the correlation of revenues to cash 
and anchored revenue recorded to cash receipts 
for a sample of transactions. 

de-SPAC transaction
Description

In 2021, the Group acquired HomeToGo GmbH 
(“HTG GmbH”). The transaction was considered a 
reverse acquisition within the scope of IFRS 2 “Share 
Based Payment”. 

HTG GmbH, accounting acquirer, received Lakestar 
SPAC I SE’s net assets, EUR 165.3 million, which main-
ly consisted of cash. The fair value of HTG GmbH’s 
shares and warrants deemed issued as part of the 
de-SPAC transaction amounted to EUR 235.7 million, 
so that a total non-cash listing service expense of 
EUR 70.4 million was recognized as share based pay-
ment expense.

We considered the de-SPAC transaction to be a key 
audit matter because of the materiality of the 
amounts involved.

Auditor’s response

We have performed the following audit procedures:
	→ We read and analysed the share purchase 
agreement

	→ We verified the accounting analysis carried out 
by Management and Management’s specialist. 
We assessed the competence of Management’s 
specialist. 

	→ We verified the classification of warrants deemed 
issued as equity. 

	→ We verified the valuation of the share-based 
payment expense arising from the transaction.

	→ We verified that the accounting for the conver-
sion of convertible loans was appropriate.

Other information

The Management Board is responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report including 
the combined management report and the corpo-
rate governance statement but does not include the 
consolidated financial statements and our report of 
“réviseur d’entreprises agréé” thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements 
does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated fi-
nancial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the consolidated financial statements or our knowl-
edge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to 
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we 
have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are re-
quired to report this fact. We have nothing to report 
in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Management 
Board and of those charged with go-
vernance for the consolidated financial 
statements

The Management Board is responsible for the prepa-
ration and fair presentation of the consolidated fi-
nancial statements in accordance with IFRS as 
adopted by the European Union, and for such inter-
nal control as the Management Board determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material mis-
statement, whether due to fraud or error.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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The Management Board is also responsible for pre-
senting and marking up the consolidated financial 
statements in compliance with the requirements set 
out in the Delegated Regulation 2019/815 on Europe-
an Single Electronic Format, as amended (“ESEF Reg-
ulation”).

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, 
the Management Board is responsible for assessing 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of ac-
counting unless the Management Board either in-
tends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, 
or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for 
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Responsibilities of the “réviseur d’entre-
prises agréé” for the audit of the consoli-
dated financial statements 

The objectives of our audit are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material mis-
statement, whether due to fraud or error, and to is-
sue a report of the “réviseur d’entreprises agréé” that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an au-
dit conducted in accordance with EU Regulation N° 
537/2014, the Law of July 23, 2016 and with the ISAs 
as adopted for Luxembourg by the CSSF will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Mis-
statements can arise from fraud or error and are con-
sidered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with EU Regulation 
N° 537/2014, the Law of July 23, 2016 and with ISAs as 
adopted for Luxembourg by the CSSF, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

	→ dentify and assess the risks of material misstate-
ment of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those 

risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misre-
presentations, or the override of internal control. 

	→ Obtain an understanding of internal control 
relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstan-
ces, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s 
internal control. 

	→ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accoun-
ting estimates and related disclosures made by 
the Management Board. 

	→ Conclude on the appropriateness of Management 
Board use of the going concern basis of accoun-
ting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, 
whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our report of the “réviseur d’entrepri-
ses agréé” to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our report of the 
“réviseur d’entreprises agréé”. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to 
cease to continue as a going concern. 

	→ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the 
consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner 
that achieves fair presentation. 

	→ Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
regarding the financial information of the entities 
and business activities within the Group to 
express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the Group audit. 
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with govern-
ance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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findings, including any significant deficiencies in in-
ternal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance 
with a statement that we have complied with rele-
vant ethical requirements regarding independence, 
and communicate to them all relationships and oth-
er matters that may reasonably be thought to bear 
on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged 
with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the consol-
idated financial statements of the current period 
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 
these matters in our report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter.

Our responsibility is to assess whether the consoli-
dated financial statements have been prepared in all 
material aspects with the requirements laid down in 
the ESEF Regulation.

Report on other legal and regulatory 
requirements
We have been appointed as “réviseur d’entreprises 
agréé” by the General Meeting of the Shareholders 
on December 21, 2020 and the duration of our unin-
terrupted engagement, including previous renewals 
and reappointments, is 2 years.

The combined management report is consistent 
with the consolidated financial statements and has 
been prepared in accordance with applicable legal 
requirements. 

The accompanying corporate governance state-
ment on page 124 is the responsibility of the Man-
agement Board. The information required by article 
68ter paragraph (1) letters c) and d) of the law of De-
cember 19, 2002 on the commercial and companies 
register and on the accounting records and annual 
accounts of undertakings, as amended, is consistent 
with the consolidated financial statements and has 
been prepared in accordance with applicable legal 
requirements.

We confirm that the audit opinion is consistent with 
the additional report to the audit committee or 
equivalent.

We confirm that the prohibited non-audit services 
referred to in EU Regulation No 537/2014 were not 
provided and that we remained independent of the 
Group in conducting the audit.

We have checked the compliance of the consolidat-
ed financial statements of the Group as at Decem-
ber 31, 2021 with relevant statutory requirements set 
out in the ESEF Regulation that are applicable to con-
solidated financial statements.

For the Group it related to:
Financial statements prepared in a valid xHTML format.

The XBRL markup of the consolidated financial 
statements using the core taxonomy and the com-
mon rules on markup specified in the ESEF Regula-
tion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial state-
ments of HomeToGo S.E. as at December 31, 2021, 
identified as htg-2021-12-31-en.zip (41165f0205f66b
f4e6b3ecc6c02e5c3e39e22e6e07e544bb3ce77d
beb258a8f0), have been prepared, in all material as-
pects, with the requirements laid down in the ESEF 
Regulation.

Ernst & Young
Société anonyme
Cabinet de révision agréé

Yves Even
Luxembourg, March 30, 2022

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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HomeToGo SE 
(formerly Lakestar SPAC I SE)
Annual Accounts and independent Auditor’s Report
Registered office: 9, rue de Bitbourg
L - 1273 Luxembourg, R.C.S. Luxembourg: B249273

Profit and Loss Account

(in EUR) Reference(s) Current year Previous year

1. Net turnover 1701 701  704

2. Variation in stocks of finished goods and 
in work in progress

1703 703  704 

3. Work performed by the undertaking for 
its own purposes and capitalised

1705 705  706

4. Other operating income 1713 713  714

5. Raw materials and consumables and 
other external expenses

1671 671  (16,806,386.74)  672  (1,042,523.03)

a) Raw materials and consumables 1601 601  602

b) Other external expenses 1603 7 603  (16,806,386.74)  604  (1,042,523.03) 

6. Staff costs 1605 605  606 

a) Wages and salaries 1607 607  608 

b) Social security costs 1609 609  610 

i) relating to pensions 1653 653  654 

ii) other social security costs 1655 655  656 

c) Other staff costs 1613 613  614 

7. Value adjustments 1657 657  658 

a) in respect of formation expenses and of 
tangible and intangible fixed assets

1659 659  660 

b) in respect of current assets 1661 661  662 

8. Other operating expenses 1621 8 621  (671,229.09)  622 –

9. Income from participating interests 1715 715  716 

a) derived from affiliated undertakings 1717 717  718 

b) other income from participating 
interests

1719 719  720 

10. Income from other investments and 
loans forming part of the fixed assets

1721 721  722 

a) derived from affiliated undertakings 1723 723  724 

b) other income not included under a) 1725 725  726 

Table continues → 



STATUTORY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF HOMETOGO SE

HomeToGo / Annual Report 2021

132

Table continues → 

(in EUR) Reference(s) Current year Previous year

11. Other interest receivable and similar 
income

1727 727  15,860.30  728 –

a) derived from affiliated undertakings 1729 729  15,808.24  730 –

b) other income not included under a) 1731 731 52.06  732 –

12. Share of profit or loss of undertakings 
accounted for under the equity method

1663 663  664 

13. Value adjustments in respect of 
financial assets and of investments held as 
current assets

1665 665  666 

14. Interest payable and similar expenses 1627 627  (273,655.38)  628  (1,397.25)

a) concerning affiliated undertakings 1629 629  (3,945.22)  630  (1,397.25) 

b) other interest and similar expenses 1631 6 631  (269,710.16)  632 –

15. Tax on profit or loss 1635 9 635  636 

16. Profit or loss after taxation 1667 667 (17,735,410.91)  668  (1,043,920.28)

17. Other taxes not shown under items 1 to 16 1637 637  (4,815.00)  638 –

18. Profit or loss for the financial year 1669 669  (17,740,225.91)  670  (1,043,920.28)

Balance Sheet

(in EUR) Reference(s) Current year Previous year

A. Subscribed capital unpaid 1101 101 102

I. Subscribed capital not called 1103 103 104

II. Subscribed capital called but unpaid 1105 105 106

B. Formation expenses 1111 107 108

C. Fixed assets 1109 109  1,088,636,518.22 110  30,500.00 

I. Intangible Assets 1111 111 112

1. Costs of development 1113 113 114

2. Concessions, patents, licences, trade 
marks and similar rights and assets, if they 
were

1115 115 116

a) acquired for valuable consideration 
and need not be shown under C.I.3

1117 117 118

b) created by the undertaking itself 1119 119 120

3. Goodwill, to the extent that it was 
acquired for valuable consideration

1121 121 122

4. Payments on account and intangible 
assets under development

1123 123 124

II. Tangible assets 1125 125 126

1. Land and buildings 1127 127 128

2. Plant and machinery 1129 129 130

3. Other fixtures and fittings, tools and 
equipment

1131 131 132

4. Payments on account and tangible assets 
in the course of construction

1133 133 134
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(in EUR) Reference(s) Current year Previous year

III. Financial assets 1135 3 135  1,088,636,518.22 136  30,500.00 

1. Shares in affiliated undertakings 1137 137  1,088,636,518.22 138  30,500.00 

2. Loans to affiliated undertakings 1139 139 140

3. Participating interests 1141 141 142

4. Loans to undertakings with which the 
undertaking is linked by virtue of participat-
ing interests

1143 143 144

5. Investments held as fixed assets 1145 145 146

6. Other loans 1147 147 148

D. Current assets 1151 151  105,605,861.84 152  737,892.01 

I. Stocks 1153 153 154

1. Raw materials and consumables 1155 155 156

2. Work in progress 1157 157 158

3. Finished goods and goods for resale 1159 159 160

4. Payments on account 1161 161 162

II. Debtors 1163 163  7,735.00 164 –

1. Trade debtors 1165 165 166

a) becoming due and payable within one 
year

1167 167 168

b) becoming due and payable after more 
than one year

1169 169 170

2. Amounts owed by affiliated undertakings 1171 171 172

a) becoming due and payable within one year 1173 173 174

b) becoming due and payable after more 
than one year

1175 175 176

3. Amounts owed by undertakings with 
which the undertaking is linked by virtue of 
participating interests

1177 177 178

a) becoming due and payable within one 
year

1179 179 180

b) becoming due and payable after more 
than one year

1181 181 182

4. Other debtors 1183 183  7,735.00 184 –

a) becoming due and payable within one year 1185 185  7,735.00 186 –

b) becoming due and payable after more 
than one year

1187 187 188

III. Investments 1189 189  102,692,447.53 190 –

Shares in affiliated undertakings 1191 191 192

2. Own shares 1209 4 209  102,692,447.53 210 –

3 Other investments 1195 195 196

IV. Cash at bank and in hand 1197 197  2,905,679.31 198  737,892.01 

E. Prepayments 1199 199 688,981.82 200 –

Total (Assets) 201 1,194,931,361.88 202 768,392.01

Notes to the annual accounts for year ended December 31, 2021 (Expressed in EUR)
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Balance Sheet (cont’d)

(in EUR) Reference(s) Current year Previous year

A. Capital and reserves 1301 5 301 1,193,118,189.78 302 (923,920.28)

I. Subscribed capital 1303 303 2,441,068.45 304 120,000.00

II. Share premium account 1305 305 1,097,265,857.10 306 –

III. Revaluation reserve 1307 307 308

IV. Reserves 1309 309 112,195,410.42 310 –

1. Legal reserve 1311 311 312

2. Reserve for own shares 1313 313 102,692,447.53 314 –

3. Reserves provided for by the 
articles of association 1315 315 280,065.00 316 –

4. Other reserves, including the fair 
value reserve 1429 429 9,222,897.89 430 –

a) other available reserves 1431 431 9,222,897.89 432 –

b) other non available reserves 1433 433 434

V. Profit or loss brought forward 1319 319 (1,043,920.28) 320 –

VI. Profit or loss for the financial year 1321 321 (17,740,225.91) 322 (1,043,920.28)

VII. Interim dividends 1323 323 324

VIII. Capital investment subsidies 1325 325 326

B. Provisions 1331 331 332

1. Provisions for pensions and similar 
obligations 1333 333 334

2. Provisions for taxation 1335 335 336

3. Other provisions 1337 337 338

C. Creditors 1435 6 435 1,813,172.10 436 1,692,312.29

1. Debenture loans 1437 437 438

a) Convertible loans 1439 439 440

i) becoming due and payable 
within one year 1441 441 442

ii) becoming due and payable 
after more than one year 1443 443 444

b) Non convertible loans 1445 445 446

i) becoming due and payable within 
one year 1447 447 448

ii) becoming due and payable after 
more than one year 1449 449 450

2. Amounts owed to credit institutions 1355 355 6.71 356 –

a) becoming due and payable 
within one year 1357 357 6.71 358 –

b) becoming due and payable after 
more than one year 1359 359 360

Table continues → 
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(in EUR) Reference(s) Current year Previous year

3. Payments received on account of 
orders in so far as they are not shown 
separately as deductions from stocks

1361 361 362

a) becoming due and payable 
within one year 1363 363 364

b) becoming due and payable after 
more than one year 1365 365 366

4. Trade creditors 1367 367 1,338,845.22 368 190,915.04

a) becoming due and payable 
within one year 1369 369 1,338,845.22 370 190,915.04

b) becoming due and payable after 
more than one year 1371 371 372

5. Bills of exchange payable 1373 373 374

a) becoming due and payable 
within one year 1375 375 376

b) becoming due and payable after 
more than one year 1377 377 378

6. Amounts owed to affiliated 
undertakings 1379 379 346,217.49 380 –

a) becoming due and payable 
within one year 1381 381 346,217.49 382 –

b) becoming due and payable after 
more than one year 1383 383 384

7. Amounts owed to undertakings with 
which the undertaking is linked by 
virtue of participating interests

1385 385 386

a) becoming due and payable 
within one year 1387 387 388

b) becoming due and payable after 
more than one year 1389 389 390

8. Other creditors 1451 451 128,102.68 452 1,501,397.25

a) Tax authorities 1393 393 4,815.00 394 –

b) Social security authorities 1395 395 396

c) Other creditors 1397 397 123,287.68 398 1,501,397.25

i) becoming due and payable 
within one year 1399 399 123,287.68 400 1,397.25

ii) becoming due and payable 
after more than one year 1401 401 – 402 1,500,000.00

D. Deferred income 1403 403 404

Total (CAPITAL, RESERVES AND 
LIABILITIES) 405 1,194,931,361.88 406 768,392.01
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Notes to the Annual Accounts for the year ended 
December 31, 2021 (Expressed in EUR)
1. General
HomeToGo SE (formerly Lakestar SPAC I SE) was in-
corporated in Luxembourg as a société européenne 
(“SE”) on November 26, 2020, subject to the Luxem-
bourg law of August 10, 1915 on commercial compa-
nies for an unlimited period of time. The Company 
has its registered office at 9, rue de Bitbourg, L-1273 
Luxembourg. The Company is registered with the 
“Registre de Commerce et des Sociétés” (“RCS”) in 
Luxembourg under the number B249273 on Decem-
ber 4, 2020. The Company is a listed entity with its 
Class A Shares traded in the regulated market of 
Frankfurt Stock Exchange under the symbol “HTG” 
since February 22, 2021. Likewise, the Company’s 
Class A Warrants are also traded on the open market 
of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange under the symbol 
“HTGW”.

The Company’s purpose was the acquisition of one 
operating business with principal business opera-
tions in a member state of the European Economic 
Area or the United Kingdom or Switzerland that is 
based in the technology sector with a focus on the 
sub-sectors software as a service (SaaS), Fintech, 
transportation, and logistics, healthtech and deep 
tech through a merger, capital stock exchange, share 
purchase, asset acquisition, reorganization or similar 
transaction (the “Business Combination”). 

After the closing of the Business Combination, the 
Company’s purpose shall be as from such time, the 
creation, holding, development and realization of a 
portfolio, consisting of interests and rights of any 
kind and of any other form of investment in entities 
in the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg and in foreign 
entities, whether such entities exist or are to be cre-
ated, especially by the way of subscription, by pur-
chase, sale or exchange of securities or rights of any 
kind whatsoever, such as equity instruments, debt 
instruments as well as the administration and control 
of such portfolio. 

The Company may further grant any form of securi-
ty for the performance of any obligations of the 
Company or of any entity in which it holds a direct or 
indirect interest or right of any kind or in which the 
Company has invested in any other manner or which 

forms part of the same group of the entities as the 
Company and lend funds or otherwise assist any en-
tity in which it holds a direct or indirect interest or 
right of any kind or in which the Company has in-
vested in any other manner or which forms part of 
the same group of companies as the Company. 

The Company may borrow in any form and may is-
sue any kind of notes, bonds and debentures and 
generally issue any debt, equity and/or hybrid secu-
rities in accordance with Luxembourg law. 

The Company may carry out any commercial, indus-
trial, financial, real estate or intellectual property ac-
tivities which it considers useful for the accomplish-
ment of these purposes.

The Company’s current financial year runs from Jan-
uary 1st, 2021 to December 31, 2021, except for the 
first financial period which ran from December 4, 
2020 (date of registration with RCS) to December  31, 
2020.

The Company also prepares consolidated financial 
statements which are published under International 
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the Eu-
ropean Union.

2. Summary of significant accounting 
policies
2.1. Basis of preparation

These annual accounts have been prepared in con-
formity with applicable legal and statutory require-
ments in Luxembourg under the historical cost con-
vention and on a going concern basis.

The accounting and valuation methods are determined 
and implemented by the Management Board, apart 
from the regulations of the law of December 19, 2002.

The preparation of these annual accounts requires 
the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It 
also requires the Management Board to exercise sig-
nificant judgment in the process of applying the ac-
counting policies. Changes in assumptions may 
have a significant impact on the annual accounts in 
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the period in which the assumptions changed. The 
Management Board believes that the underlying as-
sumptions are appropriate and that the annual ac-
counts therefore present fairly the financial position 
and results.

The Company makes estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabil-
ities in the next financial year. Estimates and judg-
ments are continually evaluated and are based on 
historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances.

2.2. Significant Accounting Policies
The following are the significant accounting policies 
and valuation rules adopted by the Company in the 
preparation of these annual accounts.

2.2.1 Foreign Currency Translation
The Company maintains its books and records in 
Euro (“EUR”). The balance sheet and the profit and 
loss account are expressed in EUR.

Translation of foreign currency transactions
Foreign currency transactions are translated into 
EUR using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates 
of the transactions.

Translation of foreign currency balances as at the 
balance sheet date
Financial assets denominated in currencies other than 
EUR are translated at the historical exchange rates; 

Other assets denominated in currencies other than 
EUR are translated at the lower between the ex-
change rate prevailing at the balance sheet date and 
historical exchange rate;

Debts denominated in currencies other than EUR are 
translated at the higher between the exchange rate 
prevailing at the balance sheet date and historical 
exchange rate; and

Cash at bank and in hand denominated in currencies 
other than EUR are translated at the exchange rates 
prevailing at the balance sheet date. 

As a result, realized exchange gains and losses and un-
realized exchange losses are recorded in the profit and 

loss account. Unrealized exchange gains are not recog-
nized unless it arises from cash at bank and in hand.

2.2.2 Formation expenses
Formation expenses include costs and expenses in-
curred in connection with the incorporation of the 
Company and subsequent capital increases. Forma-
tion expenses are charged to the profit and loss ac-
count of the year in which they were incurred.

2.2.3 Financial assets
Shares in affiliated undertakings are valued at acquisi-
tion cost including the expenses incidental thereto. 

In case of durable decline in value according to the 
opinion of the Management Board, value adjust-
ments are made in respect of financial assets so that 
these are valued at the lower figure to be attributed 
at the balance sheet date. These value adjustments 
are not continued if the reasons for which the value 
adjustments were made ceased to apply.

2.2.4 Cash at bank and in hand
Cash at bank and in hand comprise cash at banks 
and on hand and short-term highly liquid deposits 
with a maturity of three months or less, that are read-
ily convertible to a known amount of cash and sub-
ject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

2.2.5 Debtors
Debtors are recorded at their nominal value. These 
are subject to value adjustments where their recov-
ery is compromised. These value adjustments are 
not continued if the reasons for which the value ad-
justments were made ceased to apply.

2.2.6 Own shares
Own shares are valued at acquisition cost. These are 
subject to value adjustments where their recovery is 
compromised. These value adjustments are not con-
tinued if the reasons for which the value adjustments 
were made ceased to apply.

2.2.7 Prepayment
Prepayments include expenditure items incurred 
during the financial year but relating to a subsequent 
financial year.

2.2.8 Provisions
Provisions are intended to cover losses or debts 
which originate in the financial year under review or 
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in the previous financial year, the nature of which is 
clearly defined and which, at the date of the balance 
sheet, are either likely to be incurred or certain to be 
incurred but uncertain as to their amount or the date 
they will arise.

Provisions for taxation
Provisions for taxation corresponding to the tax lia-
bility estimated by the Company for the financial 
years for which the tax return has not yet been filed 
are recorded under the caption “Creditors becom-
ing due and payable within one year”. The advance 
payments are shown in the assets of the balance 
sheet under the “Debtors becoming due and paya-
ble within one year” item.

2.2.9 Creditors
Creditors are recorded at their reimbursement value. 
Where the amount repayable on account is greater 
than the amount received, the related repayment 
premium is shown in the balance sheet as an asset 
and is amortized over the period of the related debt 
on a straight-line method.

2.2.10 Operating income and expenses
Income and expenses are accounted for on an ac-
crual basis.

2.2.11 Income tax
The Company is subject to income taxes in Luxem-
bourg.

2.3. Comparative figures
For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Compa-
ny abandoned the presentation of the balance sheet 
and profit and loss using the abridged version for a 
full version as it became listed on the Frankfurt Stock 
exchange in 2021. Furthermore, certain figures for the 
period ended December 31, 2020 have been reclassi-
fied to ensure comparability with the figures for the 
year ended December 31, 2021.

3. Financial assets
Movements in financial assets during the financial 
year are as follows:

(in EUR) Shares in affiliated
Undertakings

Gross book value–opening balance 30,500.00

Additions for the year 1,365,679,736.99

Repayments for the year (277,073,718.77)

Gross book value–closing balance 1,088,636,518.22

Accumulated value adjustment–
opening balance –

Allocation of value adjustments for 
the year –

Reversals of value adjustments for 
the year –

Accumulated value adjustment–
closing balance –

Net book value–opening balance 30,500.00

Net book value–closing balance 1,088,636,518.22

On February 23, 2021, the Company made an addi-
tional capital contribution to LS I Advisors GmbH & 
Co. KG amounting to EUR 277,600,000.00. This refers 
to the proceeds from the issuance of Class A Shares 
and A Warrants, including the Additional Sponsor 
Subscription (note 5) which were held in escrow by LS 
I Advisors GmbH & Co. KG.

On July 14, 2021, the Company entered into a Business 
Combination Agreement (“BCA”) with HomeToGo 
GmbH, in which HomeToGo GmbH shares will be con-
tributed to the Company by HomeToGo GmbH share-
holders in exchange for the issuance of the Company’s 
Class A Share (“HTG Business Combination”). 

On September 21, 2021, the HTG Business Combi-
nation was successfully completed and the Com-
pany became the legal parent company of Home-
ToGo GmbH. The total acquisition cost amounted 
to EUR 1,087,039,971.40. In addition, the capitalized 
incidental costs on the acquisition amounted to 
EUR 1,039,765.59 which mainly refer to legal fees.

On September 21, 2021, LS I Advisors GmbH & Co. KG 
repaid the capital contribution amounting to 
EUR 277,073,718.77. This refers to the release of the 
monies held in escrow upon the consummation of 
HTG Business Combination.
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Shares in affiliated undertakings in which the Company holds at least 20% share capital or which it is a general 
partner are as follows:

Name of 
undertakings Registered office Ownership%/ 

Contribution

Cost of 
acquisition

(in EUR)

Last 
balance 

sheet date

Net equity as 
at 31.12.2021

Profit/(Loss) as 
at 31.12.2021

(in EUR)

LS I Advisors
Verwaltungs- 
GmbH

Theresienhöhe 28, 
80339 München, 

Deutschland
 100% 28,500.00 31.12.2021 (25,846.72)  (440.47)

LS I Advisors
GmbH & 
Co.KG

Theresienhöhe 28, 
80339 München, 

Deutschland
EUR 500 (*) 528,281.23 31.12.2021 559,734.50 4,517.63

HomeToGo 
GmbH

Pappelallee 78/79, 
10437 Berlin, Germany  100% 1,088,079,736.99 31.12.2021 306,255,389.07 (20,496,173.64)

(*)   The Company is the sole limited partner of LS I Advisors GmbH & Co.KG and therefore holds 100% of the contributions. 

The Management Board did not identify a perma-
nent value adjustment within financial assets. There-
fore, no adjustments in value of the financial assets 
have been recognized.

4. Own shares
On September 21, 2021, the Company redeemed 
10,061,942 Class A Shares at EUR 10.00 per share as 
requested by the shareholders in connection with 
the HTG Business Combination.

On the same date, the Company redeemed 207,372 
Class A Share (formerly Class B1 Shares) with respect 
to the Additional Sponsor Subscription for an 
amount of EUR 2,073,027.53 that was used to cover 
the negative interest on the escrow. 
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5. Capital and reserves
Movements during the year are as follows:

(in EUR) Subscribed capital Share premium account Legal reserves Reserve for own shares
Reserves provided for 

by the articles of 
association

Other available reserves Profit or loss brought 
forward

Profit or loss for the 
financial year Total

Opening balance  120,000.00 – – – – – –  (1,043,920.28)  (923,920.28)

Issuance of new shares  2,321,068.45  1,200,238,369.63 – – – – – –  1,202,559,438.08 

Issuance of warrants – – – – –  9,222,897.89 – –  9,222,897.89 

Redemption of shares 
(note 4) –  (102,692,447.53) –  102,692,447.53 – – – –

Allocation of warrant 
reserve –  (280,065.00) – –  280,065.00 – – – –

Allocation of previous 
year’s results to profit or 
loss brought forward

– – – – – –  (1,043,920.28)  1,043,920.28 –

Results for the financial 
year/period – – – – – – –  (17,740,225.91)  (17,740,225.91) 

Closing balance  2,441,068.45 1,097,265,857.10 –  102,692,447.53  280,065.00  9,222,897.89  (1,043,920.28)  (17,740,225.91)  1,193,118,189.78 

Subscribed Capital and Share premium
Convertible Class B Shares
As at December 31, 2020, the subscribed share capital 
amounts to EUR 120,000.00 consisting of 6,250,000 re-
deemable Class B Shares, without nominal value which 
were subscribed by the Founders of the Company 
(hereinafter also referred to as “SPAC Founders”). 

On February 15, 2021, the Company created three 
classes of Class B Shares, namely Class B1, Class B2 
and Class B3 Shares, (together as “Class B Shares”) 
and converted the existing 6,250,000 shares into 
these classes.

On February 19, 2021, the Founders subscribed an 
additional 208,334 Class B1 Shares, 208,333 Class B2 
Shares and 208,333 Class B3 Shares for an aggregate 
price of EUR 12,000.00.

On February 19, 2021, the Company issued 260,000 
redeemable Class B1 Shares (par value of EUR 0.0192 
per share) which were issued together with 86,666 
Class B Warrants (allocated value of EUR 866.66), for 
an aggregate price of EUR 2,600,000.00 (“Additional 
Sponsor Subscription”). 

The Class B Shares are not listed on a stock ex-
change.

Upon and following the completion of the Business 
Combination, the Class B Shares existing at that 
point in time shall automatically be converted to 
Class A Share, on the ratio of one to one, as follows:

1.	 Class B1 Shares converted into Class A Shares on 
the trading day following the consummation of 
the Business Combination;

2.	 Class B2 Shares converted into Class A Shares on 
the date, post consummation of the Business 
Combination, on which the closing price of the 
Class A Shares for any 10 trading days within a 30 
day trading period exceeds EUR 12.00 and; 

3.	 Class B3 Shares converted into Class A Shares on 
the date, post consummation of the Business 
Combination, on which the closing price of the 
Class A Shares for any 10 trading days within a 30 
day trading period exceeds EUR 14.00.

As at December 31, 2021, the Class B1 Shares are con-
verted to Class A Shares.
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5. Capital and reserves
Movements during the year are as follows:

(in EUR) Subscribed capital Share premium account Legal reserves Reserve for own shares
Reserves provided for 

by the articles of 
association

Other available reserves Profit or loss brought 
forward

Profit or loss for the 
financial year Total

Opening balance  120,000.00 – – – – – –  (1,043,920.28)  (923,920.28)

Issuance of new shares  2,321,068.45  1,200,238,369.63 – – – – – –  1,202,559,438.08 

Issuance of warrants – – – – –  9,222,897.89 – –  9,222,897.89 

Redemption of shares 
(note 4) –  (102,692,447.53) –  102,692,447.53 – – – –

Allocation of warrant 
reserve –  (280,065.00) – –  280,065.00 – – – –

Allocation of previous 
year’s results to profit or 
loss brought forward

– – – – – –  (1,043,920.28)  1,043,920.28 –

Results for the financial 
year/period – – – – – – –  (17,740,225.91)  (17,740,225.91) 

Closing balance  2,441,068.45 1,097,265,857.10 –  102,692,447.53  280,065.00  9,222,897.89  (1,043,920.28)  (17,740,225.91)  1,193,118,189.78 

Class A Shares
On February 19, 2021, the Company had issued 
27,500,000 redeemable public shares (or “Class A 
Shares”) with a par value of EUR 0.0192 per share, In-
ternational securities identification number (“ISIN”) 
LU2290523658, together with Class A Warrants (to-
gether, as “unit”) for an aggregate price of EUR 10.00 
per unit. The Class A Warrants has an allocated value 
of EUR 91,666.66 from the total proceeds. The pro-
ceeds were temporarily held in escrow by LS I Advi-
sors GmbH & Co. KG and was also released upon the 
consummation of HTG Business Combination.

On September 21, 2021, in connection with the HTG 
Business Combination, below are the movements in 
the subscribed capital and share premium:

	→ the Company issued 7,500,000 Class A Shares at 
EUR 10.00 per share (par value of EUR 0.0192 per 
share) to PIPE (“Private Investments in Public 
Equity”) investors;

	→ the Company issued 80,793,077 Class A Shares at 
EUR 10.00 per share (par value of EUR 0.0192 per 
share) to the shareholders of HomeToGo GmbH in  
 

exchange of HomeToGo GmbH shares (contribu-
tion in kind); and

	→ the Company issued 4,210,905 Class A Shares at 
EUR 10.00 per share (par value of EUR 0.0192 per 
share) as a settlement against the claim of the 
holders of the virtual options of HomeToGo 
GmbH that was assumed by the Company.

On the same date, the Company also redeemed a 
number of Class A Shares and Class B1 Shares, as 
disclosed in Note 4.

As at December 31, 2021, the subscribed capital of 
the Company amounts to EUR 2,441,068.45 repre-
sented by 122,555,649 Class A Shares, 2,291,667 Class 
B2 Shares and 2,291,666 Class B3 Shares, without 
nominal value. The authorized capital, excluding the 
issued share capital, is set at EUR 8,811.571.55 consist-
ing of 458,996,018 Class A Shares. 

Legal reserve
In accordance with Luxembourg law, the Company 
is required to allocate a minimum of 5% of its net profits 
for each financial year to a legal reserve. This require-
ment ceases to be necessary once the balance on 
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the legal reserve reaches 10% of the subscribed cap-
ital. The legal reserve is not available for distribution 
to the shareholders.

Reserves for own shares
The Company purchased its own shares during the 
year as shown in balance sheet as Own shares (note 4). 
Accordingly, the Company has provided a non-dis-
tributable reserve in accordance with the Luxem-
bourg law for an amount equivalent to the acquisi-
tion cost. 

Reserves provided for by the articles of associa-
tion  – Warrant reserve
Pursuant to Article 31 of the Articles of Association, 
the Management Board shall create a specific re-
serve in respect of the exercise of any Class A War-
rants or Class B Warrants issued by the Company 
and allocate and transfer sums contributed to the 
share premium and/or any other distributable re-
serve of the Company to such Warrant Reserve. The 
Management Board may, at any time, fully or partially 
convert amounts contributed to such Warrant Re-
serve to pay for the subscription price of any Class A 
Shares to be issued further to an exercise of Class A 
Warrants or Class B Warrants issued by the Compa-
ny. Only in case of failure by the Company to secure 
a Business Combination before the expiry of the im-
parted time, the Warrant Reserve may be used for 
redemption of Class A Shares, in case where other 
available reserves are not sufficient. The Warrant Re-
serve is not distributable or convertible prior to the 
exercise, redemption or expiration of all outstanding 
Class A Warrants and Class B Warrants and may only 
be used to pay for the Class A Shares issued pursu-
ant to the exercise of such Class A Warrants and 
Class B Warrants; thereupon, the Warrant Reserve 
will be a distributable reserve.

On February 15, 2021, the Management Board resolved 
to allocated EUR 280,065.00 to the warrant reserve. 

Other reserves
Other reserves refers to the Class A and B Warrants.

Class A Warrants
On February 19, 2021, the Company issued 9,166,666 
Class A Warrants together with the redeemable 
Class A Shares (together, as “unit”) for an aggregate 
price of EUR 10.00 per unit. Class A Warrants has ISIN 

of LU2290524383. Each Class A Warrants entitles its 
holder to subscribe for one Class A Share, with a stated 
exercise price of EUR 11.50 subject to customary an-
ti-dilution adjustments. Holders of Class A Warrants 
can exercise the warrants on a cashless basis unless 
the Company elects to require exercise against pay-
ment in cash of the exercise price. As at December 31, 
2021, the value of the other reserves related to Class A 
Warrants is EUR 91,666.66.

Class A Warrants may only be exercised for a whole 
number of shares. No fractional shares will be issued 
upon exercise of the Class A Warrants. Class A War-
rants will become exercisable 30 days after the com-
pletion of a Business Combination. Class A Warrants 
expire five years from the date of the consummation of 
the Business Combination, or earlier upon redemption 
or liquidation. The Company may redeem Class A War-
rants upon at least 30 days’ notice at a redemption 
price of EUR 0.01 per Class A Warrant (i) if the closing 
price of its Class A Shares for any 20 out of the 30 con-
secutive trading days following the consummation of 
the Business Combination equals or exceeds EUR 
18.00 or (ii) if the closing price of its Class A Shares for 
any 20 out of the 30 consecutive trading days follow-
ing the consummation of the Business Combination 
equals or exceeds EUR 10.00 but is below EUR 18.00, 
adjusted for adjustments to the number of Class A 
Shares issuable upon exercise or the exercise price of 
Class A Share as described in the prospectus. Holders 
of Class A Warrants may exercise them after the re-
demption notice is given.

Class B Warrants
On February 18, 2021, the Company issued 5,333,333 
Class B Warrants at a price of EUR 1.50 per warrant. 
The proceeds from the Class B Warrants are used to 
finance the Company’s working capital require-
ments, private placement and listing expenses (ex-
cept for fixed deferred listing commission). The 
SPAC Founders agreed to set off EUR 1,500,000.00 
of the shareholder loan (note 6) against the subscrip-
tion price of the warrants. The SPAC Founders paid 
an additional subscription price of EUR 3,200,000.00 
to cover the remuneration of the members of the 
Management Board of the Company and due dili-
gence costs in relation to the Business Combination. 
The excess portion of the additional subscription 
price was repaid to the SPAC Founders subsequent 
to the consummation of HTG Business Combination 
amounting to EUR 2,068,944.19.
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On February 19, 2021, the Company issued 260,000 
redeemable Class B1 Shares together with 86,666 
Class B Warrants, for an aggregate price of 
EUR 2,600,000.00 (“Additional Sponsor Subscrip-
tion”). The proceeds from this Additional Sponsor 
Subscription is used to cover the negative interest, if 
any on the cash held in escrow. The excess portion of 
the Additional Sponsor Subscription remaining after 
the consummation of the Business Combination was 
repaid to the SPAC Founders through the redemption 
of the respective Class B1 Shares (note 4) and warrants.

As at December 31, 2021, the value of the other re-
serves related to Class B Warrants is EUR 9,131,231.23.

Class B Warrants are identical to the Class A War-
rants underlying the Units sold in the private place-
ment, except that the Class B Warrants are not re-
deemable and may always be exercised on a cashless 
basis while held by the SPAC Founders or their Per-
mitted Transferees (defined in the prospectus). 
Class B Warrants are not part of the private place-
ment and are not listed on a stock exchange.

6. Creditors
Creditors are composed of the following:

(in EUR) Becoming due and 
payable within one year

Becoming due and 
payable after more than 

one year

Total
31.12.2021

Total
31.12.2020

Trade creditors and accruals  1,338,845.22 –  1,338,845.22  190,915.04 

Payable to related party  346,217.49 –  346,217.49 –

Payable to directors  123,287.68 –  123,287.68 –

Other payables  4,821.71 –  4,821.71 –

Shareholders loans - interests – – –  1,397.25 

Shareholders loans - principal – – –  1,500,000.00 

Total  1,813,172.10 –  1,813,172.10  1,692,312.29 

On December 10, 2020, a shareholder loan agree-
ment was granted by the SPAC Founders to the 
Company as a borrower, for an amount of 
EUR 10,000,000.00 with an interest rate of 2% p.a. 
and a maturity date December 31, 2022. The total 
amount of the paid-out loan as at December 31, 2020 
amounted to EUR 1,500,000.00. The interest ex-
pense accrued on the loan was EUR 1,397.25 as at 
December 31, 2020. 

On February 18, 2021, the SPAC Founders agreed to 
set off the loan balance due against the subscription 
price of the Class B Warrants (note 5). Consequently, 
the loan agreement was terminated and any interest 
accrued on the loan was waived by the SPAC Found-
ers. The accrued interest on the loan as at February 
18, 2021 amounted to EUR 3,945.22. The total accu-
mulated interest on the loan amounted to 
EUR 5,342.47 (which was waived as a result of the set 
off) is presented as part of other interest receivable 
and similar income in the profit and loss account.

7. Other external expenses
Other external expenses are composed of:

(in EUR) 2021 From 26.11.2020
to 31.12.2021

Underwriting fees 9,000,000.00 –

Legal fees  1,845,255.76  922,544.88 

Audit fees  1,604,657.79  44,226.00 

Consulting, advisory fees 
and other professional 
fees

 1,475,398.44  10,000.00 

Accounting and 
administration fees  1,429,923.42  64,916.38 

Negative interest on the 
bank accounts  629,576.70 –

Listing and agency fees  519,901.24 –

Other insurance  273,232.28 –

Bank fees  23,176.11  835.77 

Rent  5,265.00 –

Total 16,806,386.74  1,042,523.03 
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The total audit fees paid are as follows:

(in EUR) 2021 From 26.11.2020
to 31.12.2020

Statutory audit of the 
annual accounts  707,147.28  44,226.00 

Audit-related fees  651,810.51 –

Other fees  245,700.00 –

Total  1,604,657.79  44,226.00 

8. Other operating expenses 
Other operating expenses are composed of:  

(in EUR) 2021 From 26.11.2020
to 31.12.2020

Directors’ fees  496,499.88 –

Directors’ expenses  12,606.92 –

CSSF fees  161,972.52 –

Other operating 
charges, etc.  149.77 –

Total  671,229.09 –

9. Other interest and similar expenses

As at December 31, 2021, the Company incurred 
negative interest on its bank account amounting to 
EUR 269,406.43 (2020: nil).The remaining amount re-
fers to foreign exchange losses. 

10. Staff

The Company did not employ any staff during the fi-
nancial year ended on December 31, 2021 (2020: nil).

11. Emoluments granted to the members 
of the Management and Supervisory 
Board and commitmens in respect of 
retirement pensions for former members 
of those bodies

The Company did not grant any emoluments and has 
no commitments in respect of retirement pensions to 
members of its Management Board during the finan-
cial year ended on December 31, 2021 (2020: nil).

12. Advances and loans granted to the 
members of the Management and 
Supervisory Board

The Company did not grant any advances or loans to 
members of its Management Board during the fi-
nancial year ended on December 31, 2021 (2020: nil).

13. Off balance sheet commitments

There are no off-balance sheet commitments as of 
December 31, 2021 (2020: None).

14. Subsequent events

In February 2022, a number of countries (including 
the US, UK and EU) imposed sanctions against cer-
tain entities and individuals in Russia and Belarus as 
a result of the official recognition of the Donetsk 
People Republic and Luhansk People Republic by 
the Russian Federation. Announcements of potential 
additional sanctions have been made following mili-
tary operations initiated by Russia against Ukraine on 
February 24, 2022.

Due to the war in Ukraine, there has been a significant 
increase in volatility on the securities and currency 
markets. It is expected that these events may affect 
the activities of Russian enterprises in various sectors 
of the economy, but also the economy of sanctioning 
countries and people in those countries as well.

The Management Board regards these events as 
non-adjusting events after the reporting period. Al-
though neither HTG’s performance and going con-
cern nor operations, at the date of this report, have 
been significantly impacted by the above, the Man-
agement Board continues to monitor the evolving 
situation and its impact on the financial position and 
results of the company. The indirect impact of the 
war in Ukraine and its implications, such as a poten-
tial change in travel behavior, cannot be quantified 
at this point in time.
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Responsibility Statement of the 
Management Board
We, Dr. Patrick Andrae, Wolfgang Heigl, Valentin 
Gruber and Steffen Schneider assure, to the best of 
our knowledge that the annual accounts which have 
been prepared in accordance with the legal require-
ments and generally accepted accounting principles 
applicable in the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg, give 
a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial 
position and profit or loss of HomeToGo SE and that 
the combined management report includes a fair 
review of the development and performance of the 
business and the position of HomeToGo SE, togeth-
er with a description of the material risks and oppor-
tunities associated with the expected development 
of the Company.

Luxembourg, March 28, 2022
Management Board of HomeToGo SE

Dr. Patrick Andrae 
Co-founder & CEO

Valentin Gruber
COO

Wolfgang Heigl
Co-founder & CSO

Steffen Schneider
CFO
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Opinion
We have audited the annual accounts of HomeTo-
Go SE (the “Company”), which comprise the balance 
sheet as at December 31, 2021, and the profit and loss 
account for the year then ended, and the notes to the 
annual accounts, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying annual accounts 
give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Company as at December 31, 2021, and of the results of 
its operations for the year then ended in accordance 
with Luxembourg legal and regulatory requirements 
relating to the preparation and presentation of the an-
nual accounts.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with EU Regu-
lation N° 537/2014, the Law of July 23, 2016 on the audit 
profession (the “Law of July 23, 2016”) and with Interna-
tional Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”) as adopted for 
Luxembourg by the “Commission de Surveillance du 
Secteur Financier” (“CSSF”). Our responsibilities under 
the EU Regulation Nº 537/2014, the Law of July 23, 2016 
and ISAs are further described in the “Responsibilities 
of the “réviseur d’entreprises agréé” for the audit of the 
annual accounts” section of our report. We are also in-
dependent of the Company in accordance with the 
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“IESBA 
Code”) as adopted for Luxembourg by the CSSF to-
gether with the ethical requirements that are relevant 
to our audit of the annual accounts, and have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities under those ethical 
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our pro-
fessional judgment, were of most significance in our 

audit of the annual accounts of the current period. 
These matters were addressed in the context of the 
audit of the annual accounts as a whole, and in form-
ing our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters.

Valuation of shares in affiliated 
undertakings 
Matter
As at December 31, 2021, the Company has shares in 
affiliated undertakings amounting to EUR 1.088 mil-
lion, mainly comprised of shares in HomeToGo GmbH. 
Shares in affiliated undertakings are recognised and 
valued at acquisition price, including the expenses 
incidental thereto. They are subject to value adjust-
ments in case of permanent impairment in value. In 
assessing whether such permanent impairment ex-
ists, management considers factors that could give 
rise to the impairment of its investments. When an 
impairment loss indicator is identified, management 
evaluates whether the impairment is of permanent 
nature. We considered the valuation of shares in affili-
ated undertakings to be a key audit matter because it 
requires a high level of management judgement and 
due to the materiality of the amounts involved.

Auditor’s response

We considered management’s impairment assess-
ment based on our understanding of the invest-
ments and existing market conditions. We have per-
formed procedures over the assessment of 
recoverability of the investment, including testing 
the valuation model for consistency and arithmetical 
accuracy, and testing of input parameters (such as 
the weighted average cost of capital and the long 
term growth rate).

We assessed management’s conclusions on the ab-
sence of permanent impairment on the value of the 
investment and related disclosures in the notes to 
the annual accounts.

Report on the audit of the 
annual accounts

To the Shareholders of HomeToGo SE (formerly Lakestar SPAC I SE)
19, rue de Bitbourg, L-1273 Luxembourg 
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Other information
The Management Board is responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report including 
the combined management report and the corpo-
rate governance statement but does not include the 
annual accounts and our report of “réviseur d’entre-
prises agréé” thereon.

Our opinion on the annual accounts does not cover 
the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the annual accounts, 
our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other infor-
mation is materially inconsistent with the annual ac-
counts or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude 
that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report this fact. We 
have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Management 
Board and those charged with governan-
ce for the annual accounts

The Management Board is responsible for the prepa-
ration and fair presentation of the annual accounts in 
accordance with Luxembourg legal and regulatory 
requirements relating to the preparation and presen-
tation of the annual accounts, and for such internal 
control as the Management Board determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of annual ac-
counts that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

The Management Board is also responsible for pre-
senting the financial statements in compliance with 
the requirements set out in the Delegated Regula-
tion 2019/815 on European Single Electronic Format, 
as amended (“ESEF Regulation”).

In preparing the annual accounts, the Management 
Board is responsible for assessing the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and us-
ing the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the Management Board either intends to liquidate 

the Company or to cease operations, or has no real-
istic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for 
overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Responsibilities of the “réviseur d’entre-
prises agréé” for the audit of the annual 
accounts 

The objectives of our audit are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the annual accounts as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue a report of the “rév�-
iseur d’entreprises agréé” that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but 
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accor-
dance with EU Regulation N° 537/2014, the Law of July 
23, 2016 and with the ISAs as adopted for Luxembourg 
by the CSSF will always detect a material misstate-
ment when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individu-
ally or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be ex-
pected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these annual accounts.

As part of an audit in accordance with EU Regulation 
N° 537/2014, the Law of July 23, 2016 and with ISAs as 
adopted for Luxembourg by the CSSF, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

	→ dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement 
of the annual accounts, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepre-
sentations, or the override of internal control. 

	→ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effective-
ness of the Company’s internal control. 

	→ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the 
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Management Board. 
	→ Conclude on the appropriateness of Manage-
ment Board use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that 
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our report of the “réviseur 
d’entreprises agréé” to the related disclosures in 
the annual accounts or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclu-
sions are based on the audit evidence obtained 
up to the date of our report of the “réviseur 
d’entreprises agréé”. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Company to cease to 
continue as a going concern. 

	→ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the annual accounts, including the 
disclosures, and whether the annual accounts 
represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

	→ Assess whether the financial statements have 
been prepared, in all material respects, in compli-
ance with the requirements laid down in the 
ESEF Regulation.

We communicate with those charged with gover-
nance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 
findings, including any significant deficiencies in in-
ternal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with 
a statement that we have complied with relevant eth-
ical requirements regarding independence, and com-
municate to them all relationships and other matters 
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our inde-
pendence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged 
with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the annual 
accounts of the current period and are therefore the 
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
report unless law or regulation precludes public dis-
closure about the matter.

Report on other legal and regulatory 

requirements
We have been appointed as “réviseur d’entreprises 
agréé” by the General Meeting of the Shareholders 
on November 26, 2020 and the duration of our unin-
terrupted engagement, including previous renewals 
and reappointments, is 2 years.

The combined management report is consistent 
with the annual accounts and has been prepared in 
accordance with applicable legal requirements. 

The accompanying corporate governance state-
ment on pages 2 to 3 is the responsibility of the 
Management. The information required by article 
68ter paragraph (1) letters c) and d) of the law of  De-
cember 19, 2002 on the commercial and companies 
register and on the accounting records and annual 
accounts of undertakings, as amended, is consistent 
with the annual accounts and has been prepared in 
accordance with applicable legal requirements.

We confirm that the prohibited non-audit services 
referred to in EU Regulation No 537/2014 were not 
provided and that we remained independent of the 
Company in conducting the audit.

We have checked the compliance of the financial 
statements of the Company as at December 31, 2021 
with relevant statutory requirements set out in the ESEF 
Regulation that are applicable to financial statements.

For the company it related to:
	→ Annual accounts prepared in a valid xHTML format.

In our opinion, the financial statements of the Com-
pany as at December 31, 2021, identified as htg-2021-
12-31-en-HomeToGo SE statutory annual accounts.zip 
(e2bab25075ecaabd8588264731ad4d07bf7e61156153
2b00789829df46014970), have been prepared, in all 
material respects, in compliance with the require-
ments laid down in the ESEF Regulation.

Ernst & Young
Société anonyme
Cabinet de révision agréé

Yves Even
Luxembourg, March 30, 2022
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Booking Date    December 3, 2021
Check-in Date    August 10, 2022
Gross Booking Value    EUR 3,000
Take Rate    10%
Booking Revenue    EUR 300

	→ EUR 3,000 Gross Booking Value will be shown in 2021
	→ EUR 300 Booking Revenues will be shown in 2021 
(before August 10, 2022)

	→ EUR 300 IFRS Revenues will be shown for 2022  
(after August 10, 2022)

	→ EUR 300 are considered Booking Revenues 
Backlog for 2022

Booking Revenues Non-IFRS operating metric to 
measure performance, which we define as the net EUR 
value generated by transactions on our platform in a 
period (CPA, CPC, CPL, etc.) before cancellations. 
Booking Revenues do not correspond to, and should 
not be considered as alternative or substitute for, IFRS 
Revenues recognized in accordance with IFRS

Brand & Organic traffic Visits from direct traffic, 
branded channels, like visitors who type in keywords 
in search engines that include a reference to any 
HomeToGo Group brand, CRM (Customer Relation 
Management), App, SEO (Search Engine Optimiza-
tion), free channels and internal traffic (between our 
businesses within the HomeToGo Group)

CPA Cost per action

CPC Cost per click. Offsite CPC revenues are not 
affected by any cancellations retrospectively

CPL Cost per lead

EscapadaRural ESCAPADA RURAL SERVICIOS PARA 
PROPIETARIOS SL (Barcelona), an indirect (100%) 
subsidiary of HomeToGo GmbH

Feries Feries S.r.l (Milan), an indirect (100%) subsid-
iary of HomeToGo GmbH, operating main websites 
agriturismo.it and casevacanza.it

Campaign Builder One of the leading examples of 
HomeToGo’s proprietary advertising tech stack to ef-
ficiently scale marketing efforts across multiple mar-

kets and brands. Allows the automation of a large set 
of campaigns by targeting and grabbing search de-
mand from millions of keywords, and serving highly 
tailored content to travelers 

Gross Booking Value (GBV) Non-IFRS operating met-
ric defined as the gross EUR value of bookings on our 
platform in a period (including all components of the 
booking amount except for VAT). GBV is recorded at 
the time of booking and is not adjusted for cancella-
tions or any other alterations after booking. GBV in-
cludes the booking volume as reported by the Partner 
for CPA transactions. For CPC, GBV is estimated by 
multiplying the total click value with the expected 
conversion rate. The total click value is the duration of 
the search multiplied with the price per night of the 
clicked offer. This total click value is multiplied with 
the average conversion rate of that micro conversion 
source for CPA Partners in the respective month

NIST Cybersecurity framework that integrates indus-
try standards and best practices to help organiza-
tions manage their cybersecurity risks

Offsite Transaction Transactions where the end 
booking happens on a Partner’s site (referral types 
could be CPA, CPC, CPL etc.)

Onsite Transaction Onsite CPA transaction, where 
complete user journey (from discovery to booking to 
payment) happens on HomeToGo domains

Partners Contracted businesses (such as online travel 
agencies, tour operators, property managers, other in-
ventory suppliers, software partners) or private persons 
that distribute, manage or own accommodations which 
they directly or indirectly list on HomeToGo Group plat-
forms. Contracts with our more professional partners 
usually do not have a defined contract length, but if 
they do they typically auto-renew

SaaS Software as a service 

Smoobu Smoobu GmbH (Berlin), an indirect (100%) 
subsidiary of HomeToGo

Take Rate Booking Revenues divided by Gross Booking 
Value (excl. Hotels, Feries, Escapada Rural & Smoobu)

Illustration of our KPIs
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Financial Calendar
March 31, 2022

FY 2021 & Q4 2021 Financial Results and Earnings Call

May 4, 2022

Goldman Sachs Small- & Mid-Cap Symposium

May 17, 2022

Q1 2022 Financial Results and Earnings Call

May 18 – 19, 2022

Handelsblatt CFO Summit

May 23 – 25, 2022

Equity Forum Spring Conference 2022

May 24, 2022

Annual General Meeting 2022

May 25, 2022

dbAccess

June 23, 2022

Goldman Sachs Business Services, 
Leisure & Transport Conference

August 16, 2022

Q2 2022 Financial Results and Earnings Call

September 19 – 23, 2022

11th Baader Investment Conference

November 10, 2022

Q3 2022 Financial Results and Earnings Call

November 28  – 30, 2022

Deutsches Eigenkapitalforum 2022
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Imprint
HomeToGo SE

9, rue de Bitbourg
L-1273 Luxembourg

Luxembourg Trade and 
Companies Register: B249273

IR@hometogo.com

Christoph Schuh
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Management Board
Dr. Patrick Andrae
Co-founder & CEO

Wolfgang Heigl
Co-founder & Chief Strategy Officer

Valentin Gruber
Chief Operating Officer

Steffen Schneider 
Chief Financial Officer
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